
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
PUBLIC MEETING #229 

 
November 21, 2017 

10:00 a.m. 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

101 Federal Street, 12th Floor  
Boston, MA 

 





DRAFT 
 

1 
 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
Meeting Minutes 

  

Date/Time: November 9, 2017– 10:00 a.m.  

Place:  Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
 101 Federal Street, 12th Floor  
 Boston, MA  
  
Present:  Chairman Stephen P. Crosby  

Commissioner Gayle Cameron  
  Commissioner Lloyd Macdonald  

Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 
Commissioner Enrique Zuniga 

 
  
 
 
 
 
Call to Order  
See transcript page 2. 
 
10:00 a.m. Chairman Crosby called to order the 228th Commission meeting.   
 
Approval of Minutes 
See transcript pages 2 and 3. 
 
10:00 a.m.  

Commissioner Macdonald moved for the approval of the Commission meeting 
minutes of October 26, 2017, subject to typographical errors and other nonmaterial 
matters.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion passed 4-0 with 
Chairman Crosby abstaining. 

 
Administrative Update 
See transcript pages 3 - 11 
 
10:01 a.m. General Update 
 

Executive Director Bedrosian indicated that he had three administrative updates.  
First he announced the hire of a new regulatory compliance manager.  Second, he 
stated that the MGC licensing division issued a license to Massachusetts Casino 

Time entries are linked to 
corresponding section in                  

Commission meeting video 

https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=19


DRAFT 
 

2 
 

Career Training Institute in Springfield, and noted that their offices’ set-up is already 
underway.  Lastly Mr. Bedrosian discussed the Lt. Governor signing a supplemental 
budget, granting the Commission discretion to exempt service employees’ positions 
from the registration requirement that was in the Expanded Gaming Act. Mr. 
Bedrosian added that the MGC will begin working with licensees to obtain 
recommendations for exempt positions.  He also noted that he has addressed the 
Commission and staff about assisting licensees in educating their applicants as to 
what the hiring requirements are for each position. 

 
Investigations and Enforcement Bureau 
See transcript pages 11 - 19 
 
10:10 a.m. Director Karen Wells introduced Jonathan Millar, a new civilian employee in the 

IEB as an Open Source Specialist, who is assigned to conduct advanced database 
searches and keep current with best practices in technology, as well as train 
investigators and state police in this new and emerging field.  

 
Director Wells then presented on the suitability qualifier results for Uri Clinton, 
Senior Vice President of MGM Resorts International, providing a summary of his 
professional and educational background.  Director Wells affirmed that investigators 
examined his involvement as a director in certain corporations, conducted a criminal 
background check, civil litigations check, media coverage check, and financial 
suitability analysis, all with positive results.  Director Wells stated that the IEB 
recommends that the Commission find Mr. Clinton suitable as a qualifier for MGM 
Resorts International.  
 

10:17 a.m.  Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission approve the suitability of Uri 
Clinton. Motion seconded by Commissioner Macdonald.  Motion passed 
unanimously. 

  
Ombudsman – John Ziemba 
See transcript pages 19 - 57 
 
10:18 a.m. John Delaney, Construction Project Oversight Manager, is filling in for Ombudsman 

Ziemba.  Mr. Delaney introduced Jacqui Krum, General Counsel/Senior Vice 
President of Wynn Resorts International and Peter Campot, Director of Construction 
for Wynn Design and Development to present their quarterly report. 

 
Attorney Krum is substituting for Robert DeSalvio, President of Wynn Boston 
Harbor.  Attorney Krum addressed permitting, noting that they recently received the 
appropriate permits and have commenced working on construction projects.  She 
offered the developer’s progress status, objectives, and discussed forecasted dates of 
completion.  Attorney Krum also showed a video to illustrate how the dredging 
process works. 

 
Mr. Campot stated that they are on schedule for June 24, 2019 opening, and that 
everyone involved in this project, including the City of Everett, has been great to 

https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=160
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=160
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=1047


DRAFT 
 

3 
 

work with.  He then showed a slide presentation of the work being conducted on the 
Wynn Boston Harbor site and estimated completion dates were discussed.  Mr. 
Campot expressed that he is actively looking for additional high-quality workers for 
this project.  
 
Commissioner Cameron commented that groups encouraging women to come into 
the construction field will have a long term effect, as women will consider this a 
viable option for their career.  Chairman Crosby added that he intends to announce 
an initiative to encourage women to consider the construction field.  Chairman 
Crosby notes that Wynn has made a concerted effort to hire minorities and has 
exceeded goals of percentages required by state.  Commissioner Zuniga added that 
the Commission will be conducting a study that will corroborate this. 
 
Attorney Krum announced that they had an event on site to celebrate the end of 
structural steel, hosting a lunch for every construction worker on site.   
 
Commissioner Stebbins inquired about how the operational employment team is 
beginning to be organized  Chairman Crosby requested that Attorney Krum start to 
submit job descriptions, so the Commission can begin consideration of exempt 
employee categories with regard to background checks. 

 
Racing Division – Dr. Alexandra Lightbown, Director of Racing 
See transcript pages 57 - 186 
 
10:52 a.m. Dr. Lightbown states that she will be discussing the applications to conduct live 

racing in 2018, starting with Suffolk.  Dr. Lightbown added that she has Attorney 
Bruce Barnett representing Suffolk Downs with her to answer any questions.  Dr. 
Lightbown noted two applications have been received; one from Plainridge 
Racecourse to conduct 100 days of harness racing, and one from Suffolk Downs to 
conduct six days of running horse racing with the possibility of adding some 
additional days.   
 
Dr. Lightbown advised that Sterling Suffolk Racecourse, or Suffolk Downs, meets 
the statutory requirements to obtain a license, and is that only facility this year to 
apply for thoroughbred racing. She also added that they meet the Massachusetts 
session laws acts of 2015 that were changed to allow simulcasting with one to 50 
days of live racing.  Dr. Lightbown recommends that the Commission approve the 
application with conditions.  First condition is that Suffolk acquires an independent 
expert review of the track surface prior to racing, in accordance with the NTRA 
safety racing requirements.  Second, the Commission will have Suffolk Downs 
request in writing the amount of money they would like from the Race Horse 
Development Fund, allocating how it will be used.  Third, Suffolk Downs will notify 
the Commission in writing if they intend to exceed six racing days, at least 30 days 
before the races are conducted.  Lastly, Suffolk Downs should provide their purse 
agreement to the Commission as they receive it. 
 

https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=5518


DRAFT 
 

4 
 

 Commissioner Cameron requested confirmation that the Commission will be 
notified 30 days in advance, if they intend to add additional days to racing, to which  
Dr. Lightbown confirmed.  Commissioner Zuniga also asked that any supplemental 
requests of money from the Race Horse Development Fund be made in advance as 
well, as it hinges on the notion of requesting additional funds.  Dr. Lightbown stated 
that she did not anticipate conducting the 15 races each day on one weekend.  
Attorney Barnett raised an issue with the logistics of advanced notice, to which 
Commissioner Zuniga stayed that approval needs to be sought beforehand.    

   
11:00 a.m. Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission approves the application of 

Sterling Suffolk Racecourse LLC for live running horse racing in 2018 to include the 
conditions just outlined.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Stebbins.  Motion 
passed unanimously. 
 

11:01 a.m. The Commission took a short break. 
11:06 a.m.  The Commission reconvened. 
 
11:07 a.m. Dr. Lightbown addressed the second applicant, Plainville Gaming and 

Redevelopment, Plainridge Racecourse.  Dr. Lightbown reported that they have also 
met the statutory requirements for licensure, and are the only facility to apply for 
harness racing this year.   

 
 Dr. Lightbown stated that they not only have to comply with the racing statute 

regarding simulcasting and the requirement of days, but now they also have to 
comply with the gaming legislation. 

 
11:12 a.m. Steve O’Toole, Director of Racing at Plainridge Park Casino stated that he believes 

they are not bound by a 125 day requirement and encouraged the Commission to 
approve the submitted schedule.     

 
Mr. O’Toole proposed an amended racing schedule to reflect 100 days.  The 
Commission discussed the impacts of adjusting racing days and schedules on the 
horsemen, the horses, and wagering public. 
 
Chairman Crosby summarized his understanding of this discussion to be that Mr. 
O’Toole believes that it is more efficient and attractive for owners, trainers, etc. to 
consolidate racing days so that the number of horses rise, and more people are 
willing to race.  Mr. O’Toole concurred.  
 

11:47 a.m. Bob McHugh, President of the Harness Horseman’s Association of New England 
argued that there is a clear directive of maintaining the 125 day racing schedule set 
forth by Chapter 23K.  He proposed that if Commission decided to look at this, to 
look at the metrics asking for more than 125 days stating that a reduction of days 
would create a lot of questions regarding the racing industry.  Mr. McHugh further 
asserts that if racing days are reduced, this message would be poorly received by the 
industry.   

 

https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=5518
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=5518
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=5518
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=5518
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=5518
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=5518


DRAFT 
 

5 
 

12:00 p.m. Attorney Marty Cory representing the Harness Horseman’s Association of New 
England and Commissioner Zuniga discussed the language in section 24, subsection 
3.  

 
 General Counsel Blue advised the Commission that section 128(a) and (c) provide 

information that needs to be read in conjunction with section 24(c).  The legislature 
understands that there may be a need to adjust the number of race days.  Section 
24(c) acknowledges why there may be some reason why 125 racing days will not 
work. 

 
 Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission approve the application for 

Plainridge Park Racecourse, requiring them to race 110 days. Motion seconded by 
Commissioner Macdonald.  Commissioner Cameron votes aye; Commissioner 
Macdonald votes aye; Commissioner Stebbins votes aye; Commissioner Zuniga 
votes Aye.  Chairman Crosby votes nay.  Motion approved 4 to 1, with Chairman 
Crosby dissenting.   

 
1:08 p.m. Commission breaks for 5 minutes 
1:15 p.m. Commission reconvenes. 
 
Legal Division – Catherine Blue, General Counsel 
See transcript pages 187 - 191 
 
1:15 p.m. General Counsel Blue proposed amendments to 205 CMR 138 and 140 – Gaming 

Day Treatment of Unsecured Funds Amendments, and requested approval to 
commence promulgation process. 

 
Deputy General Counsel Todd Grossman recounted the October 12th meeting and 
noted that the Legal Division sends the proposed amendments out for formal 
comment, both on the MGC website and to the licensees.  Plainridge Park offered 
comments, to which Attorney Grossman draws attention as they are highlighted, and 
asks that we receive approval to begin the promulgation process today. 
 

1:17 p.m. Commissioner Macdonald moves that the Commission approve the amendments to 
205 CMR 138 and 205 CMR 140, relating to gaming date and treatment of 
unsecured funds, as included in the packet, and authorize the staff to take the steps 
necessary to begin the regulation promulgation process.  Motion seconded by 
Commissioner Stebbins.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
Communications – Elaine Driscoll, Director 
See transcript pages 191 - 213 
 
1:17 p.m. Director Elaine Driscoll introduced a project about the MGC website creating 

completely mobile-enabled website for phones, tablets, etc.  Ms. Driscoll explained 
how the site is completely adapted to mobile devices and updated for easier use. 

 

https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=5518
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=9433
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=9433
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=9433
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=9433
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=9869


DRAFT 
 

6 
 

Ms. Driscoll presented slides, illustrating the complete redesign and update of the 
homepage to accommodate gaming employees as well as license applicants and 
communities that are inquiring about process.  Director Driscoll and her team added 
an at-a-glance section that will feature research statistics and numbers.  LMS will 
now be compatible with the website.   
 
Commissioner Zuniga’s idea of creating a digital timeline hits on all the key 
milestones over the last several years.  Director Driscoll recognized Digital 
Communications Coordinator Mike Sangalang for all his work on this project.  
Director Driscoll will commence data transfer on Monday, November 13th and does 
not anticipate any issues.   

 
Licensing Management System Update – Paul Connelly, Director 
See transcript pages 213 - 227 
 
1:39 p.m. Director Connelly notes that the Licensing Department launched LMS internally to 

process applications a year ago.  On September 26 they went live with the portal for 
the application process.  Director Connelly substantiated that this is a critical change 
in the Licensing Department’s ability to process all the MGM apps they expect to 
receive, by specifying that they have processed approximately 50 applications 
through LMS with successful results, and have encountered very few issues.  
Feedback received has been straightforward with minimal issues.  Director Connelly 
affirmed that none would be successful without cooperation by the casinos and the 
casino human resource departments in helping them get the applicants educated in 
using the system.   
 
Director Connelly presented a video that evidenced instructions for applicants to 
easily navigate the process.  Administrative Assistant Amy MacLachlan is 
recognized as the voiceover to the instructional video. 

 
Commissioner Macdonald asks if there will be an internal help desk for people who 
get stuck during the application process, to which Director Connelly responded that 
himself and anyone on his team will triage any inquiries, serving as help desk.  
Director Connelly explains that the website assists his staff in engaging with 
applicants directly, helping them become more customer service oriented, and added 
that this is a positive shift in workload for his staff as well. 

  
Commissioners’ Updates 
See transcript pages 227 - 240 
 
1:55 p.m. Commissioner Stebbins states that Director Connelly, Jill Griffin, Director of 

Workforce, Supplier and Diversity Development,  and himself met with the MGM 
procurement team that was in from Las Vegas and discussed changes in licensing 
and construction.  The meeting was productive and successful. 

 
 Commissioner Crosby stated that he was asked by a community group as well as 

local legislators if he would weigh in on three CORI reform issues going through the 

https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=9869
https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=9869


DRAFT 
 

7 
 

house.  They would like to have the Commission be supportive as this is a workforce 
development issue that would make it easier for applicants in the process.  After 
discussion, Commissioner Zuniga suggested that they revisit this. 

 
Other Business – reserved for matters the Chair did not reasonably anticipate at the time of 

posting 
 
2:10 p.m. Having no further business, a motion to adjourn was made by Commissioner 

Zuniga.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion approved 
unanimously. 

 
 
  

List of Documents and Other Items Used 
 

1.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Notice of Meeting and Agenda dated November 9, 
2017 

2.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Draft Meeting Minutes, October 26, 2017 
3.  Presentation - Wynn Boston Harbor Quarterly Report as of September 30, 2017 
4.  Statement of Recommendations to Commission regarding Applications to Conduct Live 

Horse Racing in 2018  
5.  Letter regarding September 20, 2017 Letter to Plainville Gaming & Redevelopment LLC 
6.  Presentation – Impact of Field Size and Races Per Day on Pari-Mutuel Handle 
7.  Agreement between Springfield Gaming and Redevelopment, LLC and the Harness 

Horsemen’s Association of New England 
8. Letter regarding Adequate Entries to Fill Race Cards 
9. Email regarding Adequate Entries to Fill Race Cards 
10. Memo regarding Horse Racing License Application (100 days) Plainville Gaming & 

Redevelopment, LLC 
11. MA Gaming Commission 2016 Annual Report 
12. 6/18/15 MGC Meeting Minutes 
13.  June 15, 2015 Letter from Lance George, V.P./G.M., Plainville Gaming and 

Redevelopment, LLC 
14. June 16, 2015 Memo from MGC Executive Director Rick Day re: Determination That 

Gaming Establishment May Open for Business 
15. June 24, 2015 Certificate to Operate issued to Plainville Gaming and Redevelopment LLC 
16. MGL c. 23K § 24 – Applicants Holding Live Racing License Under Chapter 128A; 

Number of Live Racing Days; Annual Purse Agreements 
17. HHANE Position Paper to the Massachusetts Gaming commission regarding the number of 

Standardbred Race Days in 2018 
18. Presentation – Massgaming.com Redesign 
19. Presentation – Licensing Management System 
 
  
     /s/ Shara Bedard 
     Shara Bedard, Paralegal 

https://youtu.be/O9CQapgBjrk?t=20038


 
 

No Documents 



 

 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

To: Chairman Crosby and Commissioners Cameron, Macdonald, Stebbins and Zuniga 

From: Derek Lennon, CFAO 

Date: 11/21/17 

Re: Fiscal Year 2018 (FY18) Operational Costs for MGM Opening 

________________________________________________________________________ 

Summary: 
 
The Massachusetts Gaming Commission approved a FY18 budget for the Gaming Control 
Fund of $29.15M that required an assessment of $24.45M on licensees.  Balance forward of 
FY17 revenue and first quarter activity has resulted in the anticipated FY18 budget 
decreasing by $24.6K, and the assessment on licensees decreasing by $872.49K from 
$24.45M to $23.58M 
 
The FY18 approved budget does not include MGC’s additional operational costs or public 
safety training costs associated with the opening of MGM Springfield site.  This 
communication is only focused on the operational costs anticipated prior to June 30, 2018.  
Staff is recommending that $570.4K in additional costs be added to the FY18 approved 
budget, which would result in a revised budget of $29.72M for the Gaming Control Fund 
and an increase on the assessment on licensees as outlined in this memorandum.   
 
Operational Cost Details:  
 
When the Commission approved the FY18 initial budget it was with the knowledge that 
MGC operational costs associated with the start-up of MGM Springfield were not included.  
Staff explained in the June 2017 public meetings the reason for not including the start-up 
costs was due to the fact that it was still at least 16 months from the opening of the facility, 
and the time table was approximate and delays could result in MGC budgeting and 
assessing for costs not associated with FY18.  At this point, MGM continues to believe they 
will meet its opening date.  Therefore, as promised in June, we are presenting to you our 
additional anticipated needs in FY18 to be ready to open the MGM facility in September of 
2018.  This same information was presented to our licensees and discussed at a meeting on 
November 15th.      
 
The additional costs are composed of new full-time positions (14 FTEs, $270.8K), contract 
employees ($43.2K), fringe benefits and payroll taxes on FTEs and contractors ($99.37K), 
temporary help ($25K), indirect on payroll and temporary help ($33.9K), information 
technology circuits to the MGC offices in the MGM facility ($15K), and GameSense program 
start-up ($64K).  The following chart lists the costs by spending category: 
 



Object 
Class 

Object 
Code Item Short Name  Amount  

AA A01 Full-time equivalent salaries   270,796.63  

AA A07 Shift Differential     18,750.00  

CC C23 Contracted Investigators and Professionals     43,250.00  

DD D09 Fringe and Payroll taxes     99,370.04  

EE E16 Indirect       33,904.66  

HH H19 GameSense/Mass Council     64,351.50  

JJ J46 Temporary Help Licensing     25,000.00  

UU U01 Data Circuits     15,000.00  

  
Total:   570,422.83  

 
Below is additional detail of the anticipated needs of each division: 
 
Finance, Administration and Human Resources: (2 New FTEs) 
One [1] additional HR coordinator and one [1] additional member of the revenue unit.  
Both positions are anticipated to start in March of Calendar Year 2018.  These positions are 
essential to be able to hire, on-board, and provide continued professional development and 
training to the MGC growing workforce, as well as be ready to review the additional tax 
revenue the Commonwealth will be receiving with the opening of the Category 1 licensees. 
 
Office of Information Technology:  (New Circuits for Springfield) 
$15K for installation and monthly fees for circuits for CMS, Mass IT infrastructure and 
surveillance at MGM Springfield.   
 
Investigations and Enforcement Bureau:  (11 New FTEs and 3 Civilian Contracted 
Investigators) 
One [1] promotion of an existing staff member into a Field Manager of the three licensee 
sites (January 2018 start), one [1] senior supervising gaming agent for the MGM Springfield 
site (January 2018 start), four [4] experienced agents (February 2018 start), seven [7] 
supervisors/gaming agents (5/18 start) and the potential to use $27K in contract 
employees as civilian investigators for background checks to augment the Mass State Police 
troopers assigned to the unit. 
 
Licensing Division: (1 New FTE, 1 Contracted Employee, and Temporary Help) 
One [1] additional FTE licensing specialist in the Boston Office (April 2018 start), one [1] 
contract employee as a Licensing Representative in Springfield (March 2017 start) and a 
pool of $25K in temporary help to be used beginning in May of 2018.  
 
Office of Research and Responsible Gaming: (Mass Council on Compulsive Gambling—
GameSense Start-up Costs) 
$64K for one [1] GameSense supervisor in MGM (January 2018 start), printed materials 
and fringe associated costs for employee.  This is intended to begin the VSE registration 
process and awareness prior to the opening of the facility.   
 



Assessment on Licensees:   
205 CMR 121.00 describes how the Commission shall assess its operational costs on casino 
licensees including any increases or decreases that are the result of over or under 
spending.  CMR 121.04(3) states “If at any time during the fiscal year the commission 
determines that actual costs will exceed the projected costs and projected revenue in the 
budget the Commission will revise the Annual Assessment assessed to each gaming 
establishment and invoice each gaming establishment for its proportional share of such 
costs.” 
 
The result of the balance forward of $872.49K in unrestricted revenue from FY17 
decreased the FY18 assessment from $24.45M to $23.58M.  If the Commission agrees to the 
amount proposed by staff, the chart below demonstrates how the additional $570.4K in 
operational costs, to prepare for the opening of MGM, would impact the licensees’ FY18 
assessments by bringing the revised estimate from $23.58M to $24.15M.   
 

Licensee Slots 
Table 

Games 

Table 

Gaming 

Positions* 

Total 

Gaming 

Positions* 

 Percentage 
of Gaming 
Positions 

Current 
Assessment 

Assessment After 
MGM 
Operational 
Costs 

MGM 3,000 100 600 3,600 38.99% 
          

9,195,873.40  

          

9,418,284.55  

Wynn  3,242 168 1,008 4,250 46.03% 
        

10,856,239.43  

        

11,118,808.15  

Penn 1,250         -                   -    1,383 14.98% 
          

3,532,748.03  

          

3,618,190.98  

 TOTAL 7,492 268 1,608 9,233 100.00% 
           

23,584,860.85  
           

24,155,283.68  

 
Conclusion: 
Staff is requesting to seek public comment on the proposal to add $570.4K in operational 
costs to the MGC’s FY18 budget. The anticipated additional spending is for the FY18 portion 
for the opening of MGM Springfield in September of 2018.   
 
     
 



 
 

 
 

 

 
SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 

 
The Massachusetts Gaming Commission (“Commission”) hereby files this small business impact 

statement in accordance with G.L. c.30A, §2 relative to the proposed amendment of 205 CMR 138.28, 205 
CMR 138.33, 205 CMR138.68, and 205 CMR 140.02 notice of which was filed with the Secretary of the 
Commonwealth. These amendments were developed as part of the process of promulgating regulations 
governing the operation of gaming establishments in the Commonwealth. The amendments address such things 
as the establishment of a gaming day by the gaming licensee, and procedures to ensure that all funds located 
inside a slot machine are properly accounted for. These regulations are authorized pursuant to G.L. c.23K, 
§§4(37) and 5.   

 
These amendments primarily apply to gaming licensees, but also apply to patrons in a more limited 

fashion. Accordingly, these amendments are unlikely to have an impact on small businesses in any way. In 
accordance with G.L. c.30A, §2, the Commission offers the following responses to the statutory questions:    

 
1. Estimate of the number of small businesses subject to the proposed regulation: 

  
 There are no small businesses that the Commission anticipates will be impacted 
 by these regulations as they apply solely to gaming licensees and patrons of  
    gaming establishments.      
 

2. State the projected reporting, recordkeeping and other administrative costs required for 
compliance with the proposed regulation: 
  
 There are no additional reporting, recordkeeping or administrative costs created 
 by these regulations that do not essentially already exist. There are certainly none  
  that will affect small businesses in any way.    
 

3. State the appropriateness of performance standards versus design standards:  
  

To ensure accurate accounting and reconciliation, it is important that all gaming 
licensees employ similar processes in the affected areas. Accordingly, so called 
design standards are more appropriate under these circumstances.    

   
4. Identify regulations of the promulgating agency, or of another agency or department of 

the commonwealth, which may duplicate or conflict with the proposed regulation:  
 



 
 

 
 

  There are no conflicting regulations in 205 CMR, and the Commission is   
  unaware of any conflicting or duplicating regulations of any other agency   
  or department of the Commonwealth.   
 

5. State whether the proposed regulation is likely to deter or encourage the formation of new 
businesses in the commonwealth:  
  

The impact of the proposed amendments in the business formation arena will be 
neutral.   

 
   
       Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
      By:  
 
      _____________________________ 
      Todd M. Grossman 
      Deputy General Counsel 
       
 
Dated: November 21, 2017 
 
 



 
 

 
 

 

 
SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 

 
The Massachusetts Gaming Commission (“Commission”) hereby files this small business impact 

statement in accordance with G.L. c.30A, §2 relative to the proposed amendment of 205 CMR 137.02 notice of 
which was filed with the Secretary of the Commonwealth. These amendments were developed as part of the 
process of promulgating regulations governing the operation of gaming establishments in the Commonwealth. 
This amendment clarifies the mandate pertaining to the responsible gaming component of a gaming school 
curriculum. This regulation is authorized pursuant to G.L. c.23K, §§4(37) and 5.   

 
This amendment applies to gaming schools, many of which will be operated by community colleges 

which are not small businesses. In the future, some may be operated by a small businesses. It also impacts 
students of these schools. In accordance with G.L. c.30A, §2, the Commission offers the following responses to 
the statutory questions:    

 
1. Estimate of the number of small businesses subject to the proposed regulation: 

  
At present there are no small businesses that will be impacted by this regulation. 
However, it is possible there will be private gaming schools established in the future 
though they are likely to number under 10.       
 

2. State the projected reporting, recordkeeping and other administrative costs required for 
compliance with the proposed regulation: 
  
There is no reporting, recordkeeping or administrative cost created by this regulation that 
does not already exist. This amendment is primarily intended to clarify the existing 
requirement, not create a new one.     
 

3. State the appropriateness of performance standards versus design standards:  
  
This amendment is intended to clarify an existing requirement so a performance standard 
is necessary to describe the intent of the regulation. 
   

4. Identify regulations of the promulgating agency, or of another agency or department of 
the commonwealth, which may duplicate or conflict with the proposed regulation:  
 

 There are no conflicting regulations in 205 CMR, and the Commission is    
 unaware of any conflicting or duplicating regulations of any other agency    
 or department of the Commonwealth.   
 



 
 

 
 

5. State whether the proposed regulation is likely to deter or encourage the formation of new 
businesses in the commonwealth:  
  
The impact of the proposed amendments in the business formation arena will be neutral.    
 

   
       Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
      By:  
 
      _____________________________ 
      Todd M. Grossman 
      Deputy General Counsel 
       
 
Dated: November 21, 2017 
 
 



 

205 CMR: MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
205 CMR 137.00: GAMING SCHOOLS 

 
137.02: Curriculum 

 
*** 
 
(3) Training relative to responsible gaming shall be for minimum of 90 minutes in addition to the 
minimum training hours required in accordance with 205 CMR 137.02(4) and (5). A student 
need only complete the responsible gaming training once even if the student elects to receive 
training on more than one game. The responsible gaming training shall and address the following 
topics: 

(a) Gambling in Massachusetts; 
(b) Definition of problem gambling and gambling disorder, including how this has changed 

over time; 
(c) Levels of gambling involvement; 
(d) Identifying and responding to persons exhibiting problem gambling behaviors; and 
(e) Responsible gambling strategies. 

 



 
 

 
 

 

 
AMENDED SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 

 
 

The Massachusetts Gaming Commission (“Commission”) hereby files this amended small 
business impact statement in accordance with G.L. c.30A, §2 relative to the proposed 
amendments in 205 CMR 3.00: Harness Horse Racing; notice of which was filed this day with 
the Secretary of the Commonwealth.  These amendments were developed as part of the process 
of promulgating regulations governing horse racing in the Commonwealth.  The amendments 
describe veterinary practices, set up conditions that allow for the use of therapeutic medications, 
reduce penalties for multiple medication violations, changes the Furosemide dosage to 500 mg, 
expands criteria for out of competition testing, and allows judges to use environmental 
contaminants and substances of human use as possibilities for mitigating circumstances in 
disciplinary actions.  These amendments bring the regulations into conformance with national 
standards from the Association of Racing Commissioners International (“ARCI”).  These 
regulations are largely governed by G.L. c. 128A § 9.    
    

The Commission has identified the following groups that may be impacted by these 
amendments: licensed owners, trainers and Veterinarians.  In accordance with G.L. c.30A, §2, 
the Commission offers the following responses:    
 

1. Estimate of the number of small businesses subject to the proposed regulation: 
  

  There are approximately 325 licenses issued annually for the identified groups   
   above, however, a majority of the licenses are for owners.   

  
2. State the projected reporting, recordkeeping and other administrative costs required for 

compliance with the proposed regulation: 
  

There are no additional projected reporting, recordkeeping or administrative costs 
created by these regulations that would affect small businesses. To bring the 
regulations into conformance with national standards, the Commission is adopting 
the ARCI standards.   
 

3. State the appropriateness of performance standards versus design standards:  
   

The amendments implicate a performance standard.  To bring the regulations into 
conformance with national standards, the Commission is adopting  the ARCI 
standards.   

 



 
 

 
 

4. Identify regulations of the promulgating agency, or of another agency or department of 
the commonwealth, which may duplicate or conflict with the proposed regulation:  

   
  There are no conflicting regulations in 205 CMR, and the Commission is   
  unaware of any conflicting or duplicating regulations of any other agency   
  or department of the Commonwealth.   
 

5. State whether the proposed regulation is likely to deter or encourage the formation of new 
businesses in the commonwealth:  
  

The proposed amendments are not likely to deter or encourage the formation of 
new businesses in the Commonwealth.   

 
  
       
      Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
      By:  
 
      _____________________________ 
      Catherine Blue 
      General Counsel 
       
 
 
Dated:____________________________ 
 

   
  
   

 



3.27:  Veterinary Practices 
 
(1)    Veterinarians under Authority of Official Veterinarian.  Veterinarians licensed by the 
Commission and practicing at any location under the jurisdiction of the Commission are under 
the authority of the official  veterinarian and the judges.   The official veterinarian shall 
recommend to the judges or the Commission the discipline that may be imposed upon a 
veterinarian who violates 205 CMR 3.00. 
 
(2)   Treatment Restrictions. 
(a) Only licensed trainers, licensed owners, or their designees shall be permitted to authorize 
veterinary medical treatment of horses under their care, custody and control at locations under 
the jurisdiction of the Commission. 
(b)  Except as otherwise provided by 205 CMR 3.27(2), no person other than a veterinarian 
licensed to practice veterinary medicine in this jurisdiction and licensed by the Commission may 
administer a prescription or controlled medication, drug, or chemical to a horse at any location 
under the jurisdiction of the Commission. 
(c)   205 CMR 3.27(2) does not apply to the administration of the following substances except in 
approved quantitative levels, if any, present in post-race samples or as they may interfere with 
post-race testing: 
1.  A recognized non-injectable nutritional supplement or other substance approved by 
the official veterinarian; 
2.     A non-injectable substance on the direction or by prescription of a licensed veterinarian; or 
3.   A non-injectable non-prescription medication or substance. 
(d)  No person shall possess a hypodermic needle, syringe capable of accepting a needle or 
injectable of any kind on association grounds, unless otherwise approved by the Commission. At 
any location under the jurisdiction of the Commission, veterinarians may use only one-time 
disposable syringe and needle, and shall dispose of both in a manner approved by the 
Commission. If a person has a medical condition which makes it necessary to have a syringe at 
any location under the jurisdiction of the Commission, that person may request permission of the 
judges and/or the Commission in writing, furnish a letter from a licensed physician explaining 
why it is necessary for the person to possess a syringe, and must comply with any conditions and 
restrictions set by the judges and/or the Commission. 
(e)   Practicing veterinarians shall not have contact with an entered horse within 24 hours 
before the scheduled post time of the race in which the horse is scheduled to compete except for 
the administration of furosemide under the guidelines set forth in 205 CMR 3.29(6), unless 
approved by the official veterinarian or his or her designee. Any unauthorized contact may result 
in the horse being scratched and may result in further disciplinary action by the judges. 
(f)   Any horse entered for racing must be present on the grounds prior to the scheduled 
furosemide administration time, or prior to the time prescribed to be present in the race paddock 
for the race entered. 
 
(3)   Veterinarians' Reports. 
(a)   Every veterinarian licensed by the Massachusetts Gaming Commission shall keep a written 
record of his or her practice when performed on the premises of a facility under the jurisdiction 
of the Commission which shall disclose: 
1.   the name of the horse; 
2.   the type of treatment prescribed for and medicine administered to the horse; 
3.  the date of such treatment. 
(b)   Every licensed Veterinarian shall produce such written records when requested by an 
official of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 
1. Veterinarians under the Authority of the Official Veterinarian 
Veterinarians licensed by the Commission and practicing at any location under the jurisdiction of 
the Commission are under the authority of the official veterinarian and the stewards.  The official 
veterinarian shall recommend to the stewards or the Commission the discipline that may be 
imposed upon a veterinarian who violates the rules. 
 
2. Appropriate Role of Veterinarians 
The following limitations apply to drug treatments of horses that are engaged in activities, 
including training, related to competing in pari-mutuel racing in the jurisdiction: 
 
(a)  No drug may be administered except in the context of a valid veterinarian-client-patient 
relationship between an attending veterinarian, the horse owner (who may be represented by the 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Space Before:  0
pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Space Before:  0
pt



trainer or other agent) and the horse.  The owner is not required by this section to follow the 
veterinarian’s instructions, but no drug may be administered without a veterinarian having 
examined the horse and provided the treatment recommendation.  Such relationship requires the 
following: 
(i) The veterinarian, with the consent of the owner, has accepted responsibility for making 
medical judgments about the health of the horse; 
(ii) The veterinarian has sufficient knowledge of the horse to make a preliminary diagnosis of 
the medical condition of the horse; 
(iii) The veterinarian has performed an examination of the horse and is acquainted with the 
keeping and care of the horse; 
(iv) The veterinarian is available to evaluate and oversee treatment outcomes or has made 
appropriate arrangements for continuing care and treatment; 
(v) The relationship is maintained by veterinary visits as needed; and; 
(vi) The veterinary judgments of the veterinarian are independent and are not dictated by the 
trainer or owner of the horse. 
(b) No prescription drug may be administered except as prescribed by an attending 
veterinarian. 
(c) The trainer and veterinarian are both responsible to ensure compliance with these 
limitations on drug treatments of horses, except the medical judgment to recommend a drug 
treatment or to prescribe a drug is the responsibility of the veterinarian and the decision to 
proceed with a drug treatment that has been so recommended is the responsibility of the horse 
owner (who may be represented by the trainer or other agent). 
 
3. Treatment Restrictions 
 
(a) Only licensed trainers, licensed owners or their designees shall be permitted to authorize 
veterinary medical treatment of horses under their care, custody and control at ocations under the 
jurisdiction of the Commission. 
(b) Except as otherwise provided by this section, no person other than a veterinarian licensed 
to practice veterinary medicine in this jurisdiction and licensed by the Commission may 
administer a prescription or controlled medication, drug, chemical or other substance (including 
any medication, drug, chemical or other substance by injection) to a horse at any location under 
the jurisdiction of the Commission. 
(c) This section does not apply to the administration of the following substances except in 
approved quantitative levels, if any, present in post-race samples or as they may interfere with 
post-race testing: 
(i) A recognized non-injectable nutritional supplement or other substance approved by the 
official veterinarian; 
(ii) A non-injectable substance on the direction or by prescription of a licensed veterinarian; 
or 
(iii) A non-injectable non-prescription medication or substance. 
(d) No person shall possess a hypodermic needle, syringe capable of accepting a needle or 
injectable of any kind on association grounds, unless otherwise approved by the Commission.  At 
any location under the jurisdiction of the Commission, veterinarians may use only one-time 
disposable syringe and needle, and shall dispose of both in a manner approved by the 
Commission.  If a person has a medical condition which makes it necessary to have a syringe at 
any location under the jurisdiction of the Commission, that person may request permission of the 
stewards and/or the Commission in writing, furnish a letter from a licensed physician explaining 
why it is necessary for the person to possess a syringe, and must comply with any conditions and 
restrictions set by the stewards and/or the Commission. 
(e) Practicing veterinarians shall not have contact with an entered horse within 24 hours 
before the scheduled post time of the race in which the horse is scheduled to compete except for 
the administration of furosemide under the guidelines set forth in 205 CMR ________ unless 
approved by the official veterinarian.  Any unauthorized contact may result in the horse being 
scratched from the race in which it was scheduled to compete and may result in further 
disciplinary action by the judges. 
(f)  Any horse entered for racing must be present on the grounds prior to the scheduled 
furosemide administration time or one hour prior to first post time, whichever is earlier. 

 
4. Veterinarians’ Reports 
 



(a) Every veterinarian who treats a  racehorse at any location under the jurisdiction of the 
Commission shall, in writing on the medication report form prescribed by the Commission, 
report to the official veterinarian or other commission designee at the racetrack where the horse 
is entered to run or as otherwise specified by the Commission, the name of the horse treated, any 
medication, drug, substance or procedure administered or prescribed, the name of the trainer of 
the horse, the date and time of treatment and any other information requested by the official 
veterinarian. 
(b) The medication report form shall be signed by the practicing veterinarian. 
(c) The medication report form must be filed by the treating veterinarian not later than post 
time of the race for which the horse is entered.  Any such report is confidential and its content 
shall not be disclosed except in the course of an investigation of a possible violation of the 
Commission’s regulations or in a proceeding before the stewards or the Commission, or to the 
trainer or owner of record at the time of treatment. 
(d) A timely and accurate filing of a medication report form that is consistent with the 
analytical results of a positive test may be used as a mitigating factor in determining the nature 
and extent, if any, of a rules violation. 
        
 
 
  



 
3.28:  Prohibited Practices 

 
The following are considered prohibited practices: 
 
(1)  The possession or use of a drug, substance or medication on the premises of a facility under 
the jurisdiction of the Commission for which: 
(a)    a recognized analytical method has not been developed to detect and confirm the 
administration of such substance; or 
(b)  the use of which may endanger the health and welfare of the horse or endanger the safety of 
the driver; or 
(c)  the use of which may adversely affect the integrity of racing; or, 
(d)   no generally accepted use in equine care exists. 

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0"

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0", Line
spacing:  single



 
 
3.28:  continued 
 
(2)  The possession or use of a drug, substance, or medication on the premises of a facility under 
the jurisdiction of the Commission that has not been approved by the United States Food and 
Drug Administration (FDA) for any use in (human or animal) is forbidden without prior 
permission of the official veterinarian or his or her designee. 
 
(3)  The possession and/or use of the following substances or of blood doping agents, including 
but not limited to those listed in 205 CMR 3.28(3)(a) through (j), on the premises of a facility 
under the jurisdiction of the Commission is forbidden: 
(a)   Aminoimidazole carboxamide ribonucleotide (AICAR) (b)   Cobra venom or derivatives 
thereof 
(c)  Darbepoetin 
(d)   Equine Growth Hormone 
(e)  Erythropoietin (EPO) (f)  Hemopure 
(g)   myo-Inositol Tripyrophosphate (ITPP) (h)   Oxyglobin 
(i)   Snail venoms or derivatives thereof 
(j)   Thymosin beta 
 
(4)   The use of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy shall not be 
permitted unless the following conditions are met: 
(a)   Any treated horse shall not be permitted to race or qualify for a minimum of ten days 
following treatment; 
(b) The use of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy machines 
shall be limited to veterinarians licensed to practice by the Commission using registered and 
approved machines; 
(c)  Any Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy machines on the 
association grounds must be registered with and approved by the official veterinarian or his or 
her designee before use. 
(d) All Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy treatments must 
be reported within one day to the official veterinarian or his or her designee on the prescribed 
form.  The horse shall be added to a list of ineligible horses. 
(e)  Any person participating in the use of ESWT and/or the possession of ESWT machines in 
violation of 205 CMR 3.28(4) shall be considered to have committed a Prohibited Practice and is 
subject to a Class A Penalty. 
 
(5)   The use of a nasogastric tube (a tube longer than six inches) for the administration of any 
substance within 24 hours prior to the post time of the race in which the horse is entered is 
prohibited without the prior permission of the official veterinarian or his or her designee. 
1. No person may possess or use a drug, substance or medication on the premises of a facility 
under the jurisdiction of the Commission for which  
 
(a) a recognized analytical method has not been developed to detect and confirm the 
administration of such substance; or  
(b) the use of which may endanger the health and welfare of the horse or endanger the safety of 
the driver; or  
(c) the use of which may adversely affect the integrity of racing; or, 
(d) no generally-accepted use in equine care exists. 
 
2. Prohibited Substances and Methods: 
 
(a) The substances and methods listed in the annexed Prohibited List may not be used at any 
place or time, and may not be possessed on the premises of a racing or training facility under the 
jurisdiction of the Commission, except as a restricted therapeutic use.  
(b) Restricted Therapeutic Use. A limited number of medication on the Prohibited List shall 
be exempted when the administration occurs in compliance with the annexed Required 
Conditions for Restricted Therapeutic Use: 
(i)   Report When Sampled means the administration of the substance must be reported to 
the commission when the horse is next sampled, if the horse is  sampled within 24 hours after 
the administration; 

Formatted: Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Space Before:  0
pt

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0"

Formatted: Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0",
Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0", Space
Before:  0 pt

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0",
Space Before:  0 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0", Space
Before:  0 pt

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0",
Space Before:  0 pt

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0",
Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0", Space
Before:  0 pt

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0",
Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0",
Line spacing:  single



(ii)  Pre-File Treatment Plan means that if the commission where the horse is located requires 
the filing of treatment plans, then a treatment plan for the substance must be filed by the time of 
administration in a manner approved by such commission; 
(iii)  Written Approval from Commission means the commission has granted written approval 
of a written treatment plan before the administration of the substance;  
(iv)   Emergency Use (report) means the substance had to be administered due to an acute 
emergency involving the life or health of the horse, provided the emergency use is reported to 
the commission as soon as practicable after the treatment occurs; 
(v)   Prescribed by Veterinarian means the substance has been prescribed by an  attending 
veterinarian, in compliance with ARCI 011-010 Veterinary Practices, and recorded in the 
veterinary records in the manner required by the commission; 
(vi)  Report Treatment means the treatment must be reported to the commission by the  trainer 
at the time of administration to provide the commission with information for the Veterinarian’s 
List.  The trainer may delegate this responsibility to the treating veterinarian, who shall make the 
report when so designated; and 
(vii)  Other Limitations means additional requirements that apply, such as a substance may be 
used in only fillies or mares or a horse that is administered a substance shall be reported 
immediately to the commission and placed on the Veterinarian’s List for a specific minimum 
period of time.  The use of the substance must comply with other applicable rules of the 
Commission. 
(c)  No person shall at any time administer any other doping agent to a horse except pursuant 
to a valid therapeutic, evidence-based treatment plan. 
(i)   Other doping agent means a substance that is not listed in the annexed Prohibited List, 
has a pharmacologic potential to alter materially the performance of a horse, has no generally 
accepted medical use in the horse when treated, and is: 
(A) capable at any time of causing an action or effect, or both, within one or more of the blood, 
cardiovascular, digestive, endocrine, immune, musculoskeletal, nervous, reproductive, 
respiratory, or urinary mammalian body systems; including but not limited to endocrine 
secretions and their synthetic counterparts, masking agents, oxygen carriers, and agents that 
directly or indirectly affect or manipulate gene expression; but 
(B) not a substance that is considered to have no effect on the physiology of a horse except to 
improve nutrition or treat or prevent infections or parasite infestations. 
(ii)  The commission may publish advisory warnings that certain substances or 
 administrations may constitute a violation of this rule. 
(iii)  Therapeutic, evidence-based treatment plan means a planned course of treatment written 
and prescribed by an attending veterinarian before the horse is treated that: 
(A) describes the medical need of the horse for the treatment, the evidence-based scientific or 
clinical justification for using the doping agent, and a determination that recognized therapeutic 
alternates do not exist; and 
(B) complies with ARCI 011-010 Veterinary Practices, meets the standards of veterinary practice 
of the jurisdiction, and is developed in good faith to treat a medical need of the horse. 
(iv)  Such plans shall not authorize the possession of a doping agent on the premises of a 
racing or training facility under the jurisdiction of the commission. 
 
3. The possession and/or use of the following substances or of blood doping agents, 
including but not limited to those listed below, on the premises of a facility under the jurisdiction 
of the Commission is forbidden: 
 
(a) Aminoimidazole carboxamide ribonucleotide (AICAR) 
(b) Darbepoetin 
(c) Equine Growth Hormone 
(d) Erythropoietin 
(e) Hemopure ® 
(f) Myo-Inositol Trispyprophosphate (ITPP) 
(g) Oxyglobin® 
(h) Thymosin beta 
(i) Venoms or derivatives thereof 
(j) Thymosin beta 
 
4. The use of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy shall not 
be permitted unless the following conditions are met: 
 



(a) Any Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy machine, 
whether in operating condition or not, must be registered with and approved by the Commission 
or its designee before such machine is brought to or possessed on any racetrack or training center 
within the jurisdiction of the commission;  
(b) The use of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy within 
the jurisdiction: 
(i) shall be limited to veterinarians licensed to practice by the commission; 
(ii) may only be performed with machines that are: 
 registered and approved for use by the commission; and 
(iii) used at a previously-disclosed location that is approved by the commission 
 must be reported within 24-hours prior to treatment on the prescribed form to the official  
 veterinarian.  
(c) Any treated horse shall not be permitted to race or breeze for a minimum of 10 days 
following treatment; 
(a) Any horse treated with Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave 
Therapy shall be added to a list of ineligible horses.  This list shall be kept in the race office and 
accessible to the jockeys and/or their agents during normal business hours and be made available 
to other regulatory jurisdictions. 
(b) A horse that receives any such treatment without full compliance with this section and 
similar rules in any other jurisdiction in which the horse was treated shall be placed on the 
Steward’s List. 
(c) Any person participating in the use of ESWT and/or the possession of ESWT machines in 
violation of this rule shall be considered to have committed a Prohibited Practice and is subject 
to a Class A Penalty. 
 
5. The use of a nasogastric tube (a tube longer than six inches) for the administration of any 
substance within 24 hours prior to the post time of the race in which the horse is entered is 
prohibited without the prior permission of the official veterinarian or his/her designee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.28.01  
 

Annex I 
Prohibited Substances and Prohibited Methods 

 
Prohibited Substances 

 
All substances in the categories below shall be strictly prohibited unless otherwise provided in 
accordance with 205 CMR 4.0.  Any reference to substances in this section does not alter the 
requirements for testing concentrations in race day samples.  

 
Nothing in this list shall alter the requirements of post-race testing. 

 
(a). NON-APPROVED SUBSTANCES 
 
Any pharmacologic substance that is not approved by any governmental regulatory health 
authority for human or veterinary use within the jurisdiction is prohibited.  This prohibition 
includes drugs under pre-clinical or clinical development, discontinued drugs, and designer drugs 
(a synthetic analog of a drug that has been altered in a manner that may reduce its detection); but 
does not include vitamins, herbs and supplements for nutritional purposes that do not contain any 
other prohibited substance, or the administration of a substance with the prior approval of the 
commission in a clinical trial for which an FDA or similar exemption has been obtained. 
 
(b).  ANABOLIC AGENTS 
Anabolic agents are prohibited. 
 



1. Anabolic Androgenic Steroids (AAS) 
 
1.1. Exogenous AAS, including: 
 
1-androstenediol (5α-androst-1-ene-3β,17β-diol ); 1-androstenedione (5α- androst-1-ene-3,17-
dione); bolandiol (estr-4-ene-3β,17β-diol ); bolasterone; boldenone; boldione (androsta-1,4-
diene-3,17-dione); calusterone; clostebol; danazol ([1,2]oxazolo[4',5':2,3]pregna-4-en-20-yn-
17α-ol);dehydrochlormethyltestosterone (4-chloro-17β-hydroxy-17α-methylandrosta- 1,4-dien-
3-one); desoxymethyltestosterone (17α-methyl-5α-androst-2-en- 17β-ol); drostanolone; 
ethylestrenol (19-norpregna-4-en-17α-ol); fluoxymesterone; formebolone; furazabol (17α- 
methyl[1,2,5]oxadiazolo[3',4':2,3]-5α-androstan-17β-ol); gestrinone; 4- hydroxytestosterone 
(4,17β-dihydroxyandrost-4-en-3-one); mestanolone; mesterolone; metandienone (17β-hydroxy-
17α-methylandrosta-1,4-dien-3- one); metenolone; methandriol; methasterone (17β-hydroxy-
2α,17α- dimethyl-5α-androstan-3-one); methyldienolone (17β-hydroxy-17α- methylestra-4,9-
dien-3-one); methyl-1-testosterone (17β-hydroxy-17α-methyl-5α-androst-1-en-3-one); 
methylnortestosterone (17β-hydroxy-17α-methylestr-4-en-3-one); methyltestosterone; 
metribolone (methyltrienolone, 17β- hydroxy-17α-methylestra-4,9,11-trien-3-one); mibolerone; 
nandrolone; 19-norandrostenedione (estr-4-ene-3,17-dione); norboletone; norclostebol; 
norethandrolone; oxabolone; oxandrolone; oxymesterone; oxymetholone; prostanozol (17β-
[(tetrahydropyran-2-yl)oxy]-1'H-pyrazolo[3,4:2,3]-5α- androstane); quinbolone; stanozolol; 
stenbolone; 1-testosterone (17β- hydroxy-5α-androst-1-en-3-one); tetrahydrogestrinone (17-
hydroxy-18a- homo-19-nor-17α-pregna-4,9,11-trien-3-one); trenbolone (17β-hydroxyestr- 
4,9,11-trien-3-one); and other substances with a similar chemical structure or similar biological 
effect(s). 
 
1.2. Endogenous AAS or their synthetic esters when administered exogenously: 
 
androstenediol (androst-5-ene-3β,17β-diol); androstenedione (androst-4-ene-3,17-dione); 
dihydrotestosterone (17β-hydroxy-5α-androstan-3-one); prasterone (dehydroepiandrosterone, 
DHEA, 3β-hydroxyandrost-5-en-17-one); testosterone; and their metabolites and isomers, 
including but not limited to: 
5α-androstane-3α,17α-diol; 5α-androstane-3α,17β-diol; 5α-androstane-3β,17α-diol; 5α-
androstane-3β,17β-diol; 5β-androstane-3 α, 17β-diol,  androst-4-ene-3α,17α-diol; androst-4-ene-
3α,17β-diol; androst-4-ene-3β,17α-diol; androst-5-ene-3α,17α-diol; androst-5-ene-3α,17β-diol; 
androst-5-ene-3β,17α-diol; 4-androstenediol (androst-4-ene-3β,17β-diol); 5-androstenedione 
(androst-5- ene-3,17-dione); androsterone (3 β-hydroxy-5 α – androstan-17-one); epi-
dihydrotestosterone; epitestosterone; etiocholanolone; 7α-hydroxy-DHEA ; 7β-hydroxy-DHEA; 
7-keto-DHEA;19-norandrosterone; 19-noretiocholanolone. 
 
(c).    Other Anabolic Agents, including but not limited to: 
 
Clenbuterol, selective androgen receptor modulators (SARMs e.g., andarine and ostarine), 
ractopamine, tibolone, zeranol, zilpaterol. 
 
(d).    PEPTIDE HORMONES, GROWTH FACTORS AND RELATED SUBSTANCES 
 
The following substances, and other substances with similar chemical structure or similar 
biological effect(s), are prohibited: 
 
1. Erythropoietin-Receptor agonists: 
 
Erythropoiesis-Stimulating Agents (ESAs) including, e.g., darbepoetin (dEPO); erythropoietins 
(EPO); EPO-Fc; EPO-mimetic peptides (EMP), e.g., CNTO 530 and peginesatide; and 
methoxypolyethylene glycol-epoetin beta (CERA); and Non-erythropoietic EPO-Receptor 
agonists, e.g., ARA-290, asialo EPO and carbamylated EPO;  
 
2. Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) stabilizers, e.g., cobalt (when found in excess of 
regulatory authority limits) and roxadustat (FG-4592); and HIF activators, (e.g., argon, xenon); 
 
3. Chorionic Gonadotropin (CG) and Luteinizing Hormone (LH) and their releasing factors, 
in males; 
 



4. Corticotrophins and their releasing factors;                                              
 
5. Growth Hormone (GH) and its releasing factors including Growth Hormone Releasing 
Hormone (GHRH) and its analogues, e.g., CJC-1295, sermorelin and tesamorelin; Growth 
Hormone Secretagogues (GHS), e.g., ghrelin and ghrelin mimetics, e.g., anamorelin and 
ipamorelin; and GH-Releasing Peptides (GHRPs), e.g., alexamorelin, GHRP-6, hexarelin and 
pralmorelin (GHRP-2);  
 
6. Venoms and toxins including but not limited to venoms and toxins from sources such as 
snails, snakes, frogs, and bees as well as their synthetic analogues such as ziconotide.  
 
7. In addition, the following growth factors are prohibited: 
 
Fibroblast Growth Factors (FGFs), Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF), Insulin-like Growth 
Factor-1 (IGF-1) and its analogues, Mechano Growth Factors (MGFs), Platelet-Derived Growth 
Factor (PDGF), Vascular-Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) and any other growth factor 
affecting muscle, tendon or ligament protein synthesis/degradation, vascularization, energy 
utilization, regenerative capacity or fiber type switching. 
  
(e).  BETA-2 AGONISTS 
 
All beta-2 agonists, including all optical isomers (i.e. d- and l-) where relevant, are prohibited. 
 
(f). HORMONE AND METABOLIC MODULATORS 
 
The following are prohibited: 
 
1.  Aromatase inhibitors, including but not limited to: aminoglutethimide, anastrozole, androsta-
1,4,6-triene-3,17-dione (androstatrienedione), 4-androstene-3,6,17 trione (6-oxo), exemestane, 
formestane, letrozole, testolactone; 
 
2.  Selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs), including but not limited to: raloxifene, 
tamoxifen, toremifene; 
 
3.  Other anti-estrogenic substances, including but not limited to: clomiphene, cyclofenil, 
fulvestrant; 
 
4.  Agents modifying myostatin function(s), including but not limited to: myostatin inhibitors; 
 
5. Metabolic modulators: 
 
5.1.   Activators of the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), e.g., AICAR, and Peroxisome 
Proliferator Activated Receptor δ (PPARδ) agonists (e.g., GW 1516); 
 
5.2    Insulins;  
 
5.3    Trimetazidine; and 
 
5.4.   Thyroxine and thyroid modulators/hormones, including but not limited to those containing 
T4 (tetraiodothyronine/thyroxine), T3 (triiodothyronine), or combinations thereof. 
 
(g).  DIURETICS AND OTHER MASKING AGENTS 
 
The following diuretics and masking agents are prohibited, as are other substances with similar 
chemical structure or similar biological effect(s):  acetazolamide, amiloride, bumetanide, 
canrenone, chlorthalidone, desmorpressin, etacrynic acid, indapamide, metolazone, plasma 
expanders (e.g. glycerol; intravenous administration of albumin, dextran, hydroxyethyl starch 
and mannitol), probenecid, spironolactone, thiazides (e.g. bendroflumethiazide, chlorothiazide, 
hydrochlorothiazide), torsemide, triamterene, and vasopressin receptor antagonists or vaptans 
(e.g., tolvaptan).  
 



Furosemide and trichlormethiazide may be administered only in a manner permitted by other 
rules of the commission. 

 
 

PROHIBITED METHODS 
 
(a). MANIPULATION OF BLOOD AND BLOOD COMPONENTS 
 
The following are prohibited: 
 
1.  The administration or reintroduction of any quantity of autologous, allogenic 
(homologous) or heterologous blood or red blood cell products of any origin into the circulatory 
system. 
 
2. Artificially enhancing the uptake, transport or delivery of oxygen, including, but not 
limited to, perfluorochemicals, efaproxiral (RSR13) and modified hemoglobin products (e.g. 
hemoglobin-based blood substitutes, microencapsulated hemoglobin products), excluding 
supplemental oxygen. 
 
3. Any form of intravascular manipulation of the blood or blood components by physical or 
chemical means. 
 
(b). CHEMICAL AND PHYSICAL MANIPULATION 
 
Tampering, or attempting to tamper, in order to alter the integrity and validity of samples 
collected by the commission, is prohibited. These methods include but are not limited to urine 
substitution or adulteration (e.g., proteases). 
 
(c). GENE DOPING 
 
The following, with the potential to enhance sport performance, are prohibited: 
 
1. The transfer of polymers of nucleic acids or nucleic acid analogues. 
 
2.The use of normal or genetically modified hematopoietic cells.  
 
 



 
 
 
3.29:  Medications and Prohibited Substances 

 
(1)  Aggravating and Mitigating Factors. Upon a finding of a violation of 205 CMR 3.29, the 
judges shall consider the classification level of the violation as listed at the time of the violation 
in the Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances as promulgated by the 
Association of Racing Commissioners International (ARCI) and impose penalties and 
disciplinary measures consistent with the recommendations contained therein. The judges shall 
also consult with the official veterinarian, laboratory director or other individuals to determine 
the seriousness of the laboratory finding or the medication violation.  All medication and drug 
violations shall be investigated and reviewed on a case by case basis.  Extenuating factors 
include, but are not limited to: 
(a)   The past record of the trainer, veterinarian and owner in drug cases; 
(b)   The potential of the drug(s) to influence a horse's racing performance; 
(c)   The legal availability of the drug; 
(d)  Whether there is reason to believe the responsible party knew of the administration of the 
drug or intentionally administered the drug; 
(e)   The steps taken by the trainer to safeguard the horse; 
(f)  The probability of environmental contamination or inadvertent exposure due to human drug 
use; 
(g)   The purse of the race; 
(h)    Whether the drug found was one for which the horse was receiving a treatment as 
determined by the Medication Report Form; 
(i)   Whether there was any suspicious betting pattern in the race, and; 
(j)   Whether the licensed trainer was acting under the advice of a licensed veterinarian. 
As a result of the investigation, there may be mitigating circumstances for which a lesser or no 
penalty is appropriate for the licensee and aggravating factors, which may increase the penalty 
beyond the minimum. 
 
(2)   Penalties. 
 
(a)  In issuing penalties against individuals found guilty of medication and drug violations a 
regulatory distinction shall be made between the detection of therapeutic medications used 



routinely to treat racehorses and those drugs that have no reason to be found at any concentration 
in the test sample on race day. 
(b)  If a licensed veterinarian is administering or prescribing a drug not listed in the ARCI 
Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, the identity of the drug shall be 
forwarded to the official veterinarian to be forwarded to the Racing Medication and Testing 
Consortium for classification. 
(c)  Any drug or metabolite thereof found to be presenting a pre- or post-race sample which 
is not classified in the version of the ARCI Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign 
Substances in effect at the time of the violation shall be assumed to be a ARCI Class 1 Drug and 
the trainer and owner shall be subject to those penalties as set forth in schedule "A" therein 
unless satisfactorily demonstrated otherwise by the Racing Medication and Testing Consortium, 
with a penalty category assigned. 
(d)   Any licensee of the Commission, including veterinarians, found to be responsible for 
the improper or intentional administration of any drug resulting in a positive test may, after 
proper notice and hearing, be subject to the same penalties set forth for the licensed trainer. (e)   
Procedures shall be established to ensure that a licensed trainer is not able to benefit financially 
during the period for which the individual has been suspended. This includes, but is not limited 
to, ensuring that horses are not transferred to licensed family members. 
 
2. Multiple Medication Violations (MMV) 
A trainer who receives a penalty for a medication violation based upon a horse testing positive 
for a Class 1-5 medication with Penalty Class A-C, as provided in the most recent version of the 
ARCI Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, or similar state regulatory 
guidelines, shall be assigned points as follows: 
 

Penalty Class Points If Controlled 
Therapeutic Substance 

Points If Non-Controlled 
Substance 

Class A N/A 6 
Class B 2 4 

Class C 

½ for first violation with 
an additional ½ point for 
each additional violation 

within 365 days1 

1 for first violation with 
an additional ½ point for 
each additional violation 

within 365 days 
Class D 0 0 

  
If the Stewards or Commission determine that the violation is due to environmental 
contamination, they may assign lesser or no points against the trainer based upon the specific 
facts of the case. 
 
(a) The points assigned to a medication violation by the Stewards or Commission ruling shall be 
included in the ARCI official database.  The ARCI shall record points consistent with Section 
13(a) including when appropriate, a designation that points have been suspended for the 
medication violation. Points assigned by such regulatory ruling shall reflect, in the case of 
multiple positive tests as described in paragraph (d), whether they constitute a single violation. 
The Stewards’ or Commission Ruling shall be posted on the official website of the Commission 
and within the official database of the Association of Racing Commissioners International. If an 
appeal is pending, that fact shall be noted in such Ruling. No points shall be applied until a final 
adjudication of the enforcement of any such violation.   
(b) A trainer’s cumulative points for violations in all racing jurisdictions shall be maintained by 
the ARCI.  Once all appeals are waived or exhausted, the points shall immediately become part 
of the trainer’s official ARCI record and shall be considered by the Commission in its 
determination to subject the trainer to the mandatory enhanced penalties by the Stewards or 
Commission as provided in this regulation. 
(c) Multiple positive tests for the same medication incurred by a trainer prior to delivery of 
official notice by the commission may be treated as a single violation. In the case of a positive 
test indicating multiple substances found in a single post-race sample, the Stewards may treat 

                                                           
1 Points for NSAID violations only apply when the primary threshold of the NSAID is exceeded. Points are not to be separately 
assigned for a stacking violation. 
 
 



each substance found as an individual violation for which points will be assigned, depending 
upon the facts and circumstances of the case. 
(d)The official ARCI record shall be used to advise the Stewards or Commission of a trainer’s 
past record of violations and cumulative points.  Nothing in this administrative regulation shall 
be construed to confer upon a licensed trainer the right to appeal a violation for which all 
remedies have been exhausted or for which the appeal time has expired as provided by 
applicable law.   
(e)The Stewards or Commission shall consider all points for violations in all racing jurisdictions 
as contained in the trainer’s official ARCI record when determining whether the mandatory 
enhancements provided in this regulation shall be imposed.      
(f)In addition to the penalty for the underlying offense, the following enhancements shall be 
imposed upon a licensed trainer based upon the cumulative points contained in his/her official 
ARCI record:  
  

Points Suspension in days 
5-5.5 15 to 30 
6-8.5 30 to 60 
9-10.5 90 to 180 

11 or more 180 to 360 
  
MMV penalties are not a substitute for the current penalty system and are intended to be an 
additional uniform penalty when the licensee: 
(i)  Has had more than one medication violation for the relevant time period, and 
(ii) Exceeds the permissible number of points. 

 
The Stewards and Commission shall consider aggravating and mitigating circumstances, 
including the trainer’s prior record for medication violations, when determining the appropriate 
penalty for the underlying offense.  The MMP is intended to be a separate and additional penalty 
for a pattern of violations. 
(i)The suspension periods as provided in Section 13(g) shall run consecutive to any suspension 
imposed for the underlying offense.   
(ii)The Stewards’ or Commission Ruling shall distinguish between the penalty for the underlying 
offense and any enhancement based upon a Stewards or Commission review of the trainer’s 
cumulative points and regulatory record, which may be considered an aggravating factor in a 
case. 
(iii)Points shall expire as follows: 
 
  

Penalty Classification Time to Expire 
A 3 years 
B 2 years 
C 1 year 

  
In the case of a medication violation that results in a suspension, any points assessed expire on 
the anniversary date of the date the suspension is completed. 
 
 (2)   Penalties. 
(a)  In issuing penalties against individuals found guilty of medication and drug violations a 
regulatory distinction shall be made between the detection of therapeutic medications used 
routinely to treat racehorses and those drugs that have no reason to be found at any concentration 
in the test sample on race day. 
(b)  If a licensed veterinarian is administering or prescribing a drug not listed in the ARCI 
Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, the identity of the drug shall be 
forwarded to the official veterinarian to be forwarded to the Racing Medication and Testing 
Consortium for classification. 
(c)  Any drug or metabolite thereof found to be presenting a pre- or post-race sample which 
is not classified in the version of the ARCI Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign 
Substances in effect at the time of the violation shall be assumed to be a ARCI Class 1 Drug and 
the trainer and owner shall be subject to those penalties as set forth in schedule "A" therein 
unless satisfactorily demonstrated otherwise by the Racing Medication and Testing Consortium, 
with a penalty category assigned. 



(d)   Any licensee of the Commission, including veterinarians, found to be responsible for 
the improper or intentional administration of any drug resulting in a positive test may, after 
proper notice and hearing, be subject to the same penalties set forth for the licensed trainer. (e)   
Procedures shall be established to ensure that a licensed trainer is not able to benefit financially 
during the period for which the individual has been suspended. This includes, but is not limited 
to, ensuring that horses are not transferred to licensed family members. 
(f)  Multiple Medication Violations (MMV). 
1.  A trainer who receives a penalty for a medication violation based upon a horse testing 
positive for a Class 1-5 medication with Penalty Class A-D, as provided in the version of the 
ARCI Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances in effect at the time of the 
violation, shall be assigned points based upon the medication's ARCI Penalty Guideline as 
follows: 
 

Class Points If Controlled 
Therapeutic Substance 

Points If Non-controlled 
Substance 

Class A 2
 N/A 6 

Class B 2 4 

Class C 1 2 

Class D ½ 1 
 
2.  The points assigned to a medication violation shall be included in the Judges' ruling. Such 
ruling shall determine, in the case of multiple positive tests as described in 
205 CMR 3.29(2)(f)4., whether they shall thereafter constitute a single violation. The 
Judges' ruling shall be posted on the official website of the Association of Racing 
Commissioners International. If an appeal is pending, that fact shall be noted in such ruling.  No 
points shall be applied until a final adjudication of the enforcement of any such violation. 
3.     A trainer's cumulative points for violations in all racing jurisdictions shall be maintained 
and certified by the Association of Racing Commissioners International. Once all appeals are 
waived or exhausted, the points shall immediately become part of the trainer's official ARCI 
record and shall then subject the trainer to the mandatory enhanced penalties by the Judges or 
Commission as provided in 205 CMR 3.29(2)(f). 
4.   Multiple positive tests for the same medication incurred by a licensed trainer prior 
to delivery of official notice by the Commission may be treated as a single violation. 
5.  The official ARCI record shall constitute prima facie evidence of a licensed trainer's past 
record of violations and cumulative points.  Nothing in 205 CMR 3.29(2)(f) shall be construed to 
confer upon a licensed trainer the right to appeal a violation for which all remedies have been 
exhausted or for which the appeal time has expired as provided by applicable law. 
6.    The Judges or Commission shall include all points for violations in all racing jurisdictions as 
contained in the trainer's official ARCI record when determining whether the mandatory 
enhancements provided in 205 CMR 3.29(2)(f) shall be imposed. 
7.   In addition to the penalty for the underlying offense, the following enhancements 
shall be imposed upon a licensed trainer based upon the cumulative points contained in his or her 
official ARCI record: 
 

Points Suspension in Days 

3-5.5 30 

6-8.5 60 

9-10.5 180 

11 or more 360 
 
MMV's are not a substitute for the current penalty system outlined in 205 CMR 

                                                           
2 Except  for  Class  1  and  2  environmental  contaminants,  e.g.,  cocaine  which  shall  be 
determined by the Judges based upon the facts of the case. 
 



3.29(2)(a) through (d) and are intended to be an additional uniform penalty when the licensed 
trainer: 
a.   Has more than one violation for the relevant time period, and  
b.  Exceeds the permissible number of points. 
8.  The suspension periods as provided above, shall run consecutive to any suspension imposed 
for the underlying offense. 
9.   The Judges' ruling shall distinguish between the penalty for the underlying offense and the 
enhancement based upon the licensed trainer's cumulative points. 
10.   Any trainer who has received a medication violation may petition the ARCI to expunge the 
points received for the violation for the purpose of the MMV system only. he points shall be 
expunged as follows: 

Penalty Classification Time to Expungement 

A Permanent 

B 3 years 

C 2 years 

D 1 year 
 
(3)   Medication Restrictions. 
(a)   A finding by the commission approved laboratory of a prohibited drug, chemical or other 
substance in a test specimen of a horse is prima facie evidence that the prohibited drug, chemical 
or other substance was administered to the horse and, in the case of a post-race test, was present 
in the horse's body while it was participating in a race.  Prohibited substances include: 
1.    Drugs or medications for which no acceptable threshold concentration has been established; 
2.  Controlled therapeutic medications in excess of established threshold concentrations or 
administration within the restricted time period as set forth in the version of the ARCI Controlled 
Therapeutic Medication Schedule in effect at the time of the violation; 
3.  Substances present in the horse in excess of concentrations at which such substances 
could occur naturally; and 
4.   Substances foreign to a horse at concentrations that cause interference with testing 
procedures. 
(b)  Except as otherwise provided by 205 CMR 3.00, a person may not administer or cause 
to be administered by any means to a horse a prohibited drug, medication, chemical or other 
substance, including any restricted medication pursuant to 205 CMR 3.00 during the 24-hour 
period before post time for the race in which the horse is entered. 
(4)  Medical Labeling. 
(a)  No person on association grounds where horses are lodged or kept, excluding licensed 
veterinarians, shall have in or upon association grounds which that person occupies or has the 
right to occupy, or in that person's personal property or effects or vehicle in that person's care, 
custody or control, a drug, medication, chemical, foreign substance or other substance that is 
prohibited in a horse on a race day unless the product is labeled in accordance with 
205 CMR 3.29(4). 
(b)   Any drug or medication which is used or kept on association grounds and which, by federal 
or state law, requires a prescription must have been validly prescribed by a duly licensed 
veterinarian, and in compliance with the applicable state statutes.   All such allowable 
medications must have a prescription label which is securely attached and clearly ascribed to 
show the following: 
1.   The name of the product; 
2.     The name, address and telephone number of the veterinarian  prescribing or dispensing the 
product; 
3.   The name of each patient (horse) for whom the product is intended/prescribed; 
4.    The dose, dosage, duration of treatment and expiration date of the prescribed/ 
dispensed product; and 
5.   The name of the person (trainer) to whom the product was dispensed. 
(5)    Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs).  The use of one of three approved 
NSAIDs shall be permitted under the following conditions: 
(a)  Not to exceed the following permitted serum or plasma threshold concentrations which are 
consistent with administration by a single intravenous injection at least 24 hours before the post 
time for the race in which the horse is entered: 
1.   Phenylbutazone.  two micrograms per milliliter; 



2.   Flunixin.  20 nanograms per milliliter; 
3.   Ketoprofen.  two nanograms per milliliter. 
(b)  These or any other NSAID are prohibited to be administered within the 24 hours before post 
time for the race in which the horse is entered. 
(c)   The presence of more than one of the three approved NSAIDs, in the post-race serum or 
plasma sample is not permitted. 
1.  A finding of phenylbutazone below a concentration of .5 microgram per milliliter of blood 
serum or plasma shall not constitute a violation of 205 CMR 3.29(5). 
2.  A finding of flunixin below a concentration of three nanograms per milliliter of blood serum 
or plasma shall not constitute a violation of 205 CMR 3.29(5). 
(d)  The use of all but one of the approved NSAIDs shall be discontinued at least 48 hours before 
the post time for the race in which the horse is entered. 
(e)  The presence of any unapproved NSAID in the post-race serum or plasma sample is not 
permitted. 
(6)  Furosemide. 
(a)  In order for a horse to be placed on the Furosemide List the following process must be 
followed. 
1.  After the horse's licensed trainer and licensed veterinarian determine that it would be in the 
horse's best interests to race with furosemide the official veterinarian or his or her designee shall 
be notified using the prescribed form, that the horse is to be put on the Furosemide List. 
2.  The form must be received by the official veterinarian or his or her designee by the time of 
entry. 
3.   A horse placed on the official Furosemide List must remain on that list unless the licensed 
trainer and licensed veterinarian submit a written request to remove the horse from the list. The 
request must be made to the official veterinarian or his or her designee, on the proper form, no 
later than the time of entry. 
4. After a horse has been removed from the Furosemide List, the horse may not be placed back 
on the list for a period of 60 calendar days unless it is determined to be detrimental to the welfare 
of the horse, in consultation with the official veterinarian. If a horse is removed from the official 
Furosemide List a second time in a 365-day period, the horse may not be placed back on the list 
for a period of 90 calendar days. 
5.  Furosemide shall only be administered on association grounds. 
6.   Furosemide shall be the only authorized bleeder medication. 
7.  The use of furosemide shall not be permitted in two year olds. 
(b)     The use of furosemide shall be permitted under the following circumstances on association 
grounds where a detention barn is not utilized: 
1.   Furosemide shall be administered by single intravenous injection no less than four hours 
prior to post time for the race for which the horse is entered. 
2.  The furosemide dosage administered shall not exceed 250500 mg. nor be less than 150 mg. 
3.   After treatment, the horse shall be required by the Commission to remain in the proximity of 
its stall in the care, custody and control of its trainer or the trainer's designated representative 
under general association and/or Commission security surveillance until called to the saddling 
paddock. 
(c)   Test results must show a detectable concentration of the drug in the post-race serum, plasma 
or urine sample. 
1.    The specific gravity of post-race urine samples may be measured to ensure that samples are 
sufficiently concentrated for proper chemical analysis. The specific gravity shall not be below 
1.010. If the specific gravity of the urine is found to be below 1.010 or if a urine sample is 
unavailable for testing, quantitation of furosemide in serum or plasma shall be performed; 
2.  Quantitation of furosemide in serum or plasma shall be performed when the specific 
gravity of the corresponding urine sample is not measured or if measured below 1.010. 
Concentrations may not exceed 100 nanograms of furosemide per milliliter of serum or plasma. 
(d)  A horse which has been placed on the Furosemide List in another jurisdiction pursuant 
to 205 CMR 3.00 shall be placed on the Furosemide List in this jurisdiction. A notation on the 
horse's electronic eligibility certificate of such shall suffice as evidence of being on a Furosemide 
List in another jurisdiction. 
(7)   Bleeder List. 
(a)    The official veterinarian shall maintain a Bleeder List of all horses, which have 
demonstrated external evidence of exercise induced pulmonary hemorrhage from one or both 
nostrils during or after a race or workout as observed by the official veterinarian. 
(b)  Every confirmed bleeder, regardless of age, shall be placed on the Bleeder List and be 
ineligible to race for the minimum following time periods: 



1.  First incident - 14 days; 
2.  Second incident - 30 days; 
3.  Third incident - 180 days; 
4.   Fourth incident - barred for racing lifetime. 
(c)  For the purposes of counting the number of days a horse is ineligible to run, the day the 
horse bled externally is the first day of the recovery period. 
(d)  The voluntary administration of furosemide without an external bleeding incident shall not 
subject the horse to the initial period of ineligibility as defined by 205 CMR 3.29(7). (e)  A horse 
which has been placed on a Bleeder List in another jurisdiction pursuant to rules similar to 205 
CMR 3.29(7) shall be placed on a Bleeder List in this jurisdiction. 
(8)  Androgenic-anabolic Steroids (AAS). 
(a)   No AAS shall be permitted in test samples collected from racing horses except for residues 
of the major metabolite of nandrolone, and the naturally occurring substances boldenone and 
testosterone at concentrations less that the indicated thresholds. 
(b)  Concentrations of these AAS shall not exceed the following plasma or serum thresholds for 
unchanged (i.e. not conjugated) substance or urine threshold concentrations for total (i.e., free 
drug or metabolite and drug or metabolite liberated from its conjugates): 
1.  Boldenone: 15 ng/ml of total boldenone in urine of male horses other than geldings, 
or 25 pg/ml of boldenone in plasma or serum of all horses regardless of sex; 
2.  Nandrolone: 1 ng/ml of total nandrolone in urine for fillies, mares, and geldings, or 
45 ng/ml (as 5α-estrane-3β, 17α-diol)) in urine, in male horses other than geldings, or 
25 pg/ml of nandrolone in plasma or serum for geldings, fillies, and mares. 
3.   Testosterone: 
a.  In Geldings. 20 ng/ml total testosterone in urine, or 25 pg/ml of testosterone in plasma or 
serum; 
b.    In Fillies and Mares.   55 ng/ml total testosterone in urine, or 25 pg/ml of 
testosterone in plasma or serum. 
(c)  Any other anabolic steroids are prohibited in racing horses. 
(d)  Post-race urine samples must have the sex of the horse identified to the laboratory. 
(9)  Alkalinizing Substances.  The use of agents that elevate the horse's TCO2 or Base excess 
level above those existing naturally in the untreated horse at normal physiological concentrations 
is prohibited.  The following levels also apply to blood gas analysis: 
(a)  The regulatory threshold for TCO2 is 37.0 millimoles per liter of plasma/serum or a base 
excess level of 10.0 millimoles, and; 
(b)  The decision level to be used for the regulation of TCO2 is 37.0 millimoles per liter of 
plasma/serum plus the measurement uncertainty of the laboratory analyzing the sample or a base 
excess level of 10.4 millimoles per liter of plasma/serum. 
 
 
  



3.30:   Out of Competition Testing for Blood and/or Gene Doping Agents 
 
(1)  Out-of-competition testing authorized. The commission may at a reasonable time on any 
date take blood, urine or other biologic samples as authorized by commission rules from 
a horse to enhance the ability of the commission to enforce its medication and antidoping 
rules, e.g., the Prohibited List pursuant to ARCI-011-015. The commission shall 
own such samples. This rule authorizes only the collection and testing of samples and 
does not independently make impermissible the administration to or presence in any 
horse of any drug or other substance. A race day prohibition or restriction of a substance 
by a commission rule is not applicable to an out-of-competition test unless there is an 
attempt to race the horse in a manner that violates such rule. 
 
(2) Horses eligible to be tested. Any horse that has been engaging in activities related to 
competing in horse racing in the jurisdiction may be tested. This includes without 
limitation any horses that are training outside the jurisdiction to participate in racing in 
the jurisdiction and all horses that are training in the jurisdiction, but excludes weanlings, 
yearlings and horses no longer engaged in horse racing (e.g., retired broodmares). 
(a) A horse is presumed eligible for out-of-competition testing if: 
(i) It is on the grounds at a racetrack or training center under the jurisdiction 
of the commission; 
(ii) It is under the care or control of a trainer licensed by the commission; 
(iii) It is owned by an owner licensed by the commission; 
(iv) It is entered or nominated to race at a premises licensed by the 
commission; 
(v) It has raced within the previous 12 months at a premises licensed by the 
commission; or 
(vi) It is nominated to a program based on racing in the jurisdiction, including 
without limitation a state thoroughbred development, breeder’s award 
fund, or standardbred state sires stakes. 
(b) Such presumptions are conclusive in the absence of evidence that a horse is not 
engaged in activities related to competing in horse racing in the jurisdiction. 
 
(3) Selection of horses to be tested. 
(a) Horses shall be selected for sampling by a commission Veterinarian, Executive 
Director, Equine Medical Director, Steward or Presiding Judge or a designee of 
any of the foregoing. 
(b) Horses may be selected to be tested at random, for cause, or as otherwise 
determined in the discretion of the commission. 
(c) Collectors shall for suspicion-less collections of samples abide by a plan that has 
been approved by a supervisor not in the field and identifies specific horses or 
provides neutral and objective criteria to follow in the field to determine which 
horses to sample. Such a supervisor may consider input from persons in the field 
during the operation of the plan and select additional horses to be sampled. 
 
(4) Cooperation with the commission 
(a) Licensees of the commission are required to cooperate and comply fully with the 
provisions of this rule. 
(b) Persons who apply for and are granted a trainer or owner license shall be deemed 
to have given their consent for access at such premises as their horse may be 
found for the purpose of commission representatives collecting out of competition 
samples. Licensees shall take any steps necessary to authorize access 
by commission representatives at such premises. 
(c) No other person shall knowingly interfere with or obstruct a sampling. 
 
(5) General procedure for collecting samples 
(a) Samples shall be taken under the supervision and direction of a person who is 
employed or designated by the commission. All blood samples shall be collected 
by a veterinarian licensed in the state where the sample is collected, or by a 
veterinary technician who is acting under appropriate supervision of the 
veterinarian. 
(b) Upon request of a representative of the commission, the trainer, owner, or their 
specified designee shall provide the location of their horses eligible for out of competition 



testing. 
(c) The commission need not provide advance notice before arriving at any location, 
whether or not licensed by the commission, to collect samples. 
(d) The trainer, owner, or their specified designee shall cooperate with the person 
who takes samples for the commission, which cooperation shall include without 
limitation: 
(i) Assist in the immediate location and identification of the horse; 
(ii) Make the horse available as soon as practical upon arrival of the person 
who is responsible for collecting the samples; 
(iii) Provide a stall or other safe location to collect the samples; 
(iv) Assist the person who is collecting samples in properly procuring the 
samples; and 
(v) Witness the taking of samples including sealing of sample collection 
containers. 
(e) The management and employees of a licensed racetrack or training facility at 
which a horse may be located shall cooperate fully with a person who is 
authorized to take samples. The person who collects samples for the commission 
may require that the collection be done at a specified location on such premises. 
(f) The commission, if requested and in its sole discretion, may permit the trainer, 
owner, or their specified designee to present a horse that is located in the 
jurisdiction, but not at a racetrack or training center licensed by the commission, 
to be sampled at a time and location designated by the commission. 
 
(6) Procedure for collecting samples from horses located outside the jurisdiction 
(a) The commission may arrange for the sampling of an out-of-state horse by the 
racing commission or other designated person in the jurisdiction where the horse 
is located. Such racing commission or other designated person shall follow the 
relevant provisions of this rule, including paragraph (a) of subdivision five of this 
rule. 
(b) The test results shall be made available, for its regulatory use, to each jurisdiction 
that has participated in the process of collecting any out-of-competition sample, 
subject to any restrictions on public disclosure of test results that apply to the 
commission that selected the horse for sampling. 
(c) The commission, if requested and in its sole discretion, may permit the trainer or 
owner instead to transport the horse into its jurisdiction for sampling at a time and 
place designated by the commission. 
 
(7) Additional procedures 
(a) The person who takes samples for the commission shall provide identification and 
disclose the purpose of the sampling to the trainer or designated attendant of the 
horse. 
(b) A written protocol for the collection of samples shall be made generally available. 
(c) An owner or trainer does not consent to a search of the premises by making a 
horse that is not located at a racetrack or training center available for sampling. 
(d) If the trainer or other custodian of a selected horse refuses or declines to make the 
horse available for sampling and the managing owner has previously provided the 
commission with a means for the commission to give immediate notification to 
the managing owner in such situation, then the commission shall attempt to notify 
the managing owner and the eligibility of the horse shall be preserved if the 
managing owner is able to make the horse available for immediate sampling. The 
commission is not required to make repeated attempts to notify the managing 
owner. 
(e) The chain of custody record for the sample (including a split sample where 
appropriate) shall be maintained and made available to the trainer, owner, or their 
designee when a complaint results from an out-of-competition test. 
 
(8) Analysis of collected samples 
(a) The commission may have out-of-competition samples tested to produce 
information that may enhance the ability of the commission to enforce its 
medication and anti-doping rules. 
(b) Split sample rules and procedures for post-race testing shall apply to out of competition 
testing. 



(c) The commission may use any remaining sample for research and investigation. 
 
(9) Penalties for non-cooperation 
(a) Willful failure to make a horse available for sampling or other willfully deceptive 
acts or interference in the sampling process shall carry a minimum penalty of a 
one year license suspension and referral to the commission in addition to any 
other authorized penalties. 
(b) A selected horse that is not made available for out-of-competition sampling shall 
be placed on the Steward’s List. The horse shall remain on the Steward’s List for 
a minimum of 180 days unless the owner can establish extraordinary mitigating 
circumstances. 
(c) A selected horse that is presumed eligible for out-of-competition testing shall be 
placed on the Steward’s list and be ineligible to race in the jurisdiction for 180 
days if the horse is not sampled because the trainer, owner or their designee 
asserts that the horse is not engaged in activities related to competing in horse 
racing in the jurisdiction. This restriction shall not apply if the trainer, owner or 
their designee instead permits voluntarily an immediate collection of such 
samples from the horse. 
 
3.31:  Physical Inspection of Horses 

 
(1)   Assessment of Racing Condition. 
(a)   Every horse entered to participate in an official race shall be subjected to a veterinary 
inspection prior to starting in the race for which it is entered. 
(b)  The inspection shall be conducted by the official veterinarian or the racing veterinarian. 
(c)   The assessment of a horse's racing condition shall include: 
1.  Proper identification of each horse inspected; 
2.  Clinical observation of each horse in motion during a warm-up mile, during the post parade, 
during the running of the race, and following the race until the horse has exited the race track; 
3.   Visual inspection of the entire horse and assessment of overall condition; and, 
4.  Any other inspection deemed necessary by the official veterinarian and/or the racing 
veterinarian including but not limited to manual palpation and/or manipulation of the limbs. 
(d)    The official veterinarian shall maintain a permanent, continuing health and racing 
soundness record of each horse inspected. 
(e)    The official veterinarian is authorized access to any and all horses housed on the association 
grounds regardless of entry status. 
(f)    If, prior to starting, a horse is determined to be unfit for competition, the official 
veterinarian and/or the racing veterinarian will recommend to the judges the horse be scratched. 
(g)  Horses scratched upon the recommendation of the official veterinarian and/or the racing 
veterinarian are to be placed on the Veterinarians' List. 
(2)   Veterinarian's List. 
(a)   The official veterinarian shall maintain the Veterinarian's List of all horses which are 
determined to be unfit to compete in a race due to illness, physical distress, unsoundness, 
infirmity or any other medical condition.  Horses so listed are ineligible to enter to race in any 
jurisdiction until released by an official veterinarian or racing veterinarian. 
(b)  A horse may be removed from the Veterinarian's List when, in the opinion of the official 
veterinarian, the condition which caused the horse to be placed on the Veterinarian's List is 
resolved and the horse's status is returned to that of racing soundness. 
(c)  Horses working to be released from the Veterinarian's List are to be in compliance with 
205 CMR 3.00 and are to be subjected to post-work biologic sample collection for laboratory 
confirmation or compliance.  Violations may result in penalties consistent with 205 CMR 
3.29(1). 
(d)  Horses may be released from the Veterinarian's List only by authorization of the official 
veterinarian. 
(e)   Horses having generated a "positive" post race test for an RCI Class I or II substance shall 
be required to generate a negative test at the expense of the current owner prior to being entered 
for the first start following the positive test. 
 
  



3.32:  Testing 
 
(1)   Reporting to the Test Barn. 
(a)  The official winning horse and any other horse ordered by the Commission and/or the judges 
shall be taken to the test barn to have blood and urine samples taken at the direction of the 
official veterinarian. 
(b)  Random or extra testing may be required by the judges or the Commission at any time on 
any horse on association grounds. 
(c)    Unless otherwise directed by the judges or the official veterinarian, a horse that is selected 
for testing must be taken directly to the test barn. 
(d)   A security guard shall monitor access to the test barn area during and immediately following 
each racing performance.  All persons who wish to enter the test barn area must be a minimum of 
16 years of age, be currently licensed by the Commission, display their Commission 
identification badge and have a legitimate reason for being in the test barn area. (e)  The owner, 
trainer or his or her groom or other authorized representative shall be present in the testing 
enclosure when a saliva, urine or other specimen is taken from his or her horse and shall remain 
until the sample tag is attached to the specimen container.  Said tag shall be signed by the owner, 
trainer or their representative as witnesses to the taking of the specimen. 
(f)  Willful failure to be present at or a refusal to allow the taking of any such specimen or 
refusal to sign the specimen tag to the taking of a specimen, or any act or threat to impede or 
prevent or otherwise interfere therewith, shall subject the person or person guilty thereof to 
immediate suspension by the judges of the meeting and the matter shall be referred to the 
Commission for such further penalty as in its discretion it may determine. 
(2)   Testing of Claimed Horses. 
(a)  In the event a horse is claimed, and has been designated for a post race test said claimed 
horse shall be brought to the State Testing Area by the previous owner, trainer, or agent, and said 
owner, trainer or agent shall remain with this horse in the testing area until a urine specimen or 
other sample or test is received from the horse, and said previous owner, trainer or agent shall 
sign all necessary documents. 
(b)  Should the analysis of a post race blood, urine or saliva specimen taken from a claimed 
horse result in a post-race positive test, the claimant's trainer shall be promptly notified by the 
judges and the claimant shall have the option to void said claim.  An election to void a claim 
shall be submitted in writing to the judges by the claimant or his or her trainer. 
(3)   Split Samples. 
(a)  Split samples shall be secured and made available for further testing in accordance with the 
following procedures: 
1.  A split sample shall be secured in the test barn under the same manner as the portion 
of the specimen acquired for shipment to a primary laboratory until such time as specimens are 
packed and secured for shipment to the primary laboratory. Split samples shall then be 
transferred to a freezer at a secure location approved by the Commission. 
2.  A freezer for storage of split samples shall be opened only for depositing or removing 
split samples, for inventory, or for checking the condition of samples.  A log shall be maintained 
that shall be used each time a split sample freezer is opened to specify each person in attendance, 
the purpose for opening the freezer, identification of split samples deposited or removed, the date 
and time the freezer was opened, and the time the freezer was closed. 
3.  Any evidence of a malfunction of a split sample freezer or samples that are not in a frozen 
condition during storage shall be documented in the log and immediately reported to the official 
veterinarian or a designated Commission representative. 
(b)  A trainer or owner of a horse having been notified that a written report from a primary 
laboratory states that a prohibited substance has been found in a specimen obtained pursuant to 
205 CMR 3.00 may request that a split sample corresponding to the portion of the specimen 
tested by the primary laboratory be sent to another [referee] laboratory approved by the 
Commission.  The request must be made in writing and delivered to the judges not later than 
three business days after the trainer of the horse receives written notice of the findings of the 
primary laboratory.  Any split sample so requested must be shipped within an additional 48 
hours. 
(c)  The owner or trainer requesting testing of a split sample shall be responsible for the cost 
of shipping and testing.  Failure of the owner, trainer or designee to appear at the time and place 
designated by the official veterinarian shall constitute a waiver of all rights to split sample 
testing.  Prior to shipment, the Commission shall confirm the referee laboratory's willingness to 
simultaneously provide the testing requested, the laboratory's willingness to send results to both 



the person requesting the testing and the Commission, and arrangements for payment satisfactory 
to the referee laboratory. 
(d)  Prior to opening the split sample freezer, the Commission shall provide a split sample chain 
of custody verification form that shall provide a place for recording the following information 
and such other information as the official veterinarian may require.  The form shall be fully 
completed during the retrieval, packaging, and shipment of the split sample. The split sample 
chain of custody form requirements are: 
1.  The date and time the sample is removed from the split sample freezer; 
2.  The sample number; 
3.  The address where the split sample is to be sent; 
4.  The name of the carrier and the address where the sample is to be taken for shipment; 
5.  Verification of retrieval of the split sample from the freezer; 
6.   Verification of each specific step of the split sample packaging in accordance with the 
recommended procedure; 
7.  Verification of the address of the referee laboratory on the split sample package; 
8.  Verification of the condition of the split sample package immediately prior to transfer of 
custody to the carrier; and 
9.   The date and time custody of the sample is transferred to the carrier. 
(e)    A split sample shall be removed from the split sample freezer by a Commission 
representative in the presence of a representative of the horsemen's association. 
(f)  The owner, trainer or designee shall pack the split sample for shipment in the presence of the 
representative of the Commission, in accordance with the packaging procedures recommended 
by the Commission.   A form shall be signed by both the horsemen's representative and the 
Commission representative to confirm the packaging of the split sample.  The exterior of the 
package shall be secured and identified with initialed tape, evidence tape or other means to 
prevent tampering with the package. 
(g)  The package containing the split sample shall be transported in a manner prescribed by the 
commission to the location where custody is transferred to the delivery carrier charged with 
delivery of the package to the Commission-approved laboratory selected by the owner or trainer. 
(h)   The owner, trainer or designee and the Commission representative shall inspect the package 
containing the split sample immediately prior to transfer to the delivery carrier to verify that the 
package is intact and has not been tampered with. 
(i)  The split sample chain of custody verification form shall be completed and signed by the 
representatives of the Commission and the owner or trainer. A Commission representative shall 
keep the original and provide a copy for the owner or trainer. 
(j)   If the split sample does not arrive at the referee laboratory because of an act of God or other 
condition beyond the control of the Commission, the findings in the original sample shall serve 
as prima facie evidence of any medication violation.     
(4)  Frozen Samples. The commission has the authority to direct the official laboratory to retain 
and preserve by freezing samples for future analysis.  The fact that purse money has been 
distributed prior to the issuance of a laboratory report from the future analysis of a frozen sample 
shall not be deemed a finding that no drug substance prohibited by 205 CMR 3.00 has been 
administered. 
(5)    Suspicious Substances.  The representatives of the Commission may take for analysis 
samples of any medicine or other materials suspected of containing improper medication or 
drugs which could affect the racing conditions of a horse in a race, which may be found in the 
stable area or elsewhere on the track or in the possession of any person connected with racing on 
such tracks. 
  



3.33:  Postmortem Examinations 
(1)    The Commission may require a postmortem examination of any horse that dies or is 
euthanized on association grounds. 
(2)    The Commission may require a postmortem examination of any horse that dies or is 
euthanized at recognized training facilities within this jurisdiction. 
(3)  If a postmortem examination is to be conducted, the Commission shall take possession of the 
horse upon death for postmortem examination.  All shoes shall be left on the horse. 
(4)  If a postmortem examination is to be conducted, the Commission or its representative shall 
collect blood, urine, bodily fluids, or other biologic specimens immediately, if possible before 
euthanization.   The Commission may submit blood, urine, bodily fluids, or other biologic 
specimens collected during a postmortem examination for analysis. The presence of a prohibited 
substance in a specimen collected during the postmortem examination may constitute a violation. 
(5)  All licensees shall be required to comply with postmortem examination requirements as a 
condition of licensure.  In proceeding with a postmortem examination the Commission or its 
designee shall coordinate with the owner or the owner's authorized agent to determine and 
address any insurance requirements. 
  



3.34  Environmental Contaminants and Substances of Human Use 
 
(1) Environmental contaminants are either endogenous to the horse or can arise from plants 

traditionally grazed or harvested as equine feed or are present in equine feed because of 
contamination during the cultivation, processing, treatment, storage or transportation 
phases. 

(2) Substances of human use and addiction may be found in the horse due to its close 
association with humans. 

(3) If the preponderance of evidence presented in the hearing shows that a positive test is the 
result of environmental contamination, including inadvertent exposure due to human drug 
use, or dietary intake, or is endogenous to the horse, those factors should be considered in 
mitigation of any disciplinary action taken against the affected trainer. Disciplinary action 
shall only be taken if test sample results exceed the regulatory thresholds in the most recent 
version of the ARCI Endogenous, Dietary, or Environmental Substances Schedule.  

(4) The identification and adoption of these uniform thresholds for certain substances shall not 
preclude an individual jurisdiction from maintaining thresholds for substances not on this 
list which predate the adoption of this regulation in such jurisdiction. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

 
205 CMR 3.00:  M.G.L. c. 
128A, § 9. 

 



 
 

 
 

 

 
AMENDED SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 

 
 

 The Massachusetts Gaming Commission (“Commission”) hereby files this amended 
small business impact statement in accordance with G.L. c.30A, §2 relative to the proposed 
amendments in 205 CMR 4.00: Rules of Horse Racing; notice of which was filed this day with 
the Secretary of the Commonwealth.  These amendments were developed as part of the process 
of promulgating regulations governing horse racing in the Commonwealth.  The amendments 
describe veterinary practices, set up conditions that allow for the use of therapeutic medications, 
reduce penalties for multiple medication violations, expands criteria for out of competition 
testing, and allows judges to use environmental contaminants and substances of human use as 
possibilities for mitigating circumstances in disciplinary actions.  These amendments bring the 
regulations into conformance with national standards from the Association of Racing 
Commissioners International (“ARCI”).  These regulations are largely governed by G.L. c. 128A 
§ 9.    
    
 The Commission has identified the following groups that may be impacted by these 
amendments: licensed owners, trainers and Veterinarians.  In accordance with G.L. c.30A, §2, 
the Commission offers the following responses:    
 

1. Estimate of the number of small businesses subject to the proposed regulation: 
  

  There are approximately 400 licenses issued annually for the identified groups   
   above, however, a majority of the licenses are for owners.   

 
2. State the projected reporting, recordkeeping and other administrative costs required for 

compliance with the proposed regulation: 
 
There are no additional projected reporting, recordkeeping or administrative costs 
created by these regulations that would affect small businesses. To bring the 
regulations into conformance with national standards, the Commission is adopting 
the ARCI standards.   

 
3. State the appropriateness of performance standards versus design standards:  

   
The amendments implicate a performance standard.  To bring the regulations into 
conformance with national standards, the Commission is adopting the ARCI 
standards.   

 



 
 

 
 

4. Identify regulations of the promulgating agency, or of another agency or department of 
the commonwealth, which may duplicate or conflict with the proposed regulation:  

   
  There are no conflicting regulations in 205 CMR, and the Commission is   
  unaware of any conflicting or duplicating regulations of any other agency   
  or department of the Commonwealth.   
 

5. State whether the proposed regulation is likely to deter or encourage the formation of new 
businesses in the commonwealth:  

  
The proposed amendments are not likely to deter or encourage the formation of 
new businesses in the Commonwealth.   

 
    

   
  
 
  
       
      Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
      By:  
 
      _____________________________ 
      Catherine Blue 
      General Counsel 
       
 
 
Dated:____________________________ 
 

   
  
   

 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
4.50:  Veterinary Practices 

 
(1)    Veterinarians Under Authority of Official Veterinarian.  Veterinarians 
licensed by the Commission and practicing at any location under the jurisdiction of 
the Commission are under the authority of the official veterinarian and the 
stewards.   The official veterinarian shall recommend to the stewards or the 
Commission the discipline that may be imposed upon a veterinarian who violates 
205 CMR 4.00. 

 
(2)   Treatment 
Restrictions. 

(a) Only licensed trainers, licensed owners, or their designees shall be permitted 
to authorize veterinary medical treatment of horses under their care, custody 
and control at locations under the jurisdiction of the Commission. 
(b)  Except as otherwise provided by 205 CMR 4.50(2), no person other than a 
veterinarian 
licensed to practice veterinary medicine in this jurisdiction and licensed by the 
Commission may administer a prescription or controlled medication, drug, or 
chemical to a horse at any location under the jurisdiction of the Commission. 
(c)   205 CMR 4.50(2) does not apply to the administration of the following 
substances 
except in approved quantitative levels, if any, present in post-race samples or 
as they may interfere with post-race testing: 

1.  A recognized non-injectable nutritional supplement or other substance 
approved by the official veterinarian; 
2.     A non-injectable substance on the direction or by prescription of 
a licensed veterinarian; or 
3.   A non-injectable non-prescription medication or substance. 

(d)  No person shall possess a hypodermic needle, syringe capable of accepting 
a needle or injectable of any kind on association grounds, unless otherwise 
approved by the Commission. At any location under the jurisdiction of the 
Commission, veterinarians may use only one-time disposable syringe and 
needle, and shall dispose of both in a manner approved by the Commission.  If 
a person has a medical condition which makes it necessary to have a syringe 
at any location under the jurisdiction of the Commission, that person may 
request permission of the stewards and/or the Commission in writing, furnish a 
letter from a licensed physician explaining why it is necessary for the person to 
possess a syringe, and must comply with any conditions and restrictions set by 
the stewards and/or the Commission. 
(e)   Practicing veterinarians shall not have contact with an entered horse 
within 24  hours before the scheduled post time of the race in which the horse is 
scheduled to compete except for the administration of furosemide under the 
guidelines set forth in 205 CMR 4.52(6), unless approved by the official 
veterinarian or his or her designee. Any unauthorized contact may result in the 
horse being scratched and may result in further disciplinary action by the 
stewards. 
(f) Any horse entered for racing must be present on the grounds prior to the 
scheduled furosemide administration time, or one hour prior to first post time, 
whichever is earlier. 
 
 

(3)   Veterinaria
ns' Reports. 

(a)   Every veterinarian who treats a racehorse at any location under the 
jurisdiction of the Commission shall, in writing on the Medication Report Form 
prescribed by the Commission, report to the official veterinarian or other 
commission designee at the racetrack where the horse is entered to run or as 
otherwise specified by the commission, the name of the horse treated, any 
medication, drug, substance, or procedure administered or prescribed, the name 
of the trainer of the horse, the date and time of treatment and any other 
information requested by the official veterinarian. 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 

(b)   The Medication Report Form shall be signed by the practicing 
veterinarian. 
(c)   The Medication Report Form must be filed by the treating veterinarian not 
later noon the day following treatment.  Any such report is confidential and its 
content shall not be disclosed except in the course of an investigation of a 
possible violation of 205 CMR 4.00 or in a proceeding before the stewards or 
the Commission, or to the trainer or owner of record at the time of treatment. 
(d)   A timely and accurate filing of a Medication Report Form that is 
consistent with the analytical results of a positive test may be used as a 
mitigating factor in determining the nature and extent, if any, of a rules 
violation. 
 
1. Veterinarians under the Authority of the Official Veterinarian 
Veterinarians licensed by the Commission and practicing at any location under 
the jurisdiction of the Commission are under the authority of the official 
veterinarian and the stewards.  The official veterinarian shall recommend to the 
stewards or the Commission the discipline that may be imposed upon a 
veterinarian who violates the rules. 
 
2. Appropriate Role of Veterinarians 
The following limitations apply to drug treatments of horses that are engaged 
in activities, including training, related to competing in pari-mutual racing in 
the jurisdiction: 
(a)   No drug may be administered except in the context of a valid 
veterinarian-client-patient relationship between an attending veterinarian, the 
horse owner (who may be represented by the trainer or other agent) and the 
horse.  The owner is not required by this section to follow the veterinarian’s 
instructions, but no drug may be administered without a veterinarian having 
examined the horse and provided the treatment recommendation.  Such 
relationship requires the following: 
(i) The veterinarian, with the consent of the owner, has accepted 
responsibility for making medical judgments about the health of the horse; 
(ii) The veterinarian has sufficient knowledge of the horse to make a 
preliminary diagnosis of the medical condition of the horse; 
(iii) The veterinarian has performed an examination of the horse and is 
acquainted with the keeping and care of the horse; 
(iv) The veterinarian is available to evaluate and oversee treatment outcomes 
or has made appropriate arrangements for continuing care and treatment; 
(v) The relationship is maintained by veterinary visits as needed; and; 
(vi) The veterinary judgments of the veterinarian are independent and are not 
dictated by the trainer or owner of the horse. 
(b) No prescription drug may be administered except as prescribed by an 
attending veterinarian. 
(c) The trainer and veterinarian are both responsible to ensure compliance 
with these limitations on drug treatments of horses, except the medical 
judgment to recommend a drug treatment or to prescribe a drug is the 
responsibility of the veterinarian and the decision to proceed with a drug 
treatment that has been so recommended is the responsibility of the horse 
owner (who may be represented by the trainer or other agent). 

 
  3. Treatment Restrictions 
 
  (a) Only licensed trainers, licensed owners or their designees shall be  
  permitted  
  to authorize veterinary medical treatment of horses under their care, custody and 
  control at locations under the jurisdiction of the Commission. 
  (b) Except as otherwise provided by this section, no person other than a 
  veterinarian licensed to practice veterinary medicine in this jurisdiction and 
  licensed by the Commission may administer a prescription or controlled  
  medication, drug, chemical or other substance (including any medication, drug, 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
  chemical or other substance by injection) to a horse at any location under the 
  jurisdiction of the Commission. 
  (c) This section does not apply to the administration of the following  
  substances except in approved quantitative levels, if any, present in post-race 
  samples or as they may interfere with post-race testing: 
  (i) A recognized non-injectable nutritional supplement or other substance 
  approved by the official veterinarian; 
  (ii) A non-injectable substance on the direction or by prescription of a  
  licensed veterinarian; or 
  (iii) A non-injectable non-prescription medication or substance. 
  (d) No person shall possess a hypodermic needle, syringe capable of  
  accepting a needle or injectable of any kind on association grounds, unless 
  otherwise approved by the Commission.  At any location under the jurisdiction 
  of the Commission, veterinarians may use only one-time disposable syringe and 
  needle, and shall dispose of both in a manner approved by the Commission.  If a 
  person has a medical condition which makes it necessary to have a syringe at any 
  location under the jurisdiction of the Commission, that person may request 
  permission of the stewards and/or the Commission in writing, furnish a letter 
  from a licensed physician explaining  why it is necessary for the person to possess 
  a syringe, and must comply with any conditions and restrictions set by the  
            stewards and/or the Commission. 

(e) Practicing veterinarians shall not have contact with an entered horse 
within 24 hours before the scheduled post time of the race in which the horse is 
scheduled to compete except for the administration of furosemide under the 
guidelines set forth in 205 CMR 4.52 (6)_ unless approved by the official 
veterinarian.  Any unauthorized contact may result in the horse being scratched 
from the race in which it was scheduled to compete and may result in further 
disciplinary action by the stewards. 
(f)  Any horse entered for racing must be present on the grounds prior to the 
scheduled furosemide administration time or one hour prior to first post time 
whichever is earlier. 
 
4. Veterinarians’ Reports 
 
(a) Every veterinarian who treats a  racehorse at any location under the 
jurisdiction of the Commission shall, in writing on the medication report form 
prescribed by the Commission, report to the official veterinarian or other 
commission designee at the racetrack where the horse is entered to run or as 
otherwise specified by the Commission, the name of the horse treated, any 
medication, drug, substance or procedure administered or prescribed, the name of 
the trainer of the horse, the date and time of treatment and any other information 
requested by the official veterinarian. 
(b) The medication report form shall be signed by the practicing veterinarian. 
(c) The medication report form must be filed by the treating veterinarian not 
later than post time of the race for which the horse is entered.  Any such report is 
confidential and its content shall not be disclosed except in the course of an 
investigation of a possible violation of the Commission’s regulations or in a 
proceeding before the stewards or the Commission, or to the trainer or owner of 
record at the time of treatment. 
(d) A timely and accurate filing of a medication report form that is consistent 
with the analytical results of a positive test may be used as a mitigating factor in 
determining the nature and extent, if any, of a rules violation. 

        
 
 
  



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
4.51:  Prohibited Practices 
 

The following are considered 
prohibited practices: 

 
(1)  The possession or use of a drug, substance or medication on the premises of a 
facility under the jurisdiction of the Commission for which: 

(a)    a recognized analytical method has not been developed to detect and 
confirm the administration of such substance; or 
(b)  the use of which may endanger the health and welfare of the horse or 
endanger the safety of the rider; or 
(c)  the use of which may adversely affect the integrity 
of racing; or 
(d)   no generally accepted use in equine 
care exists. 

 
(2)  The possession or use of a drug, substance, or medication on the premises of a 
facility under the jurisdiction of the Commission that has not been approved by the 
United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for any use in (human or 
animal) is forbidden without prior permission of the official veterinarian or his or 
her designee. 

 
(3)  The possession and/or use of the following substances or of blood doping 
agents, including but not limited to those listed in 205 CMR 4.51(3)(a) through (j), 
on the premises of a facility under the jurisdiction of the Commission is forbidden: 

(a)   Aminoimidazole carboxamide 
ribonucleotide (AICAR) 
(b)   Cobra venom or 
derivatives thereof 
(c)   
Darbe
poetin 
(d)   Equine 
Growth Hormone 
(e)  
Erythropoietin 
(EPO) (f)  
Hemopure 
(g)   myo-Inositol 
Tripyrophosphate (ITPP) 
(h)   
Oxy
glob
in 
(i)   Snail venoms or 
derivatives thereof 
(j)   
Thymos
in beta 

 
(4)   The use of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave 
Therapy shall not be permitted unless the following conditions are met: 

(a)   Any treated horse shall not be permitted to race or breeze for a minimum 
of ten days following treatment; 
(b)    The use of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave 
Therapy machines shall be limited to veterinarians licensed to practice by the 
Commission using registered and approved machines; 
(c)  Any Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy 
machines on 
the association grounds must be registered with and approved by the official 
veterinarian or his or her designee before use. 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 

(d) All Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy 
treatments must be reported within one day to the official veterinarian or his or 
her designee on the prescribed form.  The horse shall be added to a list of 
ineligible horses. 
(e)  Any person participating in the use of ESWT and/or the possession of 
ESWT machines 
in violation of 205 CMR 4.00 shall be considered to have committed a 
Prohibited Practice and is subject to a Class A Penalty. 

 
(5)   The use of a nasogastric tube (a tube longer than six inches) for the 
administration of any substance within 24 hours prior to the post time of the race 
in which the horse is entered is prohibited without the prior permission of the 
official veterinarian or his or her designee. 

 
1. No person may possess or use a drug, substance or medication on the premises of a 
facility under the jurisdiction of the Commission for which  
(a) a recognized analytical method has not been developed to detect and confirm the 
administration of such substance; or  
(b)  the use of which may endanger the health and welfare of the horse or endanger the safety 
of the rider; or  
(c) the use of which may adversely affect the integrity of racing; or, 
(d) no generally-accepted use in equine care exists. 
 
2. Prohibited Substances and Methods: 
(a) The substances and methods listed in the annexed Prohibited List may not be used at any 
place or time, and may not be possessed on the premises of a racing or training facility under the 
jurisdiction of the Commission, except as a restricted therapeutic use.  
(b) Restricted Therapeutic Use. A limited number of medication on the Prohibited List shall 
be exempted when the administration occurs in compliance with the annexed Required 
Conditions for Restricted Therapeutic Use: 
(i)   Report When Sampled means the administration of the substance must be reported to 
the commission when the horse is next sampled, if the horse is sampled within 24 hours after the 
administration; 
(ii)  Pre-File Treatment Plan means that if the commission where the horse is located requires 
the filing of treatment plans, then a treatment plan for the substance must be filed by the time of 
administration in a manner approved by such commission; 
(iii)  Written Approval from Commission means the commission has granted written approval 
of a written treatment plan before the administration of the substance;  
(iv)   Emergency Use (report) means the substance had to be administered due to an acute 
emergency involving the life or health of the horse, provided the emergency use is reported to 
the commission as soon as practicable after the treatment occurs; 
(v)   Prescribed by Veterinarian means the substance has been prescribed by an  attending 
veterinarian, in compliance with ARCI 011-010 Veterinary Practices, and recorded in the 
veterinary records in the manner required by the commission; 
(vi)  Report Treatment means the treatment must be reported to the commission by the  trainer 
at the time of administration to provide the commission with information for the Veterinarian’s 
List.  The trainer may delegate this responsibility to the treating veterinarian, who shall make the 
report when so designated; and 
(vii)  Other Limitations means additional requirements that apply, such as a substance may be 
used in only fillies or mares or a horse that is administered a substance shall be reported 
immediately to the commission and placed on the Veterinarian’s List for a specific minimum 
period of time. The use of the substance must comply with other applicable rules of the 
Commission. 
(c)  No person shall at any time administer any other doping agent to a horse except pursuant 
to a valid therapeutic, evidence-based treatment plan. 
(i)   Other doping agent means a substance that is not listed in the annexed Prohibited List, 
has a pharmacologic potential to alter materially the performance of a horse, has no generally 
accepted medical use in the horse when treated, and is: 
(A) capable at any time of causing an action or effect, or both, within one or more of the blood, 
cardiovascular, digestive, endocrine, immune, musculoskeletal, nervous, reproductive, 
respiratory, or urinary mammalian body systems; including but not limited to endocrine 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
secretions and their synthetic counterparts, masking agents, oxygen carriers, and agents that 
directly or indirectly affect or manipulate gene expression; but 
(B) not a substance that is considered to have no effect on the physiology of a horse except to 
improve nutrition or treat or prevent infections or parasite infestations. 
(ii)  The commission may publish advisory warnings that certain substances or 
 administrations may constitute a violation of this rule. 
(iii)  Therapeutic, evidence-based treatment plan means a planned course of treatment written 
and prescribed by an attending veterinarian before the horse is treated that: 
(A) describes the medical need of the horse for the treatment, the evidence-based scientific or 
clinical justification for using the doping agent, and a determination that recognized therapeutic 
alternates do not exist; and 
(B) complies with ARCI 011-010 Veterinary Practices, meets the standards of veterinary practice 
of the jurisdiction, and is developed in good faith to treat a medical need of the horse. 
(iv)  Such plans shall not authorize the possession of a doping agent on the premises of a 
racing or training facility under the jurisdiction of the commission. 
 
3. The possession and/or use of the following substances or of blood doping agents, 
including but not limited to those listed below, on the premises of a facility under the jurisdiction 
of the Commission is forbidden: 
(a) Aminoimidazole carboxamide ribonucleotide (AICAR) 
(b) Darbepoetin 
(c) Equine Growth Hormone 
(d) Erythropoietin 
(e) Hemopure ® 
(f) Myo-Inositol Trispyprophosphate (ITPP) 
(g) Oxyglobin® 
(h) Thymosin beta 
(i) Venoms or derivatives thereof 
(j) Thymosin beta 
 
4. The use of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy shall not 
be permitted unless the following conditions are met: 
(a) Any Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy machine, 
whether in operating condition or not, must be registered with and approved by the Commission 
or its  designee before such machine is brought to or possessed on any racetrack or training 
center within the jurisdiction of the commission;  
(b) The use of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave Therapy within 
the jurisdiction: 
(i) shall be limited to veterinarians licensed to practice by the commission; 
(ii) may only be performed with machines that are: 
 registered and approved for use by the commission; and 
(iii) used at a previously-disclosed location that is approved by the commission 
 must be reported within 24-hours prior to treatment on the prescribed form to the official  
 veterinarian.  
(c) Any treated horse shall not be permitted to race or breeze for a minimum of 10 days 
following treatment; 
(d) Any horse treated with Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy or Radial Pulse Wave 
Therapy shall be added to a list of ineligible horses.  This list shall be kept in the race office and 
accessible to the jockeys and/or their agents during normal business hours and be made available 
to other regulatory jurisdictions. 
(e) A horse that receives any such treatment without full compliance with this section and 
similar rules in any other jurisdiction in which the horse was treated shall be placed on the 
Steward’s List. 
(f) Any person participating in the use of ESWT and/or the possession of ESWT machines in 
violation of this rule shall be considered to have committed a Prohibited Practice and is subject 
to a Class A Penalty. 
 
5. The use of a nasogastric tube (a tube longer than six inches) for the administration of any 
substance within 24 hours prior to the post time of the race in which the horse is entered is 
prohibited without the prior permission of the official veterinarian or his/her designee. 

 
  



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
4.51.01  

Annex I 
Prohibited Substances and Prohibited Methods 

 
Prohibited Substances 

 
(1). All substances in the categories below shall be strictly prohibited unless otherwise 
provided in accordance with 205 CMR 4.0.  Any reference to substances in this section does not 
alter the requirements for testing concentrations in race day samples.  
 
(2), Nothing in this list shall alter the requirements of post-race testing. 
 
(3). NON-APPROVED SUBSTANCES 
 
Any pharmacologic substance that is not approved by any governmental regulatory health authority 
for human or veterinary use within the jurisdiction is prohibited.  This prohibition includes drugs 
under pre-clinical or clinical development, discontinued drugs, and designer drugs (a synthetic 
analog of a drug that has been altered in a manner that may reduce its detection); but does not 
include vitamins, herbs and supplements for nutritional purposes that do not contain any other 
prohibited substance, or the administration of a substance with the prior approval of the 
commission in a clinical trial for which an FDA or similar exemption has been obtained. 
 
(4).  ANABOLIC AGENTS 

Anabolic agents are prohibited. 
 

1. Anabolic Androgenic Steroids (AAS) 
 
1.1. Exogenous AAS, including: 
 
1-androstenediol (5α-androst-1-ene-3β,17β-diol ); 1-androstenedione (5α- androst-1-ene-3,17-
dione); bolandiol (estr-4-ene-3β,17β-diol ); bolasterone; boldenone; boldione (androsta-1,4-
diene-3,17-dione); calusterone; clostebol; danazol ([1,2]oxazolo[4',5':2,3]pregna-4-en-20-yn-
17α-ol);dehydrochlormethyltestosterone (4-chloro-17β-hydroxy-17α-methylandrosta- 1,4-dien-
3-one); desoxymethyltestosterone (17α-methyl-5α-androst-2-en- 17β-ol); drostanolone; 
ethylestrenol (19-norpregna-4-en-17α-ol); fluoxymesterone; formebolone; furazabol (17α- 
methyl[1,2,5]oxadiazolo[3',4':2,3]-5α-androstan-17β-ol); gestrinone; 4- hydroxytestosterone 
(4,17β-dihydroxyandrost-4-en-3-one); mestanolone; mesterolone; metandienone (17β-hydroxy-
17α-methylandrosta-1,4-dien-3- one); metenolone; methandriol; methasterone (17β-hydroxy-
2α,17α- dimethyl-5α-androstan-3-one); methyldienolone (17β-hydroxy-17α- methylestra-4,9-
dien-3-one); methyl-1-testosterone (17β-hydroxy-17α-methyl-5α-androst-1-en-3-one); 
methylnortestosterone (17β-hydroxy-17α-methylestr-4-en-3-one); methyltestosterone; 
metribolone (methyltrienolone, 17β- hydroxy-17α-methylestra-4,9,11-trien-3-one); mibolerone; 
nandrolone; 19-norandrostenedione (estr-4-ene-3,17-dione); norboletone; norclostebol; 
norethandrolone; oxabolone; oxandrolone; oxymesterone; oxymetholone; prostanozol (17β-
[(tetrahydropyran-2-yl)oxy]-1'H-pyrazolo[3,4:2,3]-5α- androstane); quinbolone; stanozolol; 
stenbolone; 1-testosterone (17β- hydroxy-5α-androst-1-en-3-one); tetrahydrogestrinone (17-
hydroxy-18a- homo-19-nor-17α-pregna-4,9,11-trien-3-one); trenbolone (17β-hydroxyestr- 
4,9,11-trien-3-one); and other substances with a similar chemical structure or similar biological 
effect(s). 
 
5. ENDOGENOUS AAS OR THEIR SYNTHETIC ESTERS WHEN ADMINISTERED 
EXOGENOUSLY: 
 
androstenediol (androst-5-ene-3β,17β-diol); androstenedione (androst-4-ene-3,17-dione); 
dihydrotestosterone (17β-hydroxy-5α-androstan-3-one); prasterone (dehydroepiandrosterone, 
DHEA, 3β-hydroxyandrost-5-en-17-one); testosterone; and their metabolites and isomers, 
including but not limited to: 5α-androstane-3α,17α-diol; 5α-androstane-3α,17β-diol; 5α-
androstane-3β,17α-diol; 5α-androstane-3β,17β-diol; 5β-androstane-3 α, 17β-diol,  androst-4-ene-
3α,17α-diol; androst-4-ene-3α,17β-diol; androst-4-ene-3β,17α-diol; androst-5-ene-3α,17α-diol; 
androst-5-ene-3α,17β-diol; androst-5-ene-3β,17α-diol; 4-androstenediol (androst-4-ene-3β,17β-
diol); 5-androstenedione (androst-5- ene-3,17-dione); androsterone (3 β-hydroxy-5 α – 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
androstan-17-one); epi-dihydrotestosterone; epitestosterone; etiocholanolone; 7α-hydroxy-
DHEA ; 7β-hydroxy-DHEA; 7-keto-DHEA;19-norandrosterone; 19-noretiocholanolone. 
 
(6).    OTHER ANABOLIC AGENTS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: 
Clenbuterol, selective androgen receptor modulators (SARMs e.g., andarine and ostarine), 
ractopamine, tibolone, zeranol, zilpaterol. 

 
(7).    PEPTIDE HORMONES, GROWTH FACTORS AND RELATED SUBSTANCES 
The following substances, and other substances with similar chemical structure or similar 
biological effect(s), are prohibited: 
 

1. Erythropoietin-Receptor agonists:   
1.1 Erythropoiesis-Stimulating Agents (ESAs) including, e.g., darbepoetin (dEPO); 
erythropoietins (EPO); EPO-Fc; EPO-mimetic peptides (EMP), e.g., CNTO 530 and 
peginesatide; and methoxypolyethylene glycol-epoetin beta (CERA); and 
1,2  Non-erythropoietic EPO-Receptor agonists, e.g., ARA-290, asialo EPO and carbamylated 
EPO;  
2. Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) stabilizers, e.g., cobalt (when found in excess of 
regulatory authority limits) and roxadustat (FG-4592); and HIF activators, (e.g., argon, xenon); 
3. Chorionic Gonadotropin (CG) and Luteinizing Hormone (LH) and their releasing factors, 
in males; 
4. Corticotrophins and their releasing factors;                                              
5. Growth Hormone (GH) and its releasing factors including Growth Hormone Releasing 
Hormone (GHRH) and its analogues, e.g., CJC-1295, sermorelin and tesamorelin; Growth 
Hormone Secretagogues (GHS), e.g., ghrelin and ghrelin mimetics, e.g., anamorelin and 
ipamorelin; and GH-Releasing Peptides (GHRPs), e.g., alexamorelin, GHRP-6, hexarelin and 
pralmorelin (GHRP-2);  
6. Venoms and toxins including but not limited to venoms and toxins from sources such as 
snails, snakes, frogs, and bees as well as their synthetic analogues such as ziconotide.  
7. In addition, the following growth factors are prohibited: 
1.1.  Fibroblast Growth Factors (FGFs), Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF), Insulin-like Growth 
Factor-1 (IGF-1) and its analogues, Mechano Growth Factors (MGFs), Platelet-Derived Growth 
Factor (PDGF), Vascular-Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) and any other growth factor 
affecting muscle, tendon or ligament protein synthesis/degradation, vascularization, energy 
utilization, regenerative capacity or fiber type switching. 
  
(8).  BETA-2 AGONISTS 
All beta-2 agonists, including all optical isomers (i.e. d- and l-) where relevant, are prohibited. 

 
(9). HORMONE AND METABOLIC MODULATORS 
The following are prohibited: 
1.  Aromatase inhibitors, including but not limited to: aminoglutethimide, anastrozole, 
androsta-1,4,6-triene-3,17-dione (androstatrienedione), 4-androstene-3,6,17 trione (6-oxo), 
exemestane, formestane, letrozole, testolactone; 
2.  Selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs), including but not limited to: raloxifene, 
tamoxifen, toremifene: 
3.  Other anti-estrogenic substances, including but not limited to: clomiphene, cyclofenil, 
fulvestrant;  
4.  Agents modifying myostatin function(s), including but not limited to: myostatin inhibitors; 
5. Metabolic modulators: 
5.1.   Activators of the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), e.g., AICAR, and Peroxisome 
Proliferator Activated Receptor δ (PPARδ) agonists (e.g., GW 1516); 
5.2    Insulins;  
5.3    Trimetazidine; and 
5.4.   Thyroxine and thyroid modulators/hormones, including but not limited to those 
containing T4 (tetraiodothyronine/thyroxine), T3 (triiodothyronine), or combinations thereof. 

 
(10).  DIURETICS AND OTHER MASKING AGENTS 
1,1  The following diuretics and masking agents are prohibited, as are other substances with 
similar chemical structure or similar biological effect(s):  acetazolamide, amiloride, bumetanide, 
canrenone, chlorthalidone, desmorpressin, etacrynic acid, indapamide, metolazone, plasma 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Right:  0", Space
Before:  0 pt, Line spacing:  single,
Widow/Orphan control



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
expanders (e.g. glycerol; intravenous administration of albumin, dextran, hydroxyethyl starch and 
mannitol), probenecid, spironolactone, thiazides (e.g. bendroflumethiazide, chlorothiazide, 
hydrochlorothiazide), torsemide, triamterene, and vasopressin receptor antagonists or vaptans (e.g., 
tolvaptan).  
1.2  Furosemide and trichlormethiazide may be administered only in a manner permitted by other 
rules of the commission. 

 
 

PROHIBITED METHODS 
 
(1). MANIPULATION OF BLOOD AND BLOOD COMPONENTS 
The following are prohibited: 
 

1.  The administration or reintroduction of any quantity of autologous, allogenic 
(homologous) or heterologous blood or red blood cell products of any origin into the 
circulatory system. 

 
2. Artificially enhancing the uptake, transport or delivery of oxygen, including, but not 

limited to, perfluorochemicals, efaproxiral (RSR13) and modified hemoglobin products 
(e.g. hemoglobin-based blood substitutes, microencapsulated hemoglobin products), 
excluding supplemental oxygen. 

 
3. Any form of intravascular manipulation of the blood or blood components by physical or 

chemical means. 
 

(2). CHEMICAL AND PHYSICAL MANIPULATION 
Tampering, or attempting to tamper, in order to alter the integrity and validity of samples 
collected by the commission, is prohibited. These methods include but are not limited to urine 
substitution or adulteration (e.g., proteases). 
 
(3). GENE DOPING 
The following, with the potential to enhance sport performance, are prohibited: 
 
1.   The transfer of polymers of nucleic acids or nucleic acid analogues. 
2.   The use of normal or genetically modified hematopoietic cells.  
 
 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 

 
 

  



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
4.52:  Medications and Prohibited Substances 

 
(1)    Aggravating and Mitigating Factors.  Upon a finding of a violation of 205 CMR 4.50 
through 4.53, the stewards shall consider the classification level of the violation as listed at the 
time of the violation in the Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances as 
promulgated by the Association of Racing Commissioners International (ARCI) and impose 
penalties and disciplinary measures consistent with the recommendations contained therein. The 
stewards may consult with the official veterinarian, laboratory director or other individuals to 
determine the seriousness of the laboratory finding or the medication violation. All medication 
and drug violations shall be investigated and reviewed on a case by case basis.  Extenuating 
factors include, but are not limited to: 
(a)   The past record of the trainer, veterinarian and owner in drug cases; 
(b)   The potential of the drug(s) to influence a horse's racing performance;  
(c)  The legal availability of the drug; 
(d)  Whether there is reason to believe the responsible party knew of the administration of the 
drug or intentionally administered the drug; 
(e)  The steps taken by the trainer to safeguard the horse; 
(f)  The probability of environmental contamination or inadvertent exposure due to human drug 
use; 
(g)   The purse of the race; 
(h)  Whether the drug found was one for which the horse was receiving a treatment as 
determined by the Medication Report Form; 
(i)   Whether there was any suspicious betting pattern in the race; and 
(j)   Whether the licensed trainer was acting under the advice of a licensed veterinarian. 
As a result of the investigation, there may be mitigating circumstances for which a lesser or no 
penalty is appropriate for the licensee and aggravating factors, which may increase the penalty 
beyond the minimum. 
 
(2)   Penalties 
 
(a)  In issuing penalties against individuals found guilty of medication and drug violations a 
regulatory distinction shall be made between the detection of therapeutic medications used 
routinely to treat racehorses and those drugs that have no reason to be found at any concentration 
in the test sample on race day. 
(b)   If a licensed veterinarian is administering or prescribing a drug not listed in the ARCI 
Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, the identity of the drug shall be 
forwarded to the official veterinarian to be forwarded to the Racing Medication and Testing 
Consortium for classification. 
(c)  Any drug or metabolite thereof found to be presenting a pre- or post-race sample which is 
not classified in the version of the ARCI Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign 
Substances in effect at the time of the violation shall be assumed to be a ARCI Class 1 Drug and 
the trainer and owner shall be subject to those penalties as set forth in schedule "A" therein 
unless satisfactorily demonstrated otherwise by the Racing Medication and Testing Consortium, 
with a penalty category assigned. 
(d)   Any licensee of the Commission, including veterinarians, found to be responsible for the 
improper or intentional administration of any drug resulting in a positive test may, after proper 
notice and hearing, be subject to the same penalties set forth for the licensed trainer.  
(e)   Procedures shall be established to ensure that a licensed trainer is not able to benefit 
financially during the period for which the individual has been suspended. This includes, but is 
not limited to, ensuring that horses are not transferred to licensed family members. 
 
(f)  Multiple Medication Violations (MMV). 
1.  A trainer who receives a penalty for a medication violation based upon a horse testing 
positive for a Class 1-5 medication with Penalty Class A-D, as provided in the version of the 
ARCI Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances in effect at the time of the 
violation, shall be assigned points based upon the medication's ARCI Penalty Guideline as 
follows: 
 
 
 
 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 

Class Points If Controlled 
Therapeutic Substance 

Points If Non-
controlled 
Substance 

Class A1
 N/A 6 

Class B 2 4 

Class C 1 2 

Class D ½ 1 
 
2.   The points assigned to a medication violation shall be included in the Stewards' ruling. Such 
ruling shall determine, in the case of multiple positive tests as described in 205 CMR 4.52(2) (f) 
4, whether they shall thereafter constitute a single violation. The Stewards' ruling shall be posted 
on the official website of the Association of Racing Commissioners International. If an appeal is 
pending, that fact shall be noted in such ruling.  No points shall be applied until a final 
adjudication of the enforcement of any such violation. 
3.  A trainer's cumulative points for violations in all racing jurisdictions shall be maintained and 
certified by the Association of Racing Commissioners International. Once all appeals are waived 
or exhausted, the points shall immediately become part of the trainer's official ARCI record and 
shall then subject the trainer to the mandatory enhanced penalties by the Stewards or 
Commission as provided in 205 CMR 4.52(2)(f). 
4.  Multiple positive tests for the same medication incurred by a trainer prior to delivery of 
official notice by the Commission may be treated as a single violation. 
5.  The official ARCI record shall constitute prima facie evidence of a licensed trainer's past 
record of violations and cumulative points.  Nothing in 205 CMR 4.52(2)(f) shall be construed to 
confer upon a licensed trainer the right to appeal a violation for which all remedies have been 
exhausted or for which the appeal time has expired as provided by applicable law. 
6.   The Stewards or Commission shall include all points for violations in all racing jurisdictions 
as contained in the trainer's official ARCI record when determining whether the mandatory 
enhancements provided in 205 CMR 4.52(2) (f) shall be imposed. 
7.   In addition to the penalty for the underlying offense, the following enhancements shall be 
imposed upon a licensed trainer based upon the cumulative points contained in his or her official 
ARCI record: 
 

Points Suspension in Days 

3-5.5 30 

6-8.5 60 

9-10.5 180 

11 or more 360 
 
MMV's are not a substitute for the current penalty system set forth in 205 CMR 4.52(2) (a) 
through (d) and are intended to be an additional  
uniform penalty when the licensed trainer: 
 
 
4.52:  continued 
 
a.   Has more than one violation for the relevant time period; and b.  Exceeds the permissible number of points. 
8.  The suspension periods as provided above, shall run consecutive to any suspension imposed for the underlying 
offense. 
9.  The Stewards' ruling shall distinguish between the penalty for the underlying offense and the enhancement based 
upon the licensed trainer's cumulative points. 
10.   Any trainer who has received a medication violation may petition the ARCI to expunge the points received for 
the violation for the purpose of the MMV system only. The points shall be expunged as follows: 
 

Penalty Classification Time to Expungement 

A Permanent 

B 3 years 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 

C 2 years 

D 1 year 

 
3.  Multiple Medication Violations (MMV) 
(a)A trainer who receives a penalty for a medication violation based upon a horse testing positive 
for a Class 1-5 medication with Penalty Class A-C, as provided in the most recent version of the 
ARCI Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, or similar state regulatory 
guidelines, shall be assigned points as follows: 
  

Penalty Class Points If Controlled 
Therapeutic Substance 

Points If Non-Controlled 
Substance 

Class A N/A 6 
Class B 2 4 

Class C 

½ for first violation with 
an additional ½ point for 
each additional violation 

within 365 days1 

1 for first violation with 
an additional ½ point for 
each additional violation 

within 365 days 
Class D 0 0 

 1 Points for NSAID violations only apply when the primary threshold of the NSAID is exceeded. Points are   
 not to be separately assigned for a stacking violation. 
 
If the Stewards or Commission determine that the violation is due to environmental 
contamination, they may assign lesser or no points against the trainer based upon the specific 
facts of the case. 
(b)The points assigned to a medication violation by the Stewards or Commission ruling shall be 
included in the ARCI official database.  The ARCI shall record points consistent with Section 
13(a) including when appropriate, a designation that points have been suspended for the 
medication violation. Points assigned by such regulatory ruling shall reflect, in the case of 
multiple positive tests as described in paragraph (d), whether they constitute a single violation. 
The Stewards’ or Commission Ruling shall be posted on the official website of the Commission 
and within the official database of the Association of Racing Commissioners International. If an 
appeal is pending, that fact shall be noted in such Ruling. No points shall be applied until a final 
adjudication of the enforcement of any such violation.   
(c)A trainer’s cumulative points for violations in all racing jurisdictions shall be maintained by 
the ARCI.  Once all appeals are waived or exhausted, the points shall immediately become part 
of the trainer’s official ARCI record and shall be considered by the Commission in its 
determination to subject the trainer to the mandatory enhanced penalties by the Stewards or 
Commission as provided in this regulation. 
(d)Multiple positive tests for the same medication incurred by a trainer prior to delivery of 
official notice by the commission may be treated as a single violation. In the case of a positive 
test indicating multiple substances found in a single post-race sample, the Stewards may treat 
each substance found as an individual violation for which points will be assigned, depending 
upon the facts and circumstances of the case. 
(e)The official ARCI record shall be used to advise the Stewards or Commission of a trainer’s 
past record of violations and cumulative points.  Nothing in this administrative regulation shall 
be construed to confer upon a licensed trainer the right to appeal a violation for which all 
remedies have been exhausted or for which the appeal time has expired as provided by 
applicable law.   
(f)The Stewards or Commission shall consider all points for violations in all racing jurisdictions 
as contained in the trainer’s official ARCI record when determining whether the mandatory 
enhancements provided in this regulation shall be imposed.      
(g)In addition to the penalty for the underlying offense, the following enhancements shall be 
imposed upon a licensed trainer based upon the cumulative points contained in his/her official 
ARCI record:  
  

Points Suspension in days 
5-5.5 15 to 30 
6-8.5 30 to 60 
9-10.5 90 to 180 

11 or more 180 to 360 

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
 
MMV penalties are not a substitute for the current penalty system and are intended to be an 
additional uniform penalty when the licensee: 
(i)  Has had more than one medication violation for the relevant time period, and 
(ii) Exceeds the permissible number of points. 
(h)The Stewards and Commission shall consider aggravating and mitigating circumstances, 
including the trainer’s prior record for medication violations, when determining the appropriate 
penalty for the underlying offense.  The MMP is intended to be a separate and additional penalty 
for a pattern of violations. 
(i)The suspension periods as provided in Section 13(g) shall run consecutive to any suspension 
imposed for the underlying offense. 
(j)The Stewards’ or Commission Ruling shall distinguish between the penalty for the underlying 
offense and any enhancement based upon a Stewards or Commission review of the trainer’s 
cumulative points and regulatory record, which may be considered an aggravating factor in a 
case. 
 
 
 
 
 
(k)Points shall expire as follows: 
 
  

Penalty Classification Time to Expire 
A 3 years 
B 2 years 
C 1 year 

 
(l)In the case of a medication violation that results in a suspension, any points assessed expire on 
the anniversary date of the date the suspension is completed. 
 
(3)   Medication Restrictions. 
(a)   A finding by the commission approved laboratory of a prohibited drug, chemical or other 
substance in a test specimen of a horse is prima facie evidence that the prohibited drug, chemical 
or other substance was administered to the horse and, in the case of a post-race test, was present 
in the horse's body while it was participating in a race.  Prohibited substances include: 
1.    Drugs or medications for which no acceptable threshold concentration has been established; 
2.  Controlled therapeutic medications in excess of established threshold concentrations or 
administration within the restricted time period as set forth in the version of the ARCI Controlled 
Therapeutic Medication Schedule in effect at the time of the violation; 
3.  Substances present in the horse in excess of concentrations at which such substances 
could occur naturally; and 
4.   Substances foreign to a horse at concentrations that cause interference with testing 
procedures. 
(b)  Except as otherwise provided by 205 CMR 4.00, a person may not administer or cause 
to be administered by any means to a horse a prohibited drug, medication, chemical or other 
substance, including any restricted medication pursuant to 205 CMR 4.00 during the 24-hour 
period before post time for the race in which the horse is entered. 
 
(4)  Medical Labeling. 
(a)  No person on association grounds where horses are lodged or kept, excluding licensed 
veterinarians, shall have in or upon association grounds which that person occupies or has the 
right to occupy, or in that person's personal property or effects or vehicle in that person's care, 
custody or control, a drug, medication, chemical, foreign substance or other substance that is 
prohibited in a horse on a race day unless the product is labeled in accordance with 
205 CMR 4.52(4). 
(b)   Any drug or medication which is used or kept on association grounds and which, by federal 
or state law, requires a prescription must have been validly prescribed by a duly licensed 
veterinarian, and in compliance with the applicable state statutes.   All such allowable 
medications must have a prescription label which is securely attached and clearly ascribed to 
show the following: 
1.  The name of the product; 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
2.  The name, address and telephone number of the veterinarian prescribing or dispensing the 
product; 
3.   The name of each patient (horse) for whom the product is intended/prescribed; 
4.    The dose, dosage, duration of treatment and expiration date of the prescribed/ 
dispensed product; and 
5.   The name of the person (trainer) to whom the product was dispensed. 

 
5.Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs). 
(a)    The use of one of three approved NSAIDs shall be permitted under the following 
conditions: 
1.   Not to exceed the following permitted serum or plasma threshold concentrations 
which are consistent with administration by a single intravenous injection at least 24 hours 
before the post time for the race in which the horse is entered: 
2.   Phenylbutazone - two micrograms per milliliter; 
3.   Flunixin - 20 nanograms per milliliter; 
4.   Ketoprofen - two nanograms per milliliter. 
b.   These or any other NSAID are prohibited to be administered within the 24 hours before post 
time for the race in which the horse is entered. 
c.  The presence of more than one of the three approved NSAIDs, in the post-race serum 
or plasma sample is not permitted. 
d.  A finding of phenylbutazone below a concentration of .5 microgram per milliliter of  blood 
serum or plasma shall not constitute a violation of 205 CMR 4.52(5). 
e. A finding of flunixin below a concentration of three nanograms per milliliter of 
blood serum or plasma shall not constitute a violation of 205 CMR 4.52(5). 
f.  The use of all but one of the approved NSAIDs shall be discontinued at least 48 hours before 
the post time for the race in which the horse is entered. 
(g)The presence of any unapproved NSAID in the post-race serum or plasma sample is not 
permitted. 
 
(6)Furosemide. 
(a) In order for a horse to be placed on the Furosemide List the following process must be 
followed. 
1.  After the horse's licensed trainer and licensed veterinarian determine that it would be 
in the horse's best interests to race with furosemide the official veterinarian or his or her designee 
shall be notified using the prescribed form, that the horse is to be put on the Furosemide List. 
2.  The form must be received by the official veterinarian or his or her designee by the 
time of entry. 
3.   A horse placed on the official Furosemide List must remain on that list unless the licensed 
trainer and licensed veterinarian submit a written request to remove the horse from the list. The 
request must be made to the official veterinarian or his or her designee, on the proper form, no 
later than the time of entry. 
4.   After a horse has been removed from the Furosemide List, the horse may not be 
placed back on the list for a period of 60 calendar days unless it is determined to be detrimental 
to the welfare of the horse, in consultation with the official veterinarian. If a horse is removed 
from the official Furosemide List a second time in a 365-day period, the horse may not be placed 
back on the list for a period of 90 calendar days. 
5.   Furosemide shall only be administered on association grounds. 
6.   Furosemide shall be the only authorized bleeder medication 
(b)    The use of furosemide shall be permitted under the following circumstances on association 
grounds where a detention barn is not utilized: 
1.   Furosemide shall be administered by single intravenous injection no less than four hours 
prior to post time for the race for which the horse is entered. 
2.  The furosemide dosage administered shall not exceed 500 mg. nor be less than 150 mg. 
3.   After treatment, the horse shall be required by the Commission to remain in the proximity of 
its stall in the care, custody and control of its trainer or the trainer's designated representative 
under general association and/or Commission security surveillance until called to the saddling 
paddock. 
(c)Test results must show a detectable concentration of the drug in the post-race serum, plasma 
or urine sample. 
1.The specific gravity of post-race urine samples may be measured to ensure that samples are 
sufficiently concentrated for proper chemical analysis.  The specific gravity shall not be below 
1.010; 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
2.Quantitation of furosemide in serum or plasma may be performed.  Concentrations may not 
exceed 100 nanograms of furosemide per milliliter of serum or plasma. 
d.A horse that has been placed on a Furosemide List in another jurisdiction pursuant to rules 
similar to 205 CMR 4.52(6) shall be placed on a Furosemide List in this jurisdiction. A notation 
on the horse's foal papers of such shall suffice as evidence of being on a Furosemide List in 
another jurisdiction. 
 
(7)  Bleeder List. 
(a)     The official veterinarian shall maintain a Bleeder List of all horses, which have 
demonstrated external evidence of exercise induced pulmonary hemorrhage from one or both 
nostrils during or after a race or workout as observed by the official veterinarian. 
(b)  Every confirmed bleeder, regardless of age, shall be placed on the Bleeder List and be 
ineligible to race for the following minimum time periods: 
1.   First incident - 14 days; 
2.   Second incident - 30 days; 
3.   Third incident - 180 days; 
4.   Fourth incident - barred for racing lifetime. 
(c)  For the purposes of counting the number of days a horse is ineligible to run, the day the 
horse bled externally is the first day of the recovery period. 
(d)  The voluntary administration of furosemide without an external bleeding incident shall 
not subject the horse to the initial period of ineligibility as defined by 205 CMR 4.52(7). (e)  A 
horse which has been placed on a Bleeder List in another jurisdiction pursuant to rules similar to 
205 CMR 4.52(7) shall be placed on a Bleeder List in this jurisdiction. 
 
(8) Androgenic-anabolic Steroids (AAS). 
(a)   No AAS shall be permitted in test samples collected from racing horses except for residues 
of the major metabolite of nandrolone, and the naturally occurring substances boldenone and 
testosterone at concentrations less that the indicated thresholds. 
(b)  Concentrations of these AAS shall not exceed the following plasma or serum thresholds for 
unchanged (i.e. not conjugated) substance or urine threshold concentrations for total (i.e., free 
drug or metabolite and drug or metabolite liberated from its conjugates): 
1.  Boldenone. 15 ng/ml of total boldenone in urine of male horses other than geldings, 
or 25 pg/ml of boldenone in plasma or serum of all horses regardless of sex; 
2.   Nandrolone.  1 ng/ml of total nandrolone in urine for fillies, mares and geldings or 
45 ng/ml (as 5α-estrane-3β, 17α-diol) in urine in male horses other than geldings, or 
25 pg/ml of nandrolone in plasma or serum for geldings, fillies, and mares. 
3.   Testosterone. 
a.   In Geldings.  20 ng/ml total testosterone in urine or 25 pg/ml of testosterone in plasma or 
serum; 
b.    In Fillies and Mares.   55 ng/ml total testosterone in urine, or 25 pg/ml of testosterone in 
plasma or serum. 
(c)  Any other anabolic steroids are prohibited in racing horses. 
(d)  Post-race urine samples must have the sex of the horse identified to the laboratory. 
 
(9)   Alkalinizing Substances.  The use of agents that elevate the horse's TCO2 or base excess 
level above those existing naturally in the untreated horse at normal physiological concentrations 
is prohibited.  The following levels also apply to blood gas analysis: 
(a)  The regulatory threshold for TCO2 is 37.0 millimoles per liter of plasma/serum or a base 
excess level of 10.0 millimoles, and; 
(b)  The decision level to be used for the regulation of TCO2 is 37.0 millimoles per liter of 
plasma/serum plus the measurement uncertainty of the laboratory analyzing the sample, or a base 
excess level of 10.4 millimoles per liter of plasma/serum. 
 
 
  



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
 

4.53:  Out of Competition Testing for Blood and/or Gene Doping Agents 
 
(1)(1)   Any horse on the grounds at a racetrack or training center under the jurisdiction of the 
commission; or under the care or control of trainer or owner licensed by the commission is subject to 
testing for blood and/or gene doping agents without advance notice. 
 
(2)  Horses to be tested may be selected at random, with probable cause, or as determined by the 
commission; 
 
(3)    The official veterinarian, or any licensed veterinarian or licensed veterinary technician 
authorized by the commission, may at any time, take a urine, blood or hair sample from a horse for 
this purpose. 
 
(4)   Prohibited substances, practices and procedures are defined as: 
(a)  Blood doping agents including, but not limited to Erythropoietin (EPO), Darbepoetin, Oxyglobin, 
Hemopure, Aranesp or any substance that abnormally enhances the oxygenation of body tissues. 
(b)  Gene doping agents or the non-therapeutic use of genes, genetic elements, and/or cells 
that have the capacity to enhance athletic performance or produce analgesia. 
 
(5)  Cooperation with the official veterinarian, or his or her designee, includes assisting in the 
immediate location and identification of the horse selected and providing a stall or safe location to 
collect the samples. 
 
(6)   Split samples for out of competition testing will be collected as per 205 CMR 4.55(3). 
Out-of-competition testing authorized. The commission may at a reasonable time on any date take 
blood, urine or other biologic samples as authorized by commission rules from a horse to enhance the 
ability of the commission to enforce its medication and anti-doping rules, e.g., the Prohibited List 
pursuant to ARCI-011-015. The commission shall own such samples. This rule authorizes only the 
collection and testing of samples and does not independently make impermissible the administration 
to or presence in any horse of any drug or other substance. A race day prohibition or restriction of a 
substance by a commission rule is not applicable to an out-of-competition test unless there is an 
attempt to race the horse in a manner that violates such rule. 
 
(2)Horses eligible to be tested. Any horse that has been engaging in activities related to 
competing in horse racing in the jurisdiction may be tested. This includes without limitation any 
horses that are training outside the jurisdiction to participate in racing in the jurisdiction and all 
horses that are training in the jurisdiction, but excludes weanlings, yearlings and horses no longer 
engaged in horse racing (e.g., retired broodmares). 
 
(3)A horse is presumed eligible for out-of-competition testing if: 
(a) It is on the grounds at a racetrack or training center under the jurisdiction of the commission; 
(b) It is under the care or control of a trainer licensed by the commission; 
(c)It is owned by an owner licensed by the commission; 
(d) It is entered or nominated to race at a premises licensed by the commission; 
(e)It has raced within the previous 12 months at a premises licensed by the commission; or 
(f)It is nominated to a program based on racing in the jurisdiction, including without limitation a 
state thoroughbred development, breeder’s award fund, or standardbred state sires stakes. 
 
(4) Such presumptions are conclusive in the absence of evidence that a horse is not engaged in 
activities related to competing in horse racing in the jurisdiction. 
 
(5)Selection of horses to be tested. 
(a)Horses shall be selected for sampling by a commission Veterinarian, Executive Director, 
Equine Medical Director, Steward or Presiding Judge or a designee of any of the foregoing. 
(b)Horses may be selected to be tested at random, for cause, or as otherwise determined in the 
discretion of the commission. 
(c)collectors shall for suspicion-less collections of samples abide by a plan that has been 
approved by a supervisor not in the field and identifies specific horses or provides neutral and 
objective criteria to follow in the field to determine which horses to sample.  Such a supervisor 
may consider input from persons in the field during the operation of the plan and select 
additional horses to be sampled. 
 

Formatted: Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
(6)Cooperation with the commission 
(a)Licensees of the commission are required to cooperate and comply fully with the provisions of 
this rule. 
(b)Persons who apply for and are granted a trainer or owner license shall be deemed to have 
given their consent for access at such premises as their horse may be found for the purpose of 
commission representatives collecting out-of-competition samples. Licensees shall take any steps 
necessary to authorize access by commission representatives at such premises. 
(c)No other person shall knowingly interfere with or obstruct a sampling. 
 
(7)General procedure for collecting samples 
 
(a)Samples shall be taken under the supervision and direction of a person who is employed or 
designated by the commission. All blood samples shall be collected by a veterinarian licensed in 
the state where the sample is collected, or by a veterinary technician who is acting under 
appropriate supervision of the veterinarian. 
(b)Upon request of a representative of the commission, the trainer, owner, or their specified 
designee shall provide the location of their horses eligible for out-of-competition testing. 
(c)The commission need not provide advance notice before arriving at any location, whether or 
not licensed by the commission, to collect samples. 
 
(d)The trainer, owner, or their specified designee shall cooperate with the person who takes 
samples for the commission, which cooperation shall include without limitation: 
(i)Assist in the immediate location and identification of the horse; 
(ii)Make the horse available as soon as practical upon arrival of the person who is responsible for 
collecting the samples; 
(iii)provide a stall or other safe location to collect the samples; 
(iv)Assist the person who is collecting samples in properly procuring the samples; and 
(v)Witness the taking of samples including sealing of sample collection containers. 
(vi)The management and employees of a licensed racetrack or training facility at which a horse 
may be located shall cooperate fully with a person who is authorized to take samples. The person 
who collects samples for the commission may require that the collection be done at a specified 
location on such premises. 
(vii)the commission, if requested and in its sole discretion, may permit the trainer, owner, or 
their specified designee to present a horse that is located in the jurisdiction, but not at a racetrack 
or training center licensed by the commission, to be sampled at a time and location designated by 
the commission. 
 
(8) Procedure for collecting samples from horses located outside the jurisdiction 
a.The commission may arrange for the sampling of an out-of-state horse by the racing 
commission or other designated person in the jurisdiction where the horse is located. Such racing 
commission or other designated person shall follow the relevant provisions of this rule, including 
paragraph (a) of subdivision five of this rule. 
b.The test results shall be made available, for its regulatory use, to each jurisdiction that has 
participated in the process of collecting any out-of-competition sample, subject to any 
restrictions on public disclosure of test results that apply to the commission that selected the 
horse for sampling. 
c.The commission, if requested and in its sole discretion, may permit the trainer or owner instead 
to transport the horse into its jurisdiction for sampling at a time and place designated by the 
commission. 
 
(9)Additional procedures 
a.The person who takes samples for the commission shall provide identification and disclose the 
purpose of the sampling to the trainer or designated attendant of the horse. 
b.A written protocol for the collection of samples shall be made generally available. 
c.An owner or trainer does not consent to a search of the premises by making a horse that is not 
located at a racetrack or training center available for sampling. 
d.If the trainer or other custodian of a selected horse refuses or declines to make the horse 
available for sampling and the managing owner has previously provided the commission with a 
means for the commission to give immediate notification to the managing owner in such 
situation, then the commission shall attempt to notify the managing owner and the eligibility of 
the horse shall be preserved if the managing owner is able to make the horse available for 



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
immediate sampling. The commission is not required to make repeated attempts to notify the 
managing owner. 
e.The chain of custody record for the sample (including a split sample where appropriate) shall 
be maintained and made available to the trainer, owner, or their designee when a complaint 
results from an out-of-competition test. 
 
(10)Analysis of collected samples 
a.The commission may have out-of-competition samples tested to produce information that may 
enhance the ability of the commission to enforce its medication and anti-doping rules. 
b.Split sample rules and procedures for post-race testing shall apply to out-of-competition 
testing. 
c.The commission may use any remaining sample for research and investigation. 
 
(11)Penalties for non-cooperation 
a.Willful failure to make a horse available for sampling or other willfully deceptive acts or 
interference in the sampling process shall carry a minimum penalty of a one year license 
suspension and referral to the commission in addition to any other authorized penalties. 
b.A selected horse that is not made available for out-of-competition sampling shall be placed on 
the Steward’s List. The horse shall remain on the Steward’s List for a minimum of 180 days 
unless the owner can establish extraordinary mitigating circumstances. 
c.A selected horse that is presumed eligible for out-of-competition testing shall be placed on the 
Steward’s list and be ineligible to race in the jurisdiction for 180 days if the horse is not sampled 
because the trainer, owner or their designee asserts that the horse is not engaged in activities 
related to competing in horse racing in the jurisdiction. This restriction shall not apply if the 
trainer, owner or their designee instead permits voluntarily an immediate collection of such 
samples from the horse. 
 
 
 
  



205 CMR 4.00:   MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION    
 
 
 
 
4.58 Environmental Contaminants and Substances of Human Use 
(1)Environmental contaminants are either endogenous to the horse or can arise from plants 
traditionally grazed or harvested as equine feed or are present in equine feed because of 
contamination during the cultivation, processing, treatment, storage or transportation phases. 
(2)Substances of human use and addiction may be found in the horse due to its close association 
with humans. 
(3)If the preponderance of evidence presented in the hearing shows that a positive test is the 
result of environmental contamination, including inadvertent exposure due to human drug use, or 
dietary intake, or is endogenous to the horse, those factors should be considered in mitigation of 
any disciplinary action taken against the affected trainer. Disciplinary action shall only be taken 
if test sample results exceed the regulatory thresholds in the most recent version of the ARCI 
Endogenous, Dietary, or Environmental Substances Schedule.  
(4)The identification and adoption of these uniform thresholds for certain substances shall not 
preclude an individual jurisdiction from maintaining thresholds for substances not on this list 
which predate the adoption of this regulation in such jurisdiction. 
 
 



Preliminary Study of Patrons’ Use of the 
PlayMyWay Play Management System 

at Plainridge Park Casino 
 
 June 8, 2016 – January 31, 2017 
 

Matthew Tom 
Pradeep Singh 
Timothy Edson 

Debi A. LaPlante 
Howard J. Shaffer 



Acknowledgments 
• Massachusetts Gaming 

Commission 
• Massachusetts DPH 
• DraftKings, Inc. 
• Foundation for Advancing 

Alcohol Responsibility 
• Indian Health Service 
• Tung Wah Group of 

Hospitals 
• David H. Bor Library Fund, 

Cambridge Health Alliance 

• Sarah Nelson 
• Heather Gray 
• Vanessa Graham 
• Tasha Chandler 
• Pat Williams 
• Rhiannon Wiley 
• Alec Conte 
• John Kleschinsky 
• Scarvel Harris 



BACKGROUND 
The Importance of Evaluation 



Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
• During 2011, Massachusetts passed legislation 

permitting gambling expansion 
• Casinos and a slot parlor 

• Plainridge Park Casino 
• Wynn Boston Harbor 
• MGM Springfield 

• Public health and responsible gambling 
requirements 
• GameSense 
• Voluntary Self-exclusion 
• PlayMyWay 



Research Agenda 
• SEIGMA/MAGIC 
• Special Populations 
• Public Safety 
• Responsible Gambling program evaluation 



What is pre-commitment? 
• “A system that enables gamblers to set money 

and time limits expenditure prior to the 
commencement of a session of play.” 
• Stop-losses, stop-wins, and time limits 
• “Hard stop” versus “soft stop” 

 
 

Ladouceur, R., Blaszczynski, A., & Lalande, D. R. (2012). Pre-commitment in gambling: a 
review of the empirical evidence. International Gambling Studies, 12(2), 215-230.  



From Down Under to the Hub 

“Using our systems to help players play 
responsibly and within their budgets is a 
great step forward.” 
 

– Derik Mooberry, Executive Vice President, Group 
Chief Executive of Gaming at Scientific Games 

Yogonet Gaming News, International Edition: 6/22/2015.  



Purposes of the Study 

• Complete first phase of planned multi-year 
research and development agenda 

• Describe initial use patterns of PlayMyWay 
• Provide a first look at how use of PlayMyWay 

relates to gambling activity 
• Lay the foundation for future evaluative work 

and the development of data-informed goals for 
the system 
 
 



Evaluation Feedback & Reporting Loop 
Develop and implement 

RG program & 
monitoring system 

Use monitoring system 
to evaluate program (1) 
safety, (2) effectiveness, 

and (3) impact 

Summarize findings Identify areas in need of 
improvement 

Revise RG program 



APPROACH 
System and Methodological Characteristics 



The PlayMyWay system  

Voluntary 
Self 

Exclusion 

Voluntary  
gambling  

limits 

• Available to Marquee Rewards cardholders 
• Voluntary system 

• Daily, weekly, monthly loss budgets 
• Notifications: 50%, 75%, 100%, 125%… 

• Can receive notification upon enrollment 
• Users can play beyond their budgets 

• At EGMs or GameSense kiosks players can: 
• Enroll, un-enroll, set budgets, and change 

budgets, and check their gambling spending 



Plainridge Park Casino  

• Slot parlor with roughly 1365 gaming 
stations 
• Slot machines, electronic table 

games, and video poker terminals 
• Fairly static lineup of machines 

• Most common betting unit: $0.01 
• Almost all of the machines have 

betting units $1.00 or less 



Voluntary  
gambling  

limits 

• June 8, 2016 – January 31, 2017 
• ACSC Server, i.e., Marquee Reward Records 

• List of machines 
• Demographics 
• Card and cash activity 
• Gambling activity with PlayMyWay active 
• Gambling activity without PlayMyWay active  

• Play Management Server, i.e., PlayMyWay 
Records 
• PlayMyWay activity 

Available Data 



Voluntary  
gambling  

limits 

• ACSC server data 
• 101,024 cardholders with gambling activity 

• 42.2% male, 57.8% female 
• Mean age = 58.3 years 
• 77.3% from MA 
• 17.1% from other New England states 

• PlayMyWay server data 
• 7,507 cardholders who enrolled in PMW 

Two analytic samples   



Voluntary  
gambling  

limits 

• Cash Activity 
• Bill insertions, funds withdrawals, etc. 

• Gambling Activity 
• PPC visitation, wagering behavior, etc. 

• PlayMyWay Activity 
• Enrollment numbers, budget compliance, 

etc. 

General Focus Areas  



• Observations do not provide causal evidence 
• General pre-commitment goals might not reflect 

the specific goals for PlayMyWay 
• Known data limitations: 

– Unexplained gaps in gambling records for PMW users 
– Inability to link PMW records and ACSC records 
– Data loss due to data pull idiosyncrasies related to 

dates of PlayMyWay enrollment 

 

Caveats 



RESULTS 
Enrollment & Un-enrollment 



Enrollment Characteristics 

• Three primary groups of enrollees: 
– 85.2% stable (i.e., enrolled in PMW and remained 

enrolled throughout the study) 
– 1.3% erratic (i.e., enrolled, un-enrolled, and re-

enrolled at least once and were enrolled at the 
end of the study) 

– 13.5% dropouts (i.e., enrolled, but at the end of 
the study were un-enrolled) 



Voluntary  
gambling  

limits 

Cumulative Enrollment Trends in PMW Records 



Daily Enrollment over Time 



Enrollment to Un-enrollment 
• 15% un-

enrolled 
at least 
once 
 



Un-enrollment Temporal Pattern 
• 5% occurred  

w/in the first 
minute 

• About 1/3 
occurred w/in 
the first hour. 

• About 1/2 
occurred by the 
end of the first 
day 



Summary 
• Enrollment appeared mostly stable; most 

people stayed enrolled 
• Enrollments decreased over time 
• Un-enrollment occurred among a minority, but 

tended to happen quickly for most 



RESULTS 
Comparative Analyses: Cash & Gambling Activity 



• For non-users (red), we see a marginal increase in CUMULATIVE NUMBER OF NON-USER 
VISITORS during summer months (June to late August) relative to the winter months 

• CUMULATIVE number of PlayMyWay-visitors per day increased initially (blue), in the 
months of December and January we see a drop in PlayMyWay-using visitors to PPC 

 
 

PPC Visitation Trends by PMW Use 



• The percentages of PlayMyWay users who 
interacted with electronic table games was larger 
than the percentages of non-users 
– The percentages were closer with respect to slot 

machines and video poker terminals 

• Relative to non-users, on average, PlayMyWay 
users (1) inserted significantly more cash, (2) had 
greater total funds withdrawn, and (3) had 
greater total vouchers redeemed 

Cash Activity by PMW Use 



Gambling Activity by PMW Use 

  Non-users (N = 92,168) PlayMyWay users (N = 8,856) 

  Mean SD Median Mean SD Median 

Number of visits 6.8 14.2 2.0 6.5 14.9 2.0 

Total amount wagered $7,862.1 $41,574.9 $882.8 $6,252.6 $32,009.6 $574.2 

Amount wagered per day $789.1 $2,295.9 $393.5 $594.8 $1,090.4 $285.7 

Amount wagered per week $922.2 $2,732.8 $417.0 $780.1 $1,889.6 $317.5 

Amount wagered per month 
$1,651.4 $6,183.6 $512.6 $1,542.8 $5,866.0 $386.6 

Net winnings -$1,251.6 $12,512.6 -$127.6 -$704.4 $3,546.4 -$89.4 



Trends in Losses per day by PMW Use 
• PlayMyWay users lost less money per day than 

non-users 
 



• We employed k-means cluster analysis to 
construct natural groupings based on each 
users’ total amount wagered, net winnings, 
and number of visits to PPC. We conducted 
these analyses separately for non-users (N = 
92,168) and PlayMyWay users (N = 8,856)  

• This resulted in two natural betting groups: 
typical players and atypical players 

Natural Betting Groups 



Natural Betting Groups 
• Amongst both non-users (left) and PlayMyWay 

users (right), typical players wagered less 
money, made fewer visits, and lost less money 
at PPC compared to atypical players 



Summary 
• Observed some similarities, such as number of 

visits and natural groups 
• Observed some differences, such as cash and 

gambling activity that suggest more 
conservative PMW behavior 

• The study design and data limitations preclude 
making a causal attribution to PMW 



RESULTS 
Budgets & Notifications 



One, two, or three? 
• 57.1% only set a 

daily budget 
• 15.2% set a 

combination of 
daily and/or 
weekly, and/or 
monthly budgets  

• Of users who set a 
combination of 
budgets, most 
(77.9%) set all 3 
types of budgets 

 
 



Budget Sizes at Enrollment 
• At enrollment, 

– The median daily budget  
was $75 

– The median weekly budget 
was $200 

– The median monthly budget 
was $300 

• Budgets at enrollment were 
skewed, with maximum 
budget sizes of $25,000 for 
daily, $50,000 for weekly, 
and $100,000 for monthly 



Budget Notification Transitions 



• We observed daily budgets that were greater than what people were likely to spend 
• Weekly and monthly budgets were more comparable to corresponding amounts spent 

 

Budget Sizes & Notifications 



Responding to Budgets 
• Are notifications associated with budget 

changes? 
• Are notifications associated with system un-

enrollment? 
• Are notifications associated with budget 

compliance? 



• Users who approached budgets were more likely to change their budgets than users who 
never approached budgets 

• Users who reached their budgets were more likely to change their budgets than users who 
approached budgets 

• Users who exceeded budgets were less likely to change budgets than users who reached 
their budgets 
 

Notifications & Budget Changes 

  
Users Users who changed a 

budget 
Users who did not 
change a budget 

Budget class n Percentage N Percentage N Percentage 

Never approached budget 3,456 100% 57 1.6% 3,399 98.4% 

Approached budget 1,110 100% 105 9.5% 1,005 90.5% 

Reached budget 491 100% 66 13.4% 425 86.6% 

Exceeded budget 2,829 100% 349 12.3% 2,480 87.7% 



• Budget changes most often involved increases 
 

Budget Changes 



• Users who never approached budgets were more likely to un-enroll early (i.e., within one 
day) from PlayMyWay compared to other budget classes 

• Users who reached and exceeded budgets were the most likely to un-enroll from 
PlayMyWay after one day, followed by users who approached budgets 

Notifications & Un-enrollment 

  Users Users who  
un-enrolled  

within one day 

Users who  
un-enrolled  

after one day 

Users who did not 
un-enroll 

Budget class n Percentage n Percentage n Percentage n Percentage 

Never 
approached 
budget 

3,456 100.0% 411 11.9% 128 3.7% 2,917 84.4% 

Approached 
budget 

1,110 100.0% 73 6.6% 101 9.1% 936 84.3% 

Reached budget 491 100.0% 28 5.7% 61 12.4% 402 81.9% 

Exceeded budget 2,829 100.0% 162 5.7% 429 15.2% 2,238 79.1% 



• 8.9% of steady users (i.e., did not change their budget or un-enroll that day) received no 
additional notifications (i.e., stopped gambling) in all instances of hitting their daily budget 
(i.e., receiving an initial reach or exceed notification) and 91.1% of users received at least 
one additional notification (i.e., continued to gamble) 

 

Budget Compliance Rates 

Number of total additional notifications 
amongst all instances of hitting daily 
budget 

Steady 
users 

Percentage of 
all steady users 

No additional notifications 203 8.9% 

One additional notification 130 5.7% 

Between 2 and 10 additional notifications 640 28.2% 

Between 11 and 100 additional 
notifications 

1050 46.2% 

More than 100 additional notifications 248 10.9% 

Total 2271 100.0% 

91.1% 



Summary 
• Majority use daily budget function 
• Most received at least an approach notification 

– Receipt of approach notification associated with 
likelihood of reach notification, and in turn, exceed 
notification 

• Notifications associated with budget changes 
(increases) and un-enrollment 

• Observed pattern of ongoing play post 
exceeding notification 



RESULTS 
Age & Gender Associations 



• 8,856 PlayMyWay users, 92,168 non-users 
• About 52% of PlayMyWay users were female 

– 9.0% of male cardholders used PlayMyWay 
– 8.3% of female cardholders used PlayMyWay 

• Almost 9% of Marquee Rewards cardholders from MA 
enrolled in PlayMyWay. Corresponding percentages for CT, 
RI, NH were all between 8.0% and 8.4% 
– 78% of PlayMyWay users were from MA 
–   1% of PlayMyWay users were from CT 
–   9% of PlayMyWay users were from RI 
–   5% of PlayMyWay users were from NH 

Sample Characteristics by PMW Use 



• PlayMyWay users skewed younger 
– PlayMyWay user mean age: 53.8 years 
– Non-user mean age: 58.7 years 

 

Age by PMW Use 



Gender 



Age 



Summary 
• PMW users tend to be slightly older than 

middle age and female 
• Women participated more and wagered less 
• Individuals in their 50-60s participated more 

and wagered more 
• As with other such comparisons, causal 

attributions are not possible for these 
observations 



DISCUSSION 
Take aways, limitations, future directions 



• Enrollment is mainly stable 
• PMW is associated with less cash and gambling activity 
• Notifications are associated with upward budget 

revisions and un-enrollment 
• Evidence of continued notifications after users reached 

budgets 
• Findings provide an early look into how real gamblers 

actually interact with PlayMyWay 
• Findings can guide discussions of data-informed system 

goals and future research topics 

Take Away Points 



• Cannot assume PMW caused any outcomes 
• Many data issues limited areas of investigation 

– Not possible to tie specific PlayMyWay actions to 
specific gambling actions 

• We cannot determine intent (e.g., how people 
intend to use budgets) w/out surveying users 

• Player response might be not be the same at 
Wynn Boston Harbor or MGM Springfield 
 
 

Limitations 



• Obtain updated data files that allow for linking 
PMW records and cash/gambling activity records 
– Examine differences between gambling behavior before 

and after enrollment  
– Examine differences between gambling behavior before 

and after receiving notifications 
– Examine whether any gambling patterns or machine 

preferences are associated with PlayMyWay adoption 

• Survey research to gain insight into Player 
subjective experiences 
 
 

Future work 



Thank you! 
 
 

 http://divisiononaddiction.org/    
@Div_Addiction 

info@divisiononaddiction.org  

http://divisiononaddiction.org/
mailto:info@divisiononaddiction.org


Data Limitations: The Nitty-Gritty 
• The data files from the ACSC and PlayMyWay 

servers used separate de-identification schemes. 
• It is not possible to accurately match gambling 

activity with PlayMyWay activity 
• We cannot compare gambling behavior after 

enrollment to gambling behavior before 
enrollment. 

• We cannot compare gambling behavior after 
notification to gambling behavior before 
notification. 
 
 



Data Limitations: The Nitty-Gritty 

• The gambling activity files for PlayMyWay 
users contained time periods where there was 
no gambling activity. 

• Gaps covered consecutive hours and days. 
• Some gaps corresponded to Friday and 

Saturday nights and holiday-related weekends. 
• Estimates for total amounts wagered with 

PlayMyWay active might be low. 
 



Data Limitations: The Nitty-Gritty 
• Data files for gambling activity were delivered 

monthly (e.g., data for Dec. delivered Jan. 3). 
• If a cardholder enrolled mid-month, the gambling 

activity file for PlayMyWay users would not contain 
records of gambling activity pre-enrollment. 

• If a cardholder was enrolled at the time of the data 
pull, his data would not be in the gambling activity 
data file for non-users. 

• It is likely that some gambling activity did not pass 
either filter and was not delivered to us. 
 



1  

 
 

Preliminary Study of Patrons’ Use of the PlayMyWay Play 

Management System at Plainridge Park Casino: 

  June 8, 2016-January 31, 2017  
 
 
 
 

 

Matthew Tom, Ph.D. 
Pradeep Singh, Ph.D. 
Timothy Edson, Ph.D. 

Debi A. LaPlante, Ph.D. 
Howard J. Shaffer, Ph.D. 

 
 

A report prepared for the Massachusetts Gaming Commission by: 
 

Division on Addiction, Cambridge Health Alliance, 

a Harvard Medical School Teaching Hospital 

 
October 25, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please direct all correspondence to Matthew Tom (mtom@challiance.org) Debi A. LaPlante (debi_laplante@hms.harvard.edu), or 
Howard J.  Shaffer (howard_shaffer@hms.harvard.edu), 

Division on Addiction, 101 Station Landing, Suite 2100, Medford, Massachusetts 02155. 
 
 
 
 

© Copyright 2017 Division on Addiction, 
Cambridge Health Alliance, a Harvard Medical School teaching hospital 

mailto:mtom@challiance.org
mailto:howard_shaffer@hms.harvard.edu


2  

  
The authors extend thanks to contributors to this report. These included Sarah Nelson, Ph.D., Heather Gray, Ph.D., Layne 
Keating, Alec Conte, John Kleschinsky, Tasha Chandler, Scarvel Harris, and Vanessa Graham. 

 
The Massachusetts Gaming Commission funded this study. The authors thank Mark Vander Linden and Teresa Fiore of the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission for their assistance with obtaining the data available for this report. 

 
We thank the members of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission Review Committee for their comments and feedback 
about this report. 

 
This report would not have been possible without the time and cooperation of Scientific Games and the Plainridge Park 
Casino for preparing the data used in this report. 

Acknowledgements 



3  

Acknowledgements ................................................................................................................................ 2 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................ 5 
Rationale ........................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Method .............................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Key Findings ................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Discussion & Recommendations .................................................................................................................... 8 

1. Introduction........................................................................................................................................ 10 
1.1. Background .............................................................................................................................................. 10 

1.2. Electronic Gaming Machines ................................................................................................................... 10 

1.3. Play Management ..................................................................................................................................... 12 

1.3.1. Scientific Evaluation of Play Management Systems .............................................................................. 13 
1.4. Current Study ........................................................................................................................................... 14 

2. Methods .............................................................................................................................................. 16 
2.1 Methodological Summary ........................................................................................................................ 16 

2.2. Procedural Details .................................................................................................................................... 16 

2.2.1. Participants .......................................................................................................................................... 16 
2.2.2. Setting ................................................................................................................................................. 16 
2.2.3. Play Management Software .................................................................................................................. 16 
2.2.4. Records ............................................................................................................................................... 19 
2.2.5. Human Subjects Protection .................................................................................................................. 20 

2.3. Measures .................................................................................................................................................. 20 

2.3.1. Marquee Rewards Betting Records ...................................................................................................... 20 
2.3.2. PlayMyWay Records ............................................................................................................................ 21 

2.4. Data Quality & Sample Definitions ........................................................................................................... 21 

2.4.3. PlayMyWay Records: Data Review and Data Reduction ....................................................................... 23 
2.4.4. Analytic Samples .................................................................................................................................. 24 

2.5 Analytic Plan.............................................................................................................................................. 26 

2.5.1. Marquee Rewards Betting Records ...................................................................................................... 26 
2.5.2. PlayMyWay Users ................................................................................................................................ 28 
2.5.3. Assessing Safety, Reach, and effectiveness ......................................................................................... 30 
2.5.4. On Central Tendency and Dispersion ................................................................................................... 30 

3. Results ........................................................................................................................................................... 30 
3.1. Marquee Rewards Betting Records ..................................................................................................................... 30 

3.1.1. Sample Characteristics ........................................................................................................................ 30 
3.1.2. Game Characteristics ........................................................................................................................... 31 
3.1.3. Cash Activity ........................................................................................................................................ 35 
3.1.4. Gambling Activity ................................................................................................................................. 37 

3.2. PlayMyWay Users ..................................................................................................................................... 37 

3.2.1. Cumulative Enrollment ......................................................................................................................... 37 
3.2.2. Sample Characteristics by PlayMyWay Status ...................................................................................... 38 
3.2.3. Cash Activity by PlayMyWay Status ...................................................................................................... 40 
3.2.4. Gambling Activity by PlayMyWay status ............................................................................................... 42 
3.2.5. PlayMyWay Enrollment & Un-enrollment Trends .................................................................................. 56 
3.2.6. Budget & Notification Activity ................................................................................................................ 59 

4. Discussion ..................................................................................................................................................... 70 
4.1. Purposes of this Study .......................................................................................................................................... 70 



4  

4.2. PlayMyWay Enrollment ............................................................................................................................ 70 

4.3. Differences by PlayMyWay Enrollment Status ........................................................................................ 71 

4.4. PlayMyWay Budget Notification Effects .................................................................................................. 72 

4.5. Safety, Reach, and Effectiveness ............................................................................................................ 72 

4.6. Limitations ................................................................................................................................................ 73 

4.7. Recommendations and Future Directions .............................................................................................. 74 

4.8. Concluding Thoughts ............................................................................................................................................ 76 

Appendix A: Issues with the gambling activity data files .................................................................... 77 

Appendix B: Additional figures showing cash activity of Marquee Rewards cardholders ......................... 81 

Appendix C: Additional tables and figures showing results of analyses of PlayMyWay budget notifications data 

with budget notifications that occurred within the same day, week, or month that a user sets or changes their 

daily, weekly or monthly budget filtered out ........................................................................................ 83 

References ............................................................................................................................................. 85 



5  

  
 

Rationale 

During 2011, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts passed legislation permitting the expansion of legal gambling within the 
state. This legislation also included a number of public health research and responsible gambling requirements. To fulfill 
these requirements, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission developed three complementary programs that intersect with 
licensed gambling venues: (1) the GameSense responsible gambling information center; (2) the Voluntary Self-exclusion 
program; and (3) the PlayMyWay software for electronic gambling machines. PlayMyWay is a gambling pre-commitment or 
play management system that allows individuals to set gambling budgets supported by software-enabled budget 
reminders. According to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, “PlayMyWay is intended to help players make decisions 
about gambling, allow them to monitor and understand their playing behavior in real time, and support their decisions” 

(Massachusetts Gaming Commission, 2016b). During 2015, four years after the original 2011 gambling expansion legislation 
passed, the Plainridge Park Casino (PPC) slots parlor and racetrack opened in the town of Plainville, Massachusetts. PPC is 
the first gambling venue within the United States to use play management software on its electronic gaming machines. On 
June 8, 2016, the PlayMyWay software became available to all patrons at PPC. This preliminary report is part of a planned 
multi-year research and development agenda. It describes the initial use patterns of PlayMyWay and provides a first look at 
how use of PlayMyWay relates to gambling activity. This evidence lays the foundation for future work to address key 
PlayMyWay evaluation questions in more detail (e.g., safety, effectiveness, and reach) and provides an opportunity to 
develop data-informed goals for the system, generally, and its constituents, specifically. 

 
In this initial report, we focus on the following topics: 

 
(1) Sample Characteristics – To describe key aspects of the study sample and PlayMyWay enrollees, including 

characteristics such as gender, age, and region. 
(2) Game Characteristics – To describe the gambling activity environment (e.g., numbers and types of machines, and 

betting options) in which the data collection took place. 
(3) Cash Activity – To describe how individuals in our sample in general, and PlayMyWay enrollees in particular, 

interacted with the available gambling machines, in terms of financial transactions, including bill insertions,  funds 
withdrawals, and ticket redemptions. 

(4) Gambling Activity – To describe the gambling activity of our study sample in general, and PlayMyWay enrollees in 
particular, such as PPC visitation and wagering behavior. 

(5) Budget & Notification Activity – To describe PlayMyWay enrollment trends and budget activity, including numbers 
of notifications received, change occurrences, and compliance with self-selected budget limits. 

 
Method 

In brief, this report contains a secondary data analysis of gambling activity records and PlayMyWay budget records for 
101,024 individuals who gambled at PPC between June 8, 2016 and January 31, 2017. 

 
The software at the center of the PlayMyWay program is a product of Scientific Games. This software allows individuals to 
voluntarily create a computer-assisted budget system for daily, weekly, and monthly gambling budgets. Individuals who 
enroll in PlayMyWay receive notifications when their gambling activity approaches, reaches, and/or exceeds the  player’s 

self-identified budgetary amounts. Users can play through budget notifications; that is, the PlayMyWay system does not 
force a hard stop once users exceed their self-identified budget points. Users can check their gambling activity by logging in 
to their PlayMyWay account. The Massachusetts Gaming Commission refers to this component as the tracking feature. As 
mentioned, PlayMyWay became available at PPC on June 8, 2016. PlayMyWay is only available to Marquee Rewards 
cardholders who gamble at PPC. Marquee Rewards is a free program that allows registered individuals to collect rewards 
and benefits for gambling activity at PPC and other Penn National properties. 

Executive Summary 

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleII/Chapter23K


6  

With support from Scientific Games, PPC made two primary types of records available for the analyses contained within this 
report: (1) Marquee Rewards records and (2) PlayMyWay records. The Marquee Rewards records provide us with 
information about the sample characteristics, game characteristics, cash activity, and gambling activity information. The 
PlayMyWay records provide us with information about a player’s budget and notification activity. However, the data 
provided to the Division on Addiction did not include any means of linking the Marquee Rewards records with the 
PlayMyWay records; therefore, it has not been possible to link specific gambling-related information and activities with 
specific PlayMyWay system budget-related activities. 

 
The Marquee Rewards records related to gambling activity were split upon delivery into records associated with 
PlayMyWay enrollees (i.e., Marquee Rewards members who were enrolled in PlayMyWay at the time the data was 
collected) and non-enrollees (i.e., Marquee Rewards members who were not enrolled at the time the data was collected). 
However, the criteria used to generate these separate gambling activity files led to serious flaws in the data provided to the 
Division (e.g., created instances of missing data). These problems limited our confidence and ability to use the data. For 
more information about these data abstraction code design flaws, see Appendix A of the main report. 

 
The Division completed a variety of data review and reduction activities in advance of completing the analyses. This allowed 
us to identify analyses that are appropriate for the available data, even given its limitations. More specifically, for this 
preliminary report, we describe the study sample and its game and cash activity characteristics. We also report their 
gambling activity (e.g., visitation to PPC, wagering, and net winnings; i.e., total amount won minus total amount wagered). 
We examine this information prospectively and by key factors (e.g., age, gender, and region). We examine the data to 
determine whether our sample includes any “natural groups,” that is, clusters of individuals who tended to gamble similarly 
and distinctly from others. We explore all of these aspects for the sample as a whole, and by PlayMyWay enrollment. In 
addition, we examine PlayMyWay budget activity patterns, such as enrollment and un-enrollment trends over time. We 
also investigate budget-setting patterns, such as sizes of budgets and rates of budget changes. Finally, we explore how 
budget notifications were delivered and the factors associated with compliance (e.g., seemingly following a budget 
notification) and non-compliance (e.g., seemingly ignoring a budget notification). 

 
Key Findings 

In the following discussion, we highlight key findings of interest. Additional findings not described here are available in the 
main report. 

 
The PlayMyWay records sample included 7,507 individuals who ever enrolled in PlayMyWay during the study period (June 
8, 2016 to January 31, 2017). Of the 7,507 cardholders in our analytic sample, we identified three primary groups of 
enrollees: (1) 6,398 (85.2%) were stable (i.e., enrolled in PlayMyWay and remained enrolled in the program for the period 
of this study); (2) 96 (1.3%) were erratic (i.e., enrolled, un-enrolled, and re-enrolled in the program at least once, but were 
enrolled in PlayMayWay at the end of the study period); and (3) 1,013 (13.5%) were dropouts (i.e., enrolled in the program, 
but at the end of the study period were un-enrolled from the program). 

 
Recall that the Marquee Rewards records data delivered to the Division were split by PlayMyWay status. This allowed us to 
complete preliminary comparisons of various gambling behaviors among PlayMyWay enrollees vs. non-enrollees. As a 
reminder, at this point the reported analyses do not provide evidence of causal relationships. The non-randomized design 
and aforementioned data anomalies preclude saying that these differences are related to PlayMyWay user status. The 
analyses do, however, provide important early insight into PlayMyWay and will guide future evaluation efforts. 

 
Of the 101,024 cardholders for whom we had gambling activity data, 92,168 (91.2%) appeared only in the Marquee 
Rewards records gambling activity data for those not enrolled in PlayMyWay. We designated these individuals as non-users 

(i.e., people who never enrolled in PlayMyWay). The rest of our analytic sample consisted of 8,856 Marquee Rewards 
subscribers who had used PlayMyWay at some point. We designated this group as PlayMyWay users. 



7  

In our sample, nearly 10% of both men and women were PlayMyWay users. The majority of these PlayMyWay users were 
from New England states, with most from Massachusetts. The PlayMyWay users had an average age of 53.8 (SD = 16.3) and 
were significantly younger than the non-users (mean = 58.7, SD = 15.3). 

 
We observed some differences in the cash activity of PlayMyWay users and non-users. Specifically, PlayMyWay users had 
significantly more cash activity than non-users on slot machines and electronic table games. For example, during the entire 
study period, PlayMyWay users inserted significantly more cash into slot machines than non-users (difference of means = 
$620.50, p < 0.00001). They also withdrew more funds than non-users (difference of means = $692.31, p < 0.00001). 

 
With respect to gambling activity, PlayMyWay users tended to wager less money as well as lose less money per day 
compared to non-users. Whereas the median PlayMyWay-user wagered $347.8 and lost $47.5 per day, their non-user 
counterparts wagered $485.3 and lost $62.9. Over time, PlayMyWay users also exhibited slightly more variation in amount 
wagered than non-users. 

 
We observed that, among non-users, visitation to PPC was relatively stable during the study period. Each day, on average, 
2,648 non-users visited PPC. We anticipated that the average number of PlayMyWay users would increase over time, as 
cumulative enrollment increased. However, instead we observed an initial increase in average number of PlayMyWay users 
each day, followed by a plateau, and eventual decrease. 

 
We separated the non-users and PlayMyWay users each into two natural groups. Within each separation, we called the 
larger group the typical users and the smaller group the atypical users. Of the 92,168 non-users, 92,017 cardholders were 
classified as typical, and the remaining 151 were classified as atypical. Compared to atypical non-users, typical non-users 
wagered less money at PPC during the study period (typical: median = $879, atypical: median = $512,200), made fewer 
visits to PPC (typical: median = 2, atypical: median = 72), and tended to lose less money at PPC (typical: median = -$127, 
atypical: median = -$94,200). Of the 8,856 PlayMyWay users, 8,814 were classified as typical and 42 were classified as 
atypical. Similar to the non-users, compared to atypical PlayMyWay users, typical PlayMyWay users also wagered less 
money at PPC during the study period (typical: median = $569, atypical: median = $254,500), made fewer visits to PPC 
(typical: median = 2, atypical: median = 78), and tended to lose less money at PPC (typical: median = -$87, atypical: median 
= -$24,810). 

 
A plot of PlayMyWay daily enrollments showed high adoption rates when the program was launched, followed by a gradual 
decline and eventually an adoption rate plateau. In this sample, almost 15% of individuals un-enrolled from PlayMyWay at 
least one time. Of those who un-enrolled, most (79.1%) un-enrolled just once. Furthermore, most people who un-enrolled 
did so very quickly. Of the 1,392 un-enrollments recorded during the study period, 5% happened within the first minute 
after enrollment and a third happened within the first hour. Just under half of all un-enrollments from PlayMyWay occurred 
by the end of the first day. After the first day, the rate of un-enrollments slowed, with just under three quarters of un- 
enrollments occurring by the end of 30 days. The final un-enrollment we observed occurred just over 232 days after the 
individual’s initial enrollment. 

 
Although PlayMyWay users have the option of setting a combination of daily, weekly, and monthly budgets, most (84.8%) 
set one type of budget during the study period. The majority of users (57.1%) set only a daily budget, followed by users who 
only set a monthly budget (18.8%). A smaller proportion of users (15.2%) set a combination of budgets. Of users who set a 
combination of budgets, most (77.9%) set all three types of budgets. 

 
Among the 7,507 PlayMyWay users, the median initial daily budget was $75, the median initial weekly budget was $200, 
and the initial median monthly budget was $300. About 7.6% of PlayMyWay users changed their daily, weekly, or monthly 



8  

budget. Budget changes most often reflected an upward revision to limits. They evidenced a 366.6% increase in the daily 
budget to $350, the weekly budget increased by 350% to $900, and the monthly budget increased by 233.3% to $1000. 

 
We examined the notifications that PlayMyWay users received during the study period. Just over half of all PlayMyWay 
users (57.8%) approached their budgets. Overall, slightly less than two thirds of all PlayMyWay users (63.0%) never 
exceeded their budgets; just over one third of all users (37.0%) exceeded their budgets at least once during the study 
period. Of the 4,336 users who approached their budgets, three quarters (75.3%) of them reached their budgets and two 
thirds (64.1%) of them both reached and exceeded their budgets. 

 
Those who received budget notifications tended to have set lower budgets compared to those who did not receive 
notifications. The daily, weekly and monthly median budgets of $32, $100, and $200, respectively, for those who received a 
notification were less than the corresponding median values of $100, $300, and $500 for those who did not receive a 
notification. 

 
Changing budgets shared a direct relationship with notifications. Users who received notification that they were 
approaching their set budget (e.g., “You have spent 75% of your daily budget”) were 7.9% more likely to change their 
budgets than those who never approached their budgets. Users who received notification that they reached their set 
budget (e.g., “You have reached 100% of your daily budget”) changed their budgets 3.9% more often than those who only 
approached their budgets. Users who received notification that they exceeded their set budget (e.g., “You have spent 125% 
of your daily budget”) were 1.1% less likely than users who received reached notifications to change their budgets, with 
12.3% of users who received exceeded notifications changing their budgets during the study period. 

 
Un-enrollment also was associated with notifications. Users who reached or exceeded their budgets also were more likely 
to un-enroll from PlayMyWay after one day compared to users who approached or never approached their budgets. 
However, users who never approached their budgets were more likely to un-enroll within one day compared to users who 
approached, reached, or exceeded their budgets. 

 
We examined notification rates that occurred after people reached or exceeded their self-determined budgets. For this 
analysis, we removed from consideration any instances where users un-enrolled from PlayMyWay or changed their budgets 
within the same day (i.e., about 9.6%) so that we could report this rate among steady PlayMyWay users (i.e., those who did 
not un-enroll or change budgets within the same day of receiving notification). About 9.5% of the time, steady users did not 
receive any additional notifications for that day (i.e., potentially stopped gambling). Steady users received between 1 and 
10 additional notifications in 41.4% of instances and between 11 and 100 additional notifications in 46.7% of instances. 
Among 2.3% of notification instances, steady users received more than 100 additional notifications. One steady user 
received 554 additional notifications within the day after reaching their daily budget. This was the maximum number of 
notifications anyone in the sample received. 

 
During the study period, 8.9% of steady users received no additional notifications in all instances of reaching their daily 
budget; 91.1% of steady users received at least one additional notification. 

 
Discussion & Recommendations 

Any new responsible gambling program, such as PlayMyWay, warrants comprehensive, independent, and objective 
evaluation. The Massachusetts Gaming Commission is supporting this approach to responsible gambling by supporting a 
multi-year research and development agenda for PlayMyWay and enabling the data exchange among Scientific Games,  
Plainridge Park Casino, and the Division on Addiction. This report provides the first observations of PlayMyWay at Plainridge 
Park Casino. 



9  

Some observations provide an opportunity to guide future goal development and evaluation planning. For example, 
whereas other jurisdictions have reported enrollment rates around 1%-2% (e.g., Nelson et al., 2008; Schottler Consulting, 
2009), the early enrollment rate in Massachusetts was about 8.7%. Incentives might explain elevated enrollment in 
Massachusetts. A randomized trial of the effect of incentives could establish the accuracy of this assumption. Likewise, over 
time, enrollment declined before reaching a plateau. Also, nearly 15% of enrollees appear to have un-enrolled from 
PlayMyWay. Program administrators now have the opportunity to decide whether they believe these rates are satisfactory 
targets for enrollment and retention, and future evaluations can determine whether the program continues to meet such 
targets. Also, future research can test new ways to elevate enrollment and retention rates, if that is a primary goal. 

 
Early comparisons suggest that PlayMyWay enrollees generated less gambling activity (i.e., visits, wagering, net losses) 
compared to those who did not enroll. However, as noted previously, the current analyses preclude making causal 
statements about this relationship. It is possible that PlayMyWay contributes to these differences. It also is possible that 
PlayMyWay does not, and that instead the people who enrolled in PlayMyWay already were more conservative gamblers 
than their counterparts. Likewise, it is possible that their decision to sign up for PlayMyWay accompanied a decision to 
become a more conservative gambler. The preliminary observation of such differences provides the Massachusetts Gaming 
Commission the opportunity to consider whether such gambling activity changes are a programmatic goal. Whether less 
gambling activity represents an optimal outcome or not is a subjective decision. Future research can evaluate PlayMyWay 
against identified gambling activity benchmarks informed by this report. 

 
Notifications are an important part of the PlayMyWay system. We examined notifications in a number of ways. Notably, 
enrolling in PlayMyWay does not guarantee the receipt of notifications. About half of enrollees never approached their self- 
determined budgets, and therefore never received any notifications. The observation of patterns of ongoing notification 
indicated that most people who received notifications from PlayMyWay did not stop gambling. We observed that for more 
than 90% of the instances where steady PlayMyWay users reached their daily budget, they continued to gamble that day. 
Interpreting the meaning of the observation of ongoing notifications is difficult. Although general discussions of pre- 
commitment suggest that stopping gambling is a primary goal because such systems are intended to eliminate emotion- 
based decision making while gambling (Ladouceur, Blaszczynski, & Lalande, 2012), other goals are possible. For example, an 
alternative goal might be that notifications increase awareness of gambling expenditures, but do not necessarily elicit a 
hard stop of gambling. Other outcomes are possible, as well. In any event, these observations provide the Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission with information that allows them to consider what impacts they seek from notifications. Future 
research, then, can evaluate whether the PlayMyWay system realizes those impacts. 

 
Notifications also were associated with both upward budget changes and un-enrollment from the program. Additional 
evaluation of notifications and potential notification variants are needed to determine whether these upward budget 
changes are indicative of a problem or flaw in PlayMyWay or its presentation. Alternatively, users might be using the 
budgeting system in an alternative but still useful manner (e.g., entering a budget amount that represents only a 
percentage of that user’s actual dollar amount allocated for that gambling session). 

 
In summary, the report represents the first phase of a multi-year research and development agenda for PlayMyWay. It 
provides the first look into how real gamblers use and interact with PlayMyWay at Plainridge Park Casino. The reported 
analyses are observational. They have the capacity to guide the development of data-informed system goals and future 
research topics. Major data limitations prevented us from assessing key differences in gambling behavior between 
PlayMyWay users and non-users, and among PlayMyWay users before, during, and/or after using PlayMyWay. These 
limitations also hampered a complete assessment of how budget notifications might relate to both gambling and cash 
activity. Other data limitations included missing data due to both data abstraction processes and data collection issues by 
the PlayMyWay system. Future work involving a randomized design will help establish causal relationships between 
PlayMyWay enrollment and key outcomes. Improved data quality and guidance with respect to data-informed program 
goals is imperative before a complete assessment can be conducted and more concrete conclusions are possible. 



10  

  
 

1.1. Background 

During 2011, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts passed legislation permitting the expansion of legal gambling in the 
state. This legislation specifically authorized the development of one slots parlor and no more than three destination resort 
casinos ("An Act Establishing Expanded Gaming in the Commonwealth," 2011). Because gambling is associated with the 
potential for a broad range of public health consequences, positive and negative, the legislation also included a number of 
public health research and responsible gambling requirements (Shaffer & Korn, 2002). Some of these requirements include 
maintaining a smoke free environment within the casino, providing gambling-related substance use and mental health 
services on site, and managing an annual research agenda to monitor the effects of gambling expansion on economic and 
social outcomes, in additional to other areas of research (Massachusetts Gaming Commission, 2014). 

 
To develop an organized approach to fulfill these public health research and responsible gambling legislative requirements, 
the Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) developed a Responsible Gaming Framework (Massachusetts Gaming 
Commission, 2014). A primary goal of this framework is to “…inform gaming regulation in Massachusetts and provide an 
overall orientation to responsible gambling practices and policy adopted by the MGC and gaming licensees” (Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission, 2014, p.3). Among other activities, the Responsible Gaming Framework’s recommendations indicate 
three complementary programs that intersect with licensed gambling venues: (1) the GameSense responsible gambling 
information center; (2) the Voluntary Self-exclusion program; and (3) the PlayMyWay software for electronic gambling 
machines. As we describe in more detail later, the PlayMyWay tool is a budget setting software tool that is incorporated 
into electronic gaming machines. This pre-gambling commitment or “pre-commitment” strategy is intended to help players 
set budgets for the maximum amount of money they would like to spend gambling during each gambling day, week, or 
month, and then have easy access to financial information about their betting in relation to these budgets. 

 
Four years after the original legislation passed during 2011, the Plainridge Park Casino (PPC) slots parlor and racetrack 
opened during 2015 in the town of Plainview, Massachusetts. PPC is the first gambling venue in the United States to use 
play management software on its electronic gaming machines. The PlayMyWay software became available to all patrons at 
PPC on June 8, 2016. 

 
This preliminary report describes the initial use patterns of PlayMyWay and a first look at how use of PlayMyWay relates to 
gambling activity. This evidence lays the foundation for future work to address in more detail key evaluation questions (e.g., 
safety, effectiveness, and reach) associated with PlayMyWay. 

 
1.2. Electronic Gaming Machines 

Electronic gaming machines (EGMs; including electronic table games, pokies, slot machines, and video lottery terminals), 
have been an important area of focus for researchers studying gambling-related problems. At least three aspects of EGMs 
have contributed to this interest: (1) popularity among gamblers; (2) the frequency with which EGM players report the 
experience of gambling-related problems; and (3) unique structural characteristics that might be associated with excessive 
gambling behavior. 

 
EGMs are one of the most popular forms of gambling within casino settings. During 2016, the Gaming Technologies 
Association of Australia reported that there were more than 865,000 EGMs in the United States alone (Ziolkowski, 2017). A 
gaming industry survey reported during 2012 that about 71.6 million adults, or 32% of the US population age 21 or older, 
gambled at a casino. Among these casino goers, approximately 61% reported that their favorite type of casino games were 
slot machines or video poker (American Gaming Association, 2014). Welte, Barnes, Tidwell, Hoffman, and Wieczorek (2015) 
provided slightly different statistics. They estimated that approximately 26% of US adults gambled at casinos in the past 
year. This finding was consistent with rates they reported 10 years before. In calculating these rates, they could not 
separate in-casino slot machine use from in-casino participation in other forms of gambling (e.g., table games, poker). 

1. Introduction 

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleII/Chapter23K
http://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/Responsible-Gaming-Framework-v1-10-31-14.pdf


11  

However, they did report that 17% of participants also gambled at slot machines not in casinos or racetracks or on the 
Internet during the past year. Similarly, in their analysis of data from the British Gambling Prevalence Survey, Wardle et al. 
(2007) found that 14% of all respondents and 21% of past year gamblers reported playing slot machines during the past 
year. 

 
Several studies make a connection between EGMs and gambling-related problems. Studies of treatment seekers frequently 
find that most gambling-related treatment seekers and helpline callers believe that the use of electronic gambling machines 
is associated with their gambling-related problems, or is a primary factor in their gambling-related problems (Druine, 2008; 
Jonsson & Rönnberg, 2008; Linnet, 2008; Potenza et al., 2001; Tavares et al., 2003). Although treatment seekers are not 
representative of the population at large (Berkson, 1946), other general population studies show that there is an 
association between playing EGMs and experiencing gambling-related problems. However, these problem gambling rates 
often are less than other types of gambling activities. For instance, in their report on the British Gambling Prevalence Study, 
Wardle et al. (2007) noted that 2.6% of individuals who reported playing EGMs met criteria for problem gambling, 
compared to 7.4% of individuals participating in online gambling, 5.2% of those who bet on dog races, and 5.2% of those 
who played table games in a casino. In the 2009 Survey of the Nature and Extent of Gambling, and Problem Gambling, in 
the Australian Capital Territory, Davidson and Rodgers (2010) found that 1.7% of individuals reporting EGM use met 
Canadian Problem Gambling Index criteria for problem gambling, compared to 3.0% for bingo, 2.1% for Keno, and 2.1% of 
casino type games on the internet. Research has determined that broader gambling patterns, such as “involvement” (i.e., 
number of gambling activities during the past year) explain much of the relationship between playing particular games and 
the experience of gambling-related problems (LaPlante, Nelson, LaBrie, & Shaffer, 2011). However, even after controlling 
for gambling involvement, past year EGM play often continues to be a significant, albeit weakened, predictor of the 
experience of gambling-related problems. Davidson and Rodgers (2010) also reported that 92.2% of individuals that met 
criteria for moderate risk and problem gambling reported playing EGMs in the past year, compared to 38.1% of low risk or 
not problem gamblers. Hence, it is possible that EGM play is a marker for people who are at risk for gambling-related 
problems. It also is possible that EGM play could be a factor in the development of gambling-related problems. In some 
cases, individuals’ specific risk factors and environmental pressures might amplify or attenuate the role of EGM play. 

 
People have speculated about why EGMs might create risk for their users. Researchers have identified a variety of EGM 
characteristics that they believe might play a role in establishing and reinforcing problematic gambling behavior. For 
example, players betting on EGMs can independently increase their rate of betting. An increased rate of betting can result 
in an increased number of plays. In contrast, the speed at which people place bets in dealer-led table games is limited by 
the speed of the dealer and the time it takes for the people involved to read the cards or dice and determine a winner. 
Additionally, players can underestimate the number of games played, potentially leading to increased monetary loss 
(Ladouceur & Sévigny, 2005). Compared to other slower-paced types of gambling (e.g., card games), EGMs display results, 
identify winners, and award payouts with relative immediacy. This speed of play can reinforce repetitive play patterns. Less 
time between the initiation of the bet and the outcome can lead to an increased play rate (Chóliz, 2010), perhaps due to 
the strength of the association between the operant (i.e., game) and the reinforcer (e.g., credits, sounds, lights, etc.). 
Sounds associated with wins on EGMs can provide positive reinforcement, increase arousal as measured by heart rate and 
skin conductance, and cause players to overestimate their number of wins (Dixon, MacLaren, Jarick, Fugelsang, & Harrigan, 
2013). Finally, EGMs can employ “near misses” to reinforce players’ behavior. A near miss can present as all but one symbol 
matching across reels, with the final matching symbol landing immediately below or above the payoff line. Near misses 
often are interpreted differently than standard losses, and can reinforce players’ belief that they are due for a win, 

potentially encouraging them to continue playing (Parke & Griffiths, 2004). Partial losses or “losses disguised as wins” also 
can occur on EGMs that allow multiple betting lines. We can define partial losses as a player winning an amount less than 
the total amount bet1. With partial losses, the EGM displays the same sounds and animations as a standard win. Therefore, 

 
 

1 For example, suppose that a gambler is playing 50 lines per spin on a machine with a betting unit of $0.01 ($0.50 total per spin). If one of 
those lines has a payout of $0.10, another has a payout of $0.20, and the gambler loses on the other forty-eight ($0.30 won total), then the 



12  

players can experience these partial losses as wins. Partial losses can result in increased reinforcement of gambling 
behavior and overestimation of number of wins accumulated during a gambling session (Dixon, Harrigan, Sandhu, Collins, & 
Fugelsang, 2010). Notably, decreasing reel spin speed to slow the overall gambling experience has not been shown to be 
effective in reducing gambling-related problems (Blaszczynski & Nower, 2002). More research is necessary to fully 
understand the relationships between such game characteristics and gambling behavior. 

 
The literature focusing on EGMs still includes many unanswered questions. For instance, although treatment seekers are 
likely to implicate EGMs as a contributor to their problems, some research suggests the general population rates of EGM- 
related gambling disorder are comparable to that of other types of gambling. Dowling, Smith, and Thomas (2005) were 
unable to find conclusive evidence that EGMs stimulate higher rates of addiction compared with other types of casino 
gambling. In their review of the Productivity Commission (1999) data, they found that rates of problem gambling among 
EGM users were similar or less than rates among users of most other types of gambling. Volberg (1997) reported similar 
results in her examination of gambling and problem gambling patterns in Oregon. Other work raises questions about 
treatment seeker findings more generally. Abbott (2006) suggested that increased treatment seeking associated with EGM 
use might be explained by increased availability (i.e., machine to person ratio), compared to other types of gambling, or just 
increased popularity. Nonetheless, as noted previously, if EGM use is a predictor of gambling-related problems, more 
evidence is necessary to determine the nature of the causal relationship, and how it intersects with environment and 
individual risk factors (Welte et al., 2015; White et al., 2006). Finally, not all EGMs share every feature or gambling 
characteristic, and some of the potentially relevant gambling characteristics are not exclusive to EGMs. Consider video 
poker (a type of EGM) and blackjack (a table game). In both games, there are basic strategy guidelines that people can 
memorize (i.e., which cards to hold when in video poker; when to hit, stand, double-down, split and surrender in blackjack) 
and then recall and implement quickly. In both, experienced players and experts can play significantly more hands per hour 
than beginners. 

 
1.3. Play Management 

Although there remains much to learn about the specific causal role of EGMs in the development of risky and excessive 
gambling behavior, key stakeholders already have been exploring ways to mitigate EGM-related harm. In theory, one 
potential way to limit the risks associated with gambling is provide tools that facilitate gamblers’ ability to manage their 
own gambling behavior. A common description of these management tools is “pre-commitment.” Ladouceur et al. (2012) 
define pre-commitment as “a system that enables gamblers to set money and time limits expenditure prior to the 
commencement of a session of play. It is based on the principle that decisions relating to expenditure (a) ought to be made 
in a state of non-emotional arousal, and (b) once made, must be adhered to for the remainder of the session” (p. 2). Pre- 
commitment systems are intended to prevent excessive time and monetary loss among gamblers who have difficulty with 
self-control and to make gamblers think about implementing budgeting techniques before they play Ladouceur et al. 
(2012). More specifically, “Pre-commitment is an RG [responsible gambling] tool that applies to certain forms of gambling 
offered by both land-based and online gaming operators. Depending on the gaming venue or website, spending limits can 
include deposit, play, loss, win and bet limits. Time limits can be made for a session of play within daily, weekly, and 
monthly time frames” (Ladouceur, Shaffer, Blaszczynski, & Shaffer, 2016). 

 
Pre-commitment systems typically are built into or on top of their host casino’s player tracking or customer rewards 
systems (e.g., Plainridge Park Casino’s Marquee Rewards program). After a user enrolls in a pre-commitment system and 
sets limits (e.g., stop-losses, time limits), when the user approaches or reaches one of these limits, the system alerts the 
user. The nature and formats of these alerts vary system to system. Some allow gamblers to monitor their gambling 
behavior by looking at an on-screen clock, timer, or dollar meter (Blaszczynski, Gainsbury, & Karlov, 2014; Ladouceur et al., 
2012; Ladouceur & Sévigny, 2005). Others use pop-up messages or warnings (Auer, Schneeberger, & Griffiths, 2012; Broda 

 

result of the spin is the gambler's net loss of $0.20. Depending on the design of the game, the EGM might still flash or highlight the two winning 
lines, making it look to the untrained eye that the gambler was a [net] winner. 



13  

et al., 2008; Kim, Wohl, Stewart, Sztainert, & Gainsbury, 2014). Ladouceur et al. (2012) identified two aspects that 
researchers and others can use to classify or show the difference between pre-commitment systems. Specifically, all pre- 
commitment tools are either (1) full or partial, and either (2) mandatory or voluntary. With a full pre-commitment system, 
once users reach one of their designated limits, the system prevents them from continuing to play, either on their current 
machine or on another machine in the gambling venue. Said another way, users face a “hard stop” when they reach one of 
their limits. In contrast, with a partial pre-commitment system, users have the discretion to continue playing beyond their 
designated limits. The system merely sends users notifications comparing their play to their limits (e.g., when the amount 
they spend is greater than one of their monetary limits). A mandatory (or non-voluntary) pre-commitment system requires 
all players using the player tracking or customer rewards system to set limits. In contrast, a voluntary pre-commitment 
system gives gamblers the choice of whether to set limits. 

 
During early October 2014, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission adopted the term play management in place of pre- 
commitment. Consequently, in this report, we will use the term play management instead of pre-commitment. 

 

1.3.1. Scientific Evaluation of Play Management Systems 

The scientific evaluation of play management systems is quite limited. As a result, we still know little about the likely uptake 
of voluntary play management, and the types of people who might use such systems. In addition, there is scant research 
related to the system characteristics that are well received, and the potential impacts of play management on actual 
gambling behavior. As such, play management systems remain an intervention type in need of in-depth scientific 
investigation. 

 
Research suggests that gamblers are open to the availability of responsible gambling systems in gaming venues, including 
play management. For example, Bernhard, Lucas, Dongsuk, and Kim (2006), reported that about 75% of all participants had 
a positive impression of a responsible gambling device on a video lottery machine. Although many people reported 
favorably about the system, few recreational gamblers (i.e., those who did not report gambling-related problems) said they 
were likely to use the tool. Other research shows that research participants who actually received pop-up messages related 
to their limits in fact said that the tool was helpful in monitoring monetary behavior (Wohl, Gainsbury, Stewart, & Sztainert, 
2013). However, although the majority of gamblers have a favorable attitude towards the concept of pre-commitment 
(Ladouceur et al., 2012; Schellinck & Shrans, 1998), the impact of such systems might not be universal. Low risk gamblers 
who might benefit from the tool tend to perceive pre-commitment as unnecessary for their own gambling (Omnifacts 
Bristol Research, 2007). Even worse, some problem gamblers have mentioned being worried that loss alerts actually could 
cause them harm, such as by inducing chasing losses or re-enforcing incorrect assumptions about odds of winning 
(Bernhard et al., 2006). More than one study (Omnifacts Bristol Research, 2005, 2007; Schottler Consulting, 2010b) 
reported that high-risk gamblers set higher limits and were more likely to exceed their limits in larger monetary amounts 
than their low risk counterparts. It is imperative that researchers examine these systems to determine whether their 
impacts vary for vulnerable users. 

 
Few studies have examined the types of features that people who use play management software might favor. As 
mentioned earlier, some play management systems are quite flexible for users. That is, gamblers might have the 
opportunity to engage in different types of limits, and opt in to different types of budget-related consequences, or have 
different limit-related information delivered to them. Bernhard et al. (2006) examined the utilization of a voluntary 
responsible gambling device on video lottery machines in a laboratory casino. Participants could choose to interact with a 
variety of features such as: setting time/monetary limits, viewing summary expenditure statements, and viewing limiting 
options. Roughly half (51%) of all participants chose to interact with any of these features while gambling. The most popular 
feature that people did seek out was the summary statement (i.e., a description of the gamblers wins and losses in the past 
day, week, month or year); about one third (34%) of participants chose to use this feature. A minority set monetary limits 
(3.0%) and time limits (1.3%). People who had gambling-related problems were more likely to use limiting features 
(Bernhard et al., 2006). Other research shows that, in general, when given the option, gamblers are much more likely to set 

http://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/Informing-Play-Management-Systems-International-Review-of-Limit-Setting-Tools-10-23-14.pdf


14  

a monetary limit (roughly 80%) than a time limit (between 20% and 30%) (Lalande & Ladouceur, 2011; McDonnell Phillips, 
2006). 

 
Despite interest and generally positive feelings toward play management tools, studies that examined uptake of play 
management systems typically report limited voluntary engagement among gamblers. One evaluation in Australia found 
that 6 months after implementation 2% of rewards cardholders at one venue (N = 17,000) had signed up for the program 
(Schottler Consulting, 2009). Other South Australian government funded studies have reported that recruitment is a major 
barrier for the study of and implementation of voluntary play management systems (Responsible Gambling Working Party, 
2010a, 2010b; Schottler Consulting, 2010b). Research on EGMs in Nova Scotia reported that the use of monetary and time 
limits varied widely among gamblers, from 3% to 17% (Bernhard et al., 2006; Omnifacts Bristol Research, 2007). Similarly, 
research suggests that there is limited involvement in play management opportunities among Internet gamblers. Nelson et 
al. (2008), for example, reported that about 1% of Internet gamblers in a sample of nearly 47,000 elected to set their own 
gambling limits. Ladouceur et al. (2012) raised questions about the attractiveness of play management and why 
recruitment/retention remains low even with the use of incentives. Reported rates of gambler engagement with play 
management systems raise concerns about whether voluntary programs can successfully reach potential users in a cost- 
effective manner. Additional research is needed. 

 
Studies examining involuntary play management tools report similar levels of engagement. Internet betting service 
providers often impose involuntary deposit limits and enable voluntary limits, for example. Research suggests that very few 
people (1.2%) set personal limits (Nelson et al., 2008). Likewise, few players (0.3%) actually attempt to exceed involuntary 
limits, or their own personal limits (Broda et al., 2008). Voluntary play management tools such as Playscan, displayed higher 
engagement when users first encountered the tool; however, engagement decreased with each repeated use of a feature 
(Forsström, Jansson-Fröjmark, Hesser, & Carlbring, 2017). This could suggest that players intend to use the tool’s features 
to limit their play, but might continue to play while ignoring the tool. 

 
Finally, effectiveness research suggests that play management engagement is associated with inconsistent outcomes. 
Gamblers report increased awareness of their behavior and confidence while playing with player card-based play 
management systems (Schottler Consulting, 2010a). Similarly, Omnifacts Bristol Research (2005, 2007) reported that 
gamblers using their player cards to interact with self-limiting and other responsible gambling functions found that the play 
management system helped them gamble more responsibly, maintain limits, and spend less time and money gambling. 
Pop-up message systems also had an impact on how much time people spent gambling. Kim et al. (2014) found that among 
a small sample of college students, those who set and received time limit notifications spent less time gambling than those 
who did not set or receive at time limit notification. Auer and Griffiths (2014) also found that a small proportion of their 
sample was influenced to cease play after receiving a notification related to how many consecutive games the patron had 
played. With respect to play management options on the Internet, Nelson et al. (2008) reported that approximately 10% of 
those who set their own limits discontinued gambling at the website entirely. Among that same sample, self-limiters 
reduced the frequency of days they placed a bet and the number of bets placed per day after imposing their limits. Since 
research shows that a minority of gamblers use play management systems, the effectiveness of such systems for gamblers, 
in aggregate, is still generally unknown. More empirical evidence is needed to consider play management as a beneficial 
preventative resource (Ladouceur et al., 2012). This report contributes to that needed evidence base. 

 
1.4. Current Study 

The Reno model defines responsible gambling as, “…policies and practices designed to prevent and reduce potential harms 
associated with gambling; these policies and practices often incorporate a diverse range of interventions designed to 
promote consumer protection, community/consumer awareness and education, and access to efficacious treatment” 

(Blaszczynski, Ladouceur, & Shaffer, 2004, p. 308). Although a variety of forces (e.g., public responsibility, public opinion, 
legislative requirements, business requirements, etc.) can encourage jurisdictions to employ responsible gambling 
interventions prior to their full evaluation, such evaluation is a necessary activity to assure safe and effective public health 



15  

outcomes (Blaszczynski et al., 2004; Ladouceur, Blaszczynski, Shaffer, & Fong, 2016; Shaffer, Ladouceur, Blaszczynski, & 
Whyte, 2015). In the absence of independent evaluation, it is not possible to know whether an intervention has a positive, 
negative, neutral, or complex effect on the key outcomes. 

 
In the spirit of this model and consistent with the state’s Responsible Gambling Framework, the purpose of the current 
study is to examine the initial introduction of Massachusetts’s play management system, PlayMyWay. In law and policy 
there are numerous examples where well-intentioned programs proposed for the public good lead to unintended negative 
consequences, what some in the prevention field call backfiring (Stibe & Cugelman, 2016). For example, evaluations of 
alcohol warning advertisements have found mixed results. Light/moderate drinkers exposed to an alcohol warning message 
increase their negative attitudes and decrease their positive attitudes towards drinking, while heavy drinkers actually 
decrease their negative attitudes towards alcohol (Brown, Stautz, Hollands, Winpenny, & Marteau, 2016). Similarly, 
backfiring has been seen with tobacco control messaging where graphic images can lead to smokers reacting defensively 
(van ‘t Riet & Ruiter, 2013), experiencing cravings (Loeber et al., 2011) and having positive cognitions (Süssenbach, 
Niemeier, & Glock, 2013). It remains to be determined whether play management systems can help gamblers select 
budgets and adhere to them as intended, without generating adverse effects or unintended consequences. Therefore, 
evaluation of play management systems, such as PlayMyWay, in general is essential to ensuring the public’s health. Such 
evaluation of PlayMyWay also can be used as a platform for discussion about how well PlayMyWay, specifically, achieves 
such goals and how other program-specific goals might emerge from such study outcomes. 

 
Because the available scientific evidence associated with play management tools is limited, mixed, and inadequate for 
making large-scale intervention decisions, it is important to build the evaluation of PlayMyWay on a strong foundation. To 
accomplish this, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission and the Division on Addiction are cooperating in a multi-year 
research and development agenda for PlayMyWay. Our first analyses will be descriptive and comparative. This strategy will 
provide a basic understanding of the patrons who enroll in PlayMyWay and how they use it. As we will describe in greater 
detail later, this report provides the preliminary results of a secondary data analysis of player information -- both 
PlayMyWay and non-users -- collected from June 8, 2016 through January 31, 2017. This information includes basic 
demographics, financial transaction information, game types, gambling behavior (e.g., wagering, losses), and PlayMyWay 
system activity records (e.g., budgets and budget sizes). 

 
The Division’s evaluative process of responsible gambling initiatives typically begins with preliminary assessments of a 
program’s safety, impact, and effectiveness (Gray, LaPlante, Keating, & Shaffer, 2016, forthcoming; Gray, LaPlante, & 
Shaffer, forthcoming). The Massachusetts Gaming Commission suggests that "PlayMyWay is intended to help players make 
decisions about gambling, allow them to monitor and understand their playing behavior in real time, and support their 
decisions." This general description of the purpose of PlayMyWay provides an opportunity to examine PlayMyWay in 
multiple ways. As a first step in examining PlayMyWay, we had the opportunity to analyze actual gambling records and 
PlayMyWay system records. This approach is unique with respect to access to and types of data (i.e., in vivo records, rather 
than self-report). However, as described fully in Appendix A, the data available to the Division for these assessment 
analyses provided inconsistent and inadequate opportunities to examine each of these evaluative areas. Hence, in this 
preliminary report, we focus upon describing the following areas: 



16  

(1) Sample Characteristics – To describe key aspects of the sample as a whole, and by PlayMyWay enrollment, 
including characteristics such as gender, age, and region. 

(2) Game Characteristics – To describe a detailed description of the gambling activity environment (e.g., numbers and 
types of machines, and betting options) in which the data collection took place. 

(3) Cash Activity – To describe how individuals in our sample as a whole, and by PlayMyWay enrollees, interacted with 
the available gambling machines, in terms of financial transactions, including bill insertions, funds withdrawals, and 
ticket redemptions. 

(4) Gambling Activity – To describe the gambling activity of our study sample in general, and PlayMyWay enrollees in 
particular, such as PPC visitation and wagering behavior. 

(5) Budget & Notification Activity – To describe PlayMyWay enrollment trends and budget activity, including numbers 
of notifications received, change occurrences, and compliance. 

 

 

2.1 Methodological Summary 

This report includes secondary analyses of the Marquee Rewards betting records and PlayMyWay records of 101,024 
individuals who gambled at PPC between June 8, 2016 and January 31, 2017. To help readers understand the progression of 
this report, we provide a brief roadmap here. Specifically, we begin with a general overview of the study environment. This 
includes descriptions of the participants for whom we received data (Section 2.2.1) and the study location (Section 2.2.2), 
an in-depth explanation of the mechanics of the PlayMyWay system (Section 2.2.3), some information on the databases at 
PPC that served as the sources of the data (Section 2.2.4), and a statement about IRB oversight (2.2.5). Next, we provide 
definitions and explanations for all variables (Sections 2.3.1 and 2.3.2). After that, we list the criteria used to generate the 
subgroups of participants and working data files used to conduct our analyses. Specifically, we set the beginning and end of 
the analytic study period (i.e., the time period over which we studied participants’ behavior) (Section 2.4.1), introduce the 
subgroups of participants used in the analyses of demographics, financial activity, and gambling activity (Section 2.4.2), 
detail the filters we used to clean the data files containing records of interactions with PlayMyWay itself (Section 2.4.3), and 
present detailed descriptions of our analytic samples (Section 2.2.4). Finally, we lay out our analytic plan, listing the 
analyses we will perform using the participants’ demographics, financial activity, and gambling activity (Section 2.5.1), and 
the analyses of their interactions with PlayMyWay (Section 2.5.2.). 

 
2.2. Procedural Details 

 
2.2.1. Participants 

We received data for 140,197 individuals who had joined the Marquee Rewards program and gambled at PPC between 
January 1, 2016 and January 31, 2017. Of these, 101,024 gambled at PPC between June 8, 2016 and January 31, 2017, the 
study period. Additional participant characteristics are available in Section 3.1.1, Sample Characteristics. 

 
2.2.2. Setting 

PPC served as the setting of this report. PPC is a casino that opened in Plainville, Massachusetts during June of 2015. PPC 
offers live harness horse racing April-November and simulcast racing year-round. In addition, PPC offers electronic gaming 
and acts as a state lottery retailer. The types of available EGMs include electronic table games (e.g., blackjack, three card 
poker, craps, roulette), video poker, and slot machines. 

 
2.2.3. Play Management Software 

PlayMyWay is a product of Scientific Games. In collaboration with the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Scientific Games 
adapted its play management budgeting software for the Massachusetts gambling environment. In brief, the software 
allows individuals to voluntarily create a computer-assisted budget system for daily, weekly, and monthly financial budget 
amounts. Individuals who enroll in PlayMyWay receive notifications when their gambling activity approaches, reaches, 

2. Methods 



17  

and/or exceeds their self-identified budgetary amounts. Users can play through budget notifications; that is, the 
PlayMyWay system does not force a hard stop once users exceed their self-identified budget points. 

 
Release and Operating Characteristics 

PlayMyWay became available at PPC on June 8, 2016 (Massachusetts Gaming Commission, 2016a; Metzger, 2016).2 

PlayMyWay is only available to Marquee Rewards cardholders. Marquee Rewards is a free program that allows registered 
individuals to collect rewards and benefits for gambling activity at PPC and other Penn National properties. Cardholders can 
enroll in PlayMyWay by using a GameSense kiosk at PPC or through touchscreens built into the EGMs at PPC. Cardholders 
are invited to enroll in PlayMyWay once every 30 days when they insert the rewards card. This invitation cycle started for all 
cardholders the first day that PlayMyWay became available at PPC. 

 
Marquee Rewards cardholders who sign up for PlayMyWay can set daily, weekly, and/or monthly budgets. They can choose 
to set just one budget type, two out of the three, or set all budget types. These budgets are meant to represent how large a 
net loss (i.e., total amount wagered minus total amount won) a member is willing to accumulate during the given time 
periods. For example, suppose that a cardholder set a daily budget of $50, played 200 spins at 20 lines per spin at $0.05 per 
line ((200 spins)(20 lines/spin)($0.05/line) = $200), won $100 on one spin, won $60 on another, and won nothing on the 
other 198 spins ($160 won total). Then that player would have a net loss of $200 - $160 = $40 that day, and would not be 
over his or her daily budget of $50. 

 
Players can change their PlayMyWay budgets at any time, either at a gambling machine or at one of the GameSense kiosks. 
These changes also can include activating or deactivating budgets entirely. For example, a user can switch from having a 
daily budget of $100, a weekly budget of $500, and no monthly budget, to having no daily budget limit, a weekly budget of 
$300, and a monthly budget of $1000. 

 
As PlayMyWay users gamble and use the machines on the PPC floor, information on their play is stored on two computer 
servers: the casino management (i.e., ACSC) server and the PlayMyWay server. The ACSC server stores records of bets (e.g., 
spins on an EGM) and wins (i.e., cash awarded for winning lines). The PlayMyWay server processes information from the 
ACSC server and maintains updated sums denoting how much the user has lost over the current one-day, one-week, and 
one-month time periods. The one-day periods begin at 6:00 a.m. (i.e., 06:00:00). The one-week periods begin on Sunday at 
6:00 a.m. (e.g., the week of Sunday, October 15 began at 2017-10-15 06:00:00 and ended at 2017-10-22 05:59:59). The 
one-month periods begin on the first of the month at 6:00 a.m. (e.g., the December 2016 period started at 2016-12-01 
06:00:00 and ended at 2017-01-01 05:59:59). As described in more detail below, the PlayMyWay server uses this 
information to generate and send budget-related messages. The PlayMyWay server also stores information related to 
individuals’ PlayMyWay activity, such as enrollment and budget changes. 

 
The PlayMyWay system sends notifications to its users as they reach various percentages (e.g., 50%, 75%, 100%, 125%, 
150%, etc.) of the budgets they set. Whenever a PlayMyWay user’s net loss changes from below one of these percentages 
to at or above one of these percentages, a pop-up appears telling the user which budget triggered the notification (i.e., 
daily, weekly, or monthly). There are three primary types of notifications: approaching, reached, and exceeded. The 
approaching notification informs players when they are nearing a budget that they set and how close they are to reaching 
that budget (e.g., “You have spent 75% of your daily budget.”). Reached notifications inform players when they have spent 
as much as the budget that they set (e.g., “You have reached 100% of your daily budget.”). Finally, exceeded notifications 
inform players about budgets they have exceeded and the percentages by which they have gone over (e.g., “You have spent 
125% of your daily budget.”). 

 
 

2 Correspondence with developers at Scientific Games stated that PlayMyWay went live on June 8. Our data confirms that gambling 
activity with PlayMyWay active occurred on June 8. Most press releases state that PlayMyWay was first available on June 9. It is possible 
that June 9 was the first full day (6:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m.) that PlayMyWay was active. 

https://www.sggaming.com/Systems/Accounting/Slot-Management/ACSC


18  

The notification system is responsive to any budget-related target points. This means that a user can receive multiple 
notifications in a row for the same budget target. For example, suppose that a user set a daily budget of $100, spent $120, 
and then spent another $10 each on the next two spins without winning anything. Then the user would receive a 
notification after the first $10 spin (net loss of $130, moving from 120% of the budget to 130%, crossing the 125% 
threshold), but not after the second $10 spin (moving from 130% to 140%)3. It is possible for a user to receive the same 
notification again or even a notification with a smaller percentage than the previous one. For example, if this same user 
won $55 on his next $10 spin (net loss = $140 + $10 - $55 = $95), and then won nothing on a $10 spin after that (net loss = 
$95 + $10 = $105), then that user would receive a message notifying him that he was above 100% of his daily budget. If this 
user’s running net loss continued to oscillate between below $100 and above $100, then each time the running net loss 
rose from below $100 to above $100, the user would receive another reached notification for his daily budget of $100. 

 
When a Marquee Rewards cardholder enrolls in PlayMyWay, the PlayMyWay server uses records stored on the ACSC server 
to calculate that member’s net loss for that day, week, and month, up to the time of enrollment. This method can yield 
budget-related notifications at the time of enrollment. For example, suppose that someone spent $100 on September 6, 
2016, spent another $20 on Monday, September 19, 2016, spent another $25 the morning of Wednesday, September 21, 
and then enrolled in Play My Way in the evening of September 21. Then that user would have already accumulated an 
initial daily net loss of $25, an initial weekly net loss of $305, and an initial monthly net loss of $405 at the time of 
enrollment. After the Play Management system calculates these initial sums, it compares these sums to any budgets the 
user sets. If the user is already above 50% on any budget, then the system will immediately display the appropriate 
notifications. For example, if the above user set a weekly budget of $15 and a monthly budget of $500, then the user would 
be over 200% of the weekly budget and over 75% of the monthly budget, and the system would notify the user with the 
corresponding exceeded and approaching notifications for the week and month, respectively. 

 
Recording data and updating net losses 

The ACSC server records each time Marquee Rewards cardholders insert or remove their cards from machines on the casino 
floor. It also records each time Marquee Rewards cardholders add value (e.g., inserting a dollar bill or a cash voucher) or 
remove value (i.e., printing out a voucher to be converted to cash or inserted into a machine for further play) from a 
machine and how much Marquee Rewards cardholders wager and win. 

 
How often an EGM sends information to the ACSC server is different for PlayMyWay users and non-users. For non-users, 
EGMs send data to the ACSC server when the Marquee Rewards cardholder removes the card or when the machine has 
been left idle long enough for the card to be considered abandoned. For these players, the EGM sends the ACSC server the 
following information: (1) Marquee Rewards number, (2) the type of machine (i.e., type of game cabinet and the game 
software running on it), (3) the date and time of the data transmission, (4) the total amount wagered since the last 
transmission for that Marquee Rewards member/machine pair, and (5) the total amount won in that same time period. 
Returning to the example of 200 spins at 20 lines of $0.05, this means that if the user removed the Marquee Rewards card 
after the 200 spins, then the line of data recorded on the ACSC server for this event would have the Marquee Rewards 
number, the name of the cabinet and software, the date and time of the card removal, $200 for the total amount bet, and 
$160 for the total amount won. 

 
For PlayMyWay users, EGMs send data to the ACSC server more frequently. The PlayMyWay server keeps track of the 
budgets that PlayMyWay users set and the corresponding one-day, one-week, and one-month running net losses when 
applicable. If each of a PlayMyWay user’s running net losses are below 90% of their corresponding budgets, then the EGM 
sends data to the ACSC and PlayMyWay servers after either three spins or after ten minutes, whichever comes first. For 

 

3 Whether the user received a notification for a running net loss of 75% or 100% of the daily budget (i.e., at running net losses of over 
$75 and $100, respectively) on the way to $120 would have depended upon the amounts bet per spin and the results of those spins. 
The mechanics of exactly how and when the Play My Way system calculates running net losses and compares them to users’ budgets 
will be covered later in the section Recording data and updating net losses. 



19  

example, suppose that a user set a daily budget of $50, no weekly budget, and a monthly budget of $200, and had one-day, 
one-week, and one-month running net losses of $10, $20, and $100. Then that user would be at 20% of his daily budget and 
50% of his monthly budget. The $20 one-week net loss would not matter, because the user did not set a corresponding 
weekly budget. If this user played three spins that each cost a total of $0.50 (e.g., 50 lines at $0.01 per line), and won $0.00, 
$0.25, and $0.10 on the three spins, then the EGM would send the servers data denoting that the user had bet $1.50 and 
won $0.35. The PlayMyWay server would then update the one-day, one-week, and one-month running net losses to 
$11.15, $21.35, and $101.15. 

 
Once the PlayMyWay server detects that one of a user’s updated running net losses is at or above 90% of its corresponding 
budget amount, the data delivery frequency changes and the EGM sends data to the PlayMyWay and ACSC servers after 
one spin or one minute of idle time (again, whichever comes first). It is possible for the EGM to return to sending data every 
three spins or ten minutes, if each of the running net losses that were above 90% of their corresponding budgets drop to 
below 90% of their corresponding budgets. This can occur, for example, if a user wins a large enough prize on a spin 
(lowering all three net losses), or if the one-day, one-week, and/or one-month periods end and the running net losses reset 
to $0. 

 
Notifications do not necessarily progress from approaching, to reaching, and then to exceeding. Consider the example 
where a user set a daily budget of $100 and eventually obtained a running one-day net loss of $120. Depending upon how 
the user obtained that net loss of $120, the user may or may not have received a notification for crossing 75% of the daily 
budget. For example, suppose that the user climbed to a net loss of $120 solely through spins that each cost $1. Then the 
user would pass through $50, $75, and $100 and would receive notifications for 50%, 75%, and 100%. On the other hand, 
suppose that an EGM sent data to the PlayMyWay server when the net loss was $60, and then user won nothing on three 
consecutive spins that cost $20 each. In this case, the EGM would not send data to the PlayMyWay server until after the 
three spins were completed. Therefore, the user would jump from a net loss of $60 to a net loss of $120, and would only 
receive a notification for a net loss of more than 100% of the daily budget (i.e., no notification for 75%). 

 
2.2.4. Records 

With support from Scientific Games, PPC made available two primary types of records for the analyses contained within this 
report: (1) Marquee Rewards records and (2) PlayMyWay records. The Marquee Rewards records provide information 
about individual player characteristics and gambling activity (e.g., types of games, bet sizes, etc.). Some records pertain to 
the full sample, and are independent of PlayMyWay, and some records were delivered separately by PlayMyWay 
enrollment status. That is, one subset of Marquee Rewards gambling activity data pertained to activity for individuals who 
were not enrolled in PlayMyWay (i.e., not enrolled) and the other to activity for individuals who were enrolled in 
PlayMyWay (i.e., enrolled). Individuals could appear in both data subsets, for example, if they had their Marquee Rewards 
card and played at PPC before enrolling in PlayMyWay. 

 
The PlayMyWay records provide details about individual player PlayMyWay actions (e.g., setting a budget) and system 
notifications (e.g., exceeding a budget). At the time of this report, the Marquee Rewards and PlayMyWay records were 
wholly independent. The Division did not have access to any means of linking these record sets. Therefore, it was not 
possible to identify how specific PlayMyWay actions recorded in the PlayMyWay files related to specific gambling activity 
records recorded in the Marquee Rewards files. 

 
The records made available to the Division for secondary data analyses included records for 140,197 Marquee Rewards 
members who visited PPC during the period of January 1, 2016 to January 31, 2017. More specifically, PPC delivered initial 
data files covering Marquee Rewards cardholder activity from January 1, 2016 through June 30, 2016, and then delivered 
new files covering each month after that. That is, for each of the data file types, we received one file covering activity 
during January 2016 through June 2016, and then a series of subsequent files covering one-month periods (i.e., July 1, 2016 
to July 31, 2016, August 1, 2016 to August 31, 2016, etc.). As we inspected and analyzed the data files, we maintained 



20  

communication with PPC and Scientific Games regarding issues and inconsistencies in the data files that we encountered. 
When Scientific Games and PPC solved problems that we raised, we received corrected data files for further inspection and 
analysis. 

 
2.2.5. Human Subjects Protection 

The Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the Cambridge Health Alliance, via expedited review, approved our research 
activities (i.e., secondary analysis of Marquee Rewards and PlayMyWay records). 

 
2.3. Measures 

In this section, we will describe the available data from each set of records. 
 

2.3.1. Marquee Rewards Betting Records 
 

Sample Characteristics 

The available sample characteristics were part of the provided Marquee Rewards records. These records included gender 
(male or female), age (year of birth), and region (zip code). 

 
Game Characteristics 

We obtained information from the Marquee Rewards records related to the characteristics of the games available at PPC. 
For all games, the records contained game identifiers (i.e., unique identifiers for type of game), cabinet names (i.e., 
inclusive of manufacturer name, model number, and cabinet type), and game descriptions (i.e., name or description of the 
software that comprises the game). Additionally, for slot machines (SMs), the records contained betting units (i.e., the 
amount bet on a single line) and maximum numbers of lines for a single spin. For electronic table games (ETGs – e.g., 
blackjack and roulette), the records included the minimum allowable bets. For video poker terminals (VPTs), the records 
included the betting unit (i.e., the amount bet on a single hand). 

 
Cash Activity 

Similarly, we obtained information from the Marquee Rewards records related to insertions and removals of Marquee 
Rewards cards and depositing and withdrawing funds from gambling machines. Each row of data contained a player 
identifier, a game identifier, a time stamp, an action (card insertion, card removal, abandoned card, [dollar] bills deposited, 
tickets redeemed, funds withdrawn), and a dollar amount (for bills deposited, tickets redeemed, and funds withdrawn). 

 
Gambling Activity 

As mentioned earlier in Section 2.2.4, from the Marquee Rewards records, we also had access to tables of gambling activity 
specific to cardholders who were enrolled in PlayMyWay, and to gambling activity specific to cardholders who were not 

enrolled in or un-enrolled from PlayMyWay (i.e., individuals who were not PlayMyWay users at different points in time). 
Cardholders’ gambling activity in each of these subsets was dependent upon different criteria. The files for gambling activity 
while PlayMyWay was active contained all cardholders’ activities while they were enrolled in PlayMyWay. These files did 
not contain any activity from these cardholders from either before they enrolled or after any un-enrollment. For brevity, we 
will refer to the data within these files as PlayMyWay gambling activity data. The files for gambling activity without 
PlayMyWay active contained all gambling activity for all cardholders who were not active PlayMyWay users at the times of 
each month’s data pull4. For brevity, we will refer to the data within these files as non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data. 
For some cardholders, the criteria used to generate these gambling activity files led to serious flaws in the data, which 
limited our ability to use the data. For more on these data abstraction code design flaws, see Appendix A. These data files, 

 
4 PPC personnel delivered data for July 2016 through September 2016 on 2016-11-02, data for October 2016 on 2016-11-03, data for 
January 2016 through June 2016 and November 2016 on 2016-12-01, data for December 2016 on 2017-01-03, and data for January 
2017 on 2017-02-01. 



21  

both for when PlayMyWay was active and inactive, included player identifiers (i.e., unique identifiers for each player), game 
identifiers (i.e., unique identifiers for type of game), amount wagered (i.e., total amount bet over a series of spins or plays)5, 
amount awarded (i.e., total amount awarded for winning lines on a slot machine or winning bets at an electronic table 
game, over a series of spins or plays), date of activity, and time of activity. 

 
It is worth re-stating that the gambling data delivered to us for those individuals who are identified as enrolled in 
PlayMyWay were not provided in a way that allowed us to link to their PlayMyWay records (i.e., 2.2.4. Budget Activity 
records). 

 
2.3.2. PlayMyWay Records 

 

The PlayMyWay Records included a PlayMyWay identifier (i.e., unique identifier for a PlayMyWay enrollee)6, a system 
activity code, a time stamp, and any specifications for any notifications or changes in budgets. System activities include 
enrollments, initial budget amounts, changes in budget amounts, confirmations of changes in budgets, notifications (either 
approaching, reaching, or exceeding a budget), and un-enrollments. Specifications for initial budget amounts or changes in 
budget amounts include the budgets in question (i.e., daily, weekly, monthly) and the new dollar amounts. Specifications 
for notifications include the budget in question and the corresponding percentage spent (e.g., 150% of a daily limit). In the 
data files, these specifications were delivered to us as text strings. Staff at the Division developed a parser to extract the 
budget amounts and percentages from the text.7 We received usable data for June 2016 through January 2017. As noted 
earlier, we are unable to link these records to the Marquee Rewards records. This is because the data were delivered to us 
with two distinct sets of identifiers, one for PlayMyWay and one for Marquee Rewards. 

 
2.4. Data Quality & Sample Definitions 

 
2.4.1 Analytic Study Period 

To accurately compare the gambling behavior of those who were offered PlayMyWay and enrolled to those who were 
offered PlayMyWay and declined, we elected to begin our study period on June 8, 2016 (i.e., the day PlayMyWay was 
released to the casino floor) at midnight (i.e., 2016-06-08 00:00:00). 

The budget activity files for February 2017 and March 2017 did not have the same anonymization scheme that the budget 
activity files for the 2016 files or the January 2017 files. Specifically, in the 2016 files and the January 2017 file, each 
PlayMyWay enrollee was assigned a 32-character ID. In the February 2017 file, each PlayMyWay enrollee was assigned a 40- 
character ID that did not match any of the IDs in any other budget activity file or ACSC data file (i.e., sample characteristics, 
card and cash activity, gambling activity). In the March 2017 file, each PlayMyWay enrollee was denoted by the same 40- 
character ID found in the sample characteristics, card and cash activity, and gambling activity data files. Thus, there was no 
way to connect any Marquee Rewards member’s 2016 or January 2017 budget activity to their February 2017 or March 
2017 data. The longest contiguous period of time for which we could study budget activity behavior was from June 2016 to 
January 2017. For consistency, we also limited our analyses of other data (i.e., data from the ACSC server) to this calendar 
date range (2016-06-08 00:00:00 to 2017-01-31 23:59:59). 

 
 
 

5 For information on how often the machines aggregate amounts bet and amounts won, see Section 2.2.3. 
6 The player identifiers and the PlayMyWay identifiers are not linked. 
7 For example, on one line of data, “Day-TimeSpent:0;Day-NetLoss:150;Day-TurnOver:;Week•TimeSpent:0;Week-NetLoss:159;Week- 
TurnOver:;Month•TimeSpent:0;Month-NetLoss:0;Month-TurnOver:;Consecutive” was the text string. The parser interpreted the “Day- 
NetLoss:150” as a daily budget of $150, the “Week-NetLoss:159” as a weekly budget of $159, and “Month-NetLoss:0” as no monthly 
budget set. While developing and implementing a parser was within the Division staff’s skill set, we recommend that those developing 
pre-commitment systems and pre-commitment data collection systems design more user-friendly data file formats. When data files are 
not in easy-to-use or easy-to-load formats, it adds extra effort and man-hours to the pre-commitment system evaluation process. 



22  

2.4.2. Marquee Rewards Betting Records: Data Review and Data Reduction 
 

Sample Characteristics 

We combined the sample characteristics files into a single data set. Starting with the sample characteristic data file for 
January 2016 through June 2016 and working forward chronologically, we added birth years, residential zip codes, and 
gender data to the list, overwriting previous months’ data with newer data whenever there was a discrepancy. The 

combined sample characteristic data set contained demographics data for 296,068 unique player identifiers. In the data 
import process, there were 33 changes in birth year, 6 changes in gender, and 2,253 changes in zip code. There are 
reasonable explanations for changes in birth year or gender. For example, if a married couple wishes to combine the two 
spouses' Marquee Rewards account into a single account, then PPC might overwrite one spouse's information with the 
other spouse's information. Because we limit our analyses to comparing states, some of the changes or discrepancies in zip 
code might have zero effect on our results. As it stands, 2,292 changes represent changes in a very small fraction of the 
player identifiers in these data files. 

 
Game Characteristics 

We used the game characteristics files to obtain a master list of the types of machines on the casino floor. This master list 
contained data on the number of each kind of machine on the casino floor each month. Differences between one month’s 

numbers of machines and the next month’s numbers signified changes in the composition of the casino floor. Using the 
websites of the manufacturers of the various hardware, we classified each machine as a slot machine (SM), an electronic 
table game (ETG), or a video poker terminal (VPT). This master list contained 531 unique cabinet/software/betting unit 
combinations (i.e., over the period from June 8, 2016 to January 31, 2017, patrons of Plainridge Park Casino had 531 
different games from which to choose). 

 
Cash Activity 

For our analysis of cash activity, we combined the cash activity files, and then removed data pertaining to card insertions, 
card removals, and card abandonment. We then removed any remaining cash activity data timestamped before June 8, 
2016 (i.e., before the beginning of the analytic study period). The resulting data set contained 99,038 unique player 
identifiers. 

 
Gambling Activity 

From the gambling activity data for all of 2016 and January 2017, we obtained a roster of 140,197 unique player identifiers. 
We removed from consideration any gambling activity outside of the analytic study period (i.e., before June 8, 2016 or after 
January 31, 2017). Through this elimination, we removed 39,173 player identifiers from consideration. The remaining 
101,024 player identifiers could be separated into three groups. The first group (i.e., 6,894 identifiers) contained only 
PlayMyWay gambling activity data (i.e., data from after PlayMyWay enrollment, but before any subsequent un-enrollment). 
For each of the identifiers in the second group (i.e., 1,962 identifiers), our data set contained both PlayMyWay gambling 
activity and non-PlayMyWay gambling activity. For those in the third and final group (i.e., 92,168 identifiers), our data set 
only contained non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data (i.e., either the cardholder never enrolled, or had enrolled but then 
un-enrolled before the gambling activity). 

 
We searched the gambling data for every possible combination of month, day, and hour within the study period (i.e., from 
2016-06-08 00:00:00-00:59:59 to 2017-01-31 23:00:00-23:59:59). We noticed significant gaps of time during which the data 
files contained no gambling activity from PlayMyWay users. Specifically, 682 (11.5%) out of the 5,880 possible 
month/day/hour combinations were not found in gambling activity data files for PlayMyWay users. Many of these missing 
hours combined to form contiguous blocks of time. For example, there was no PlayMyWay gambling activity on the 
following days: June 13, July 3 through July 4, September 8 through September 9, and December 17 through December 21. 
Other month/day/hour combinations combined to form sizable blocks within 21 different Friday and Saturday evenings. It is 
possible that some of these time gaps could be reflective of periods during which PlayMyWay users were not actively 



23  

gambling. However, because some gaps span over whole days and others occur during peak gambling time periods, we 
suspect many of them reflect time when the PlayMyWay server was malfunctioning and not recording gambling activity. 
The Massachusetts Gaming Commission was notified when the PlayMyWay system was malfunctioning, but as of the time 
of this report, we do not have the list of such time periods and therefore cannot attempt to match these times to any gaps 
or features in the data.8 It is likely that the PlayMyWay system malfunctioning resulted in losses of PlayMyWay gambling 
activity data during the study period. 

 
2.4.3. PlayMyWay Records: Data Review and Data Reduction 

The raw data contained 449,964 rows of budget activities representing 8,841 unique PlayMyWay identifiers. From this we 
removed 392 rows of budget activities that were timestamped before the beginning of the study period (June 8th, 2016), 
which left 449,572 rows of budget activities representing 8,824 unique PlayMyWay identifiers. Of these 449,572 rows, 
48,161 were duplicates of other rows (i.e., same PlayMyWay identifier, same date and time stamp, same activity and 
specifications). We removed all duplicate copies to obtain a data set containing 401,411 unique budget activities from 8,824 
unique PlayMyWay identifiers. 

 
We found that 1,297 out of the 8,824 users in the budget activity data had records of other budget activities (e.g., receiving 
notifications, changing budgets) that were timestamped before the user's first recorded enrollment. After removing these 
users’ data, our dataset contained 286,644 budget activities from 7,527 users. We found 20 additional users who seemed to 
have either an enrollment or un-enrollment that was missing from the data. For example, if a user had two enrollments 
timestamped August 1 and August 31, but no un-enrollment timestamped at any time that month, then we would consider 
that evidence of missing data for un-enrollment. After removing these users’ data, our data set contained 283,646 budget 
activities representing 7,507 unique PlayMyWay identifiers. 

 
In 36,652 cases, when a user exceeded a budget, there was a matching redundant record (i.e., same PlayMyWay identifier, 
same timestamp, reference to the same type of budget (daily, weekly or monthly)) noting that the user had reached a 
budget amount. After removing the redundant records, our final data set of PlayMyWay budget activities contained 
246,944 budget activities from 7,507 unique PlayMyWay identifiers. 

 
As stated before, when a user enrolls in PlayMyWay, the system calculates net losses retroactive to the beginning of the 
budget type’s current time period. For example, if a user had enrolled and set a monthly budget on October 13th, 2016, 
then the system would have calculated how much the user had spent since October 1st, 2016. If the user had spent more 
than 50% of the budget or more over that first part of the month, then immediately after the user confirmed the monthly 
budget, he would receive a notification (e.g., an “approaching” notification if the net loss was between 50% and 100% of 
the budget). Specifically, if the net loss at the time of signup on October 13 was already greater than the budget amount, 
then the user would have received a notification that he had already exceeded his budget (i.e., right after enrollment, 
before even a single subsequent bet or spin). The user would then have several options: (1) set a new budget; (2) un-enroll 
from PlayMyWay; (3) stop playing and wait until November 1st, 2016 to play again when the system resets; or (4) continue 
playing with PlayMyWay enabled and continue to receive notifications. We found that a significant number of users (n = 
3,243) in similar circumstances chose (4). 

 
It is possible that these users treated these first or partial days, weeks, or months of enrollment differently, and that they 
might have responded to notifications differently or disregarded notifications less after their partial days, weeks, or months 
ended. If users were ignoring notifications, and in the process generating more notifications than they would otherwise, 
then their data would distort the results of our analyses of the numbers and types of notifications the PlayMyWay users 
received. Thus, we created three filters and used them in some analyses to create a second data set from the PlayMyWay 
analytic sample. The first filter removed daily budget notifications that occurred the same day that the user set a daily limit. 

 
8 In future work, we can coordinate with the Massachusetts Gaming Commission to do this, if requested. 



24  

The second and third filters removed analogous weekly and monthly budget notifications. This supplementary data set 
contained the same 7,507 unique PlayMyWay identifiers but only 192,568 budget activities. We analyzed this 
supplementary data set using many of the same procedures as the original PlayMyWay analytic data set. The results of 
these analyses are briefly reported at the end of their respective sections in the body of this report, while the associated 
tables and figures can be found in Appendix C. 

 
2.4.4. Analytic Samples 

From the above data reductions, we arrived at three separate analytic samples. 
 

The machine analytic data set 

The first analytic sample contained data on 531 game types offered on the casino floor (e.g., cabinet types, software, 
betting units, etc.). 

 
The Marquee Rewards analytic data set 

The second analytic sample contained the roster of 101,024 player identifiers for whom we had gambling activity data with 
timestamps within the analytic study period (i.e., 8,856 player identifiers, or 8.7% of cardholders, associated with 
PlayMyWay gambling activity from June 8, 2016 to January 31, 2017 and 94,130 player identifiers, or 93.2% of cardholders, 
associated with non-PlayMyWay gambling activity from June 8, 2016 to January 31, 2017; 1,962 player identifiers were 
common to both). We designated the 8,856 Marquee Rewards cardholders with any PlayMyWay gambling activity data 
(regardless of whether or not they also had non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data) as PlayMyWay users. We designated 
the other 92,168 cardholders on the roster, who only had non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data, as non-users. Figure 1 
illustrates the numbers of cardholders in the gambling activity data files, both the 101,024 who were included in the 
analytic sample and the 39,173 who were not. 

 
Figure 1: Distribution of player identifiers in the gambling activity data files. 

To analyze the distributions of some demographics variables, we created a demographics subset of this Marquee Rewards 
analytic sample. This subsample contained all player identifiers we found in both the sample characteristic files and the 
gambling activity files. Specifically, out of the 296,068 cardholders in the sample characteristics files, we found 101,019 in 



25  

the gambling activity data files. As Figure 2 illustrates, this subset contained 8,853 of the 8,856 PlayMyWay users and 
92,166 of the 92,168 non-users. Viewing the overlap between sample characteristics data and gambling activity data 
another way, we did not have sample characteristic data for three PlayMyWay users and two non-users. 

 
In Section 2.4.2, we mention 33 changes in birth year, 6 changes in gender, and 2,253 changes in zip code that occurred 
during the data import process. For 6 changes in birth year, 2 changes in gender, and 1,193 changes in zip code (1,201 
changes total), the associated cardholder was in the demographics subset. Just as with the 2,292 changes in Section 2.4.2, 
these edits represent changes in a very small fraction of the cardholders in this subsample. 

 
Figure 2: Number of Marquee Rewards cardholders included and not included in the subset used to examine the sample 

characteristics of PlayMyWay users and non-users. 

 
 

To analyze the cash activity of PPC patrons, we created a cash activity subset of the Marquee Rewards analytic sample. This 
subsample contained all player identifiers we found in both the cash activity files and the gambling activity files. Specifically, 
out of the 99,038 cardholders in the cash activity files, we found 98,459 in the Marquee Rewards analytic data set. As Table 
1 illustrates, this subset contained 8,627 of the 8,856 PlayMyWay users and 89,832 of the 92,168 non-users. Viewing the 
overlap between sample characteristics data and gambling activity data another way, we did not have cash activity data for 
229 PlayMyWay users and 2,336 non-users. 



26  

Table 1: Distribution of player identifiers in the cash activity records. 

 Player identifiers with 
only PlayMyWay 
gambling activity 

Player identifiers with both 
PlayMyWay and non- 

PlayMyWay gambling activity 

Player identifiers with 
only PlayMyWay 
gambling activity 

 

Total 

Player identifiers in 
the cash activity files 6,670 1,957 89,832 98,459 

Player identifiers not 
in the cash activity 
files 

 
224 

 
5 

 
2,336 

 
2,565 

Total 6,894 1,962 92,168 101,024 

Note. Number of Marquee Rewards cardholders included (green) and not included (white) in the subset used to examine the 

cash activity of PlayMyWay users and non-users. There were 579 cardholders in the cash activity files that were not in the 

gambling activity data files. We did not use these cardholders’ data in the analyses of cash activity. 
 

The PlayMyWay analytic data set 

The third analytic sample, from the PlayMyWay records, contained the 7,507 PlayMyWay identifiers associated with 
PlayMyWay budget activity between June 8, 2016 and January 31, 2017. We employed this sample for any analyses of 
PlayMyWay budget activity (e.g., budget size, approaching, reached, and/or exceeded budget notifications). Some of our 
analyses were restricted to the 3,965 out of the 7,507 who reached or exceeded their daily budget and received a 
notification. For example, for each of the PlayMyWay users in this subsample, we counted the number of additional 
reached or exceeded budget notifications they received after initially reaching or exceeding their daily budgets. 

 
In some instances, we used both the Marquee Rewards and PlayMyWay analytic samples to describe certain aspects of 
PlayMyWay (e.g., trends and patterns in enrollments/un-enrollment activity). Throughout our analyses, we note up front 
which approach we used, as well as any instance where we either created another subsample of or transformed one of our 
analytic samples. 

 
2.5 Analytic Plan 

 
2.5.1. Marquee Rewards Betting Records 

 

Sample Characteristics 

We found the distributions of gender and age over the 101,019 Marquee Rewards cardholders in the demographics subset 
of the analytic sample. For age, we also found the mean, standard deviation, minimum, median, and maximum. Using the 
zip codes, we counted the number of Marquee Rewards cardholders from each of the six New England states. 

 
Game Characteristics 

For each month from July 2016 to January 2017, we received a data file with the list of games on the casino floor. We 
combined the lists into a master list we used to count the numbers of SMs, ETGs, and VPTs, and examined the month-to- 
month changes in the composition of the casino floor. Using July 2016 and January 2017 to illustrate, we separated the SMs 
by betting unit and number of lines, the ETGs by minimum bet, and the VPTs by betting unit, to show changes in the 
composition of the casino floor over the study period. 



27  

Cash Activity 

In the cash activity data, we focused on three actions: bill insertion, funds withdrawal, and ticket (i.e., voucher9) 
redemption. Bill insertion is depositing cash into a machine. Funds withdrawal refers to when a cardholder ends their 
session on a machine, but still has credits (i.e., cash value) available. In these cases, the machine prints a voucher for the 
value remaining in the machine. Cardholders can then insert the voucher into another machine to resume play or redeem 
the voucher and receive cash. Ticket redemption refers to when a cardholder inserts one of these vouchers into a machine. 
At PPC, the only ways to add credits to a machine are to insert bills, redeem vouchers, or add free play credits (e.g., from a 
travel or day excursion package). The only way to remove value from a machine is to have the machine print out a voucher. 

 
As we mentioned before, 98,459 Marquee Rewards cardholders from the second analytic sample were found in the cash 
activity files. We used the game identifiers and the game characteristics data to determine which lines of data 
corresponded to activity on SMs, ETGs, and VPTs. For each of the cardholders, we used the lines of data pertaining to bill 
insertions to obtain the total amount of cash deposited into SMs, ETGs, and VPTs over the study period. Similarly, we used 
the lines of data pertaining to funds withdrawal to get the total amount of cash withdrawn from SMs, ETGs, and VPTs over 
the study period. We performed similar calculations using ticket redemptions to get cardholders’ total amounts redeemed 
in vouchers. 

 
Gambling Activity 

Normally, as in the case of the sample characteristic data and the cash activity data, it is standard to use the same 
procedures on each cardholder’s data to calculate statistics and then combine the results into distributions meant to cover 
or describe the whole analytic sample. However, this would not be appropriate for gambling activity measures such as total 
amount wagered or total prizes won over the study period. This is because the time periods where gambling activity data 
might have been lost (see Section 2.3.2 and Appendix A) are different for different cardholders. Specifically, data loss 
depended on whether that cardholder only had PlayMyWay gambling activity data, had both PlayMyWay and non- 
PlayMyWay gambling activity data, or only had non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data (as illustrated in Figure 1 in Section 
2.3.2 by the blue and yellow zones, the green zone, and the teal zone, respectively).  

 
As an example, if we add a cardholder’s amounts wagered across the whole analytic data set, we will obtain an estimate for 
the total amount the cardholder wagered over the study period. If some of that cardholder’s activity is not recorded in the 
analytic data set, then the sum will underestimate the actual total amount wagered. For the first group of cardholders (i.e., 
only PlayMyWay gambling activity, blue and yellow zones of Figure 1), the two sources of lost data are the gaps in time in 
the files for PlayMyWay users (as described in Section 2.3.2), and the possibility of gambling activity without PlayMyWay 
active (as described in Section 2.2.1 and Appendix A). For these cardholders, it is more accurate to say that the sum is an 
estimate for the total amount wagered during the study period, minus the gaps, while PlayMyWay was active. 

 
For the second group of cardholders (i.e., both PlayMyWay and non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data, green zone in 
Figure 1), there are cases where the same gambling activity appears both in a file for PlayMyWay users and in the same 
month’s file for non-users. In these cases, there is the risk of counting the same gambling activity twice. Also, depending on 
when these cardholders enrolled in or un-enrolled from PlayMyWay, it is possible that the analytic data set is missing weeks 
or whole months of some of their gambling activity data (Both the duplication issue and the omission issue are described in 
more detail in Appendix A.). For this group, the sum of amounts wagered over the whole analytic data set might 
overestimate the total amount wagered for some and underestimate the total amount wagered for others. 

 
Finally, for the third group of cardholders (i.e., only non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data, teal zone in Figure 1), creating a 
scenario where data is missing is more complicated. It requires the cardholder to enroll in PlayMyWay, but then only 

 
9 “Tickets” is the term native to the ACSC system. However, because of the ambiguity of this term, we refer to them as “vouchers” 
throughout the report. 



28  

gamble with PlayMyWay active during the gaps in time where there is no gambling activity for PlayMyWay users. However, 
if the cardholder was enrolled in PlayMyWay at an inopportune time, such as the date of a data pull, then it is possible that 
gambling activity without PlayMyWay active also might have been lost. For this third group cardholders, we best can 
characterize the sum of amounts wagered as an estimate (likely an accurate one for most, and an underestimate for the 
rest) for the total amount wagered with PlayMyWay inactive. 

 
To summarize, the sum of all total amounts wagered has very different interpretations depending on which group the 
cardholder is in. Thus, it is not appropriate to calculate this statistic for all cardholders and combine them into a single 
distribution. Furthermore, proposing and performing meaningful statistical tests to compare the total amounts wagered for 
PlayMyWay users and non-users is extremely difficult if not impossible. In this report, we assume that the distributions for 
PlayMyWay users and non-users are different, based on the differences in the structures and patterns of possible missing 
data. Thus, it would be inappropriate to propose or perform a test where the null hypothesis is that the distributions for 
PlayMyWay users and non-users are the same. 

 
For similar reasons, for other statistics based on the gambling activity data, such as number of days cardholders visited PPC, 
total prizes won, and net winnings, we did not generate single distributions or summary statistics that cover the whole 
analytic sample. However, we did calculate summary statistics to describe PlayMyWay users as a group by themselves and 
calculate a similar set of statistics for the non-users. Because of our reservations regarding missing data and interpretations 
of the calculations, we did not use statistical tests to compare the distributions and summary statistics of PlayMyWay users 
and non-users. Even if the value of a summary statistic describing PlayMyWay users’ gambling activity appears to be a large 
amount higher or lower than the corresponding value describing non-users’ gambling activity, we cannot determine how 
much of this difference is due to actual differences between PlayMyWay users and non-users, and how much of the 
difference is due to which cardholders are missing what data. 

 
2.5.2. PlayMyWay Users 

 

Cumulative Enrollment 

In this section, we described the trajectory of enrollment-related behavior for the 7,507 cardholders in the PlayMyWay 
analytic data set. We found that a non-trivial number of cardholders oscillated between being enrolled and being un- 
enrolled over the course of the study period. Based on this behavior, we partitioned these cardholders into three groups – 
stable enrollees, erratic enrollees, and dropouts – and illustrated the effective number of enrollments after accounting for 
un-enrollments (i.e. net enrollment) on a given day over time. 

 
Sample Characteristics by PlayMyWay Status 

For the 8,853 PlayMyWay users and the 92,166 non-users in the demographics subset (see Figure 2), we calculated 
separate summary statistics for gender, age, and geographic location. We then commented on any differences between the 
distributions of the PlayMyWay users and non-users. 

 
Cash Activity by PlayMyWay Status 

For the 8,627 PlayMyWay users in the cash activity subset, we found the mean, standard deviation, and quartiles for the 
distributions for the total cash inserted, total funds withdrawn, and total amount redeemed in vouchers over all machines 
on the casino floor. We then repeated these processes three times, limiting our calculations to interactions with slot 
machines, electronic table games, and video poker terminals, respectively. Between interaction type and game type, we 
obtained a total of twelve means, twelve standard deviations, and twelve sets of quartiles for the PlayMyWay users. 

We repeated this sequence on the 89,832 non-users in the cash activity subset, and obtained twelve analogous sets of 
statistics. To explore whether or not the distributions for PlayMyWay users were significantly different from the 
corresponding distributions for non-users, we performed permutation tests with random samples of 100,000 permutations 
and the difference in means as the test statistic (Butar & Park, 2008). 



29  

Gambling Activity by PlayMyWay Status 

Following the analysis of cash activity by PlayMyWay status, we assessed several gambling-related indicators among the 
8,856 PlayMyWay users and among the 92,168 non-users. We began by aggregating the data by cardholder (i.e., player 
identifier) and date. For each of the PlayMyWay users, we extracted all records with the corresponding player identifier 
from the gambling activity data files for PlayMyWay users (i.e., we did not use PlayMyWay users’ data in the files for non- 
users). We defined a cardholder’s number of visits to PPC as the number of unique dates (i.e., year/month/day 

combinations) in these extracted records. We operationalized weeks as Sunday to Saturday (e.g., June 5, 2016 to June 11, 
2016), and used the list of dates each cardholder visited to determine the number of weeks that that cardholder visited 
PPC. For each cardholder, we also counted the number of months during which that the cardholder visited (i.e., the number 
of unique cardholder/month pairs). To obtain the total amount wagered and total prizes won by a cardholder on a specific 
date, we added the amounts wagered and prizes won, respectively, of all records with that cardholder/date combination. 
We defined a cardholder’s net winnings on a given date as their total prizes won on that date minus the total amount 
wagered on that date. From there, for each cardholder, we defined their total amount wagered, total prizes won, and net 
winnings over the study period as the sum of all their individual dates’ total amounts wagered, total prizes won, and net 
winnings, respectively. We then divided these three totals by the number of visits to get that cardholder’s amount wagered 
per visit, prizes won per visit, and winnings per visit, respectively. We also divided the cardholders’ total amounts wagered 
by their number of weeks visited and number of months visited to get their average amounts wagered per week and per 
month, respectively. 

 
Similarly, for each of the non-users, we calculated the same statistics: number of visits; total amount wagered, total prizes 
won, and, net winnings on the dates they visited; total amount wagered, total prizes won, and net winnings over the whole 
study period; amount wagered per day, per week, and per month. The non-users, by definition, did not have gambling 
activity data in the files for PlayMyWay users. The calculations for non-users used only data from the gambling activity files 
for non-users. 

 
For both PlayMyWay users and non-users, we examined number of visits to PPC over time and by regions, amount wagered 
per day, and amount lost per day. We then used k-means cluster analysis to categorize cardholders based on total amount 
wagered, net winnings, and number of visits over the study period. We then provided disaggregated analysis of gambling 
activity by gender and age. Through all of these analyses, calculations and tallies for PlayMyWay users were limited to 
gambling activity while PlayMyWay was active (i.e., did not include any records of non-PlayMyWay data). Calculations and 
tallies for non-users were (by definition) limited to gambling activity while PlayMyWay was inactive. 

 
 

Budget & Notification Activity 

In this section, we described the budget and notification activity for the 7,507 cardholders in the PlayMyWay analytic data 
set. We began with a brief overview of the types of budgets set by our sample of 7,507 PlayMyWay users. We then 
described the characteristics of budget changes for the 569 PlayMyWay users who changed budgets. We also described the 
magnitude of change for all 699 instances of changing budgets we observed in the data. 

 
Next, we investigated how budget size was related to receiving notifications for the 7,507 PlayMyWay users in our analytic 
sample. From there, we analyzed all enrollment actions (i.e., instances when PlayMyWay users enrolled during the study 
period, N = 7,886), which we categorized into budget notification classes: never approached budget, approached budget, 
reached budget, and exceeded budget. We investigated how these budget notification classes related to changing budgets 
and un-enrolling from PlayMyWay. 

 
Finally, we investigated budget compliance and non-compliance. We started by presenting a full consort diagram of budget 
compliance activity for our sample of 7,507 users. We looked at the number of respective notifications received per day by 
users at each level of non-compliance (approaching, reaching, and exceeding budgets). Next, we examined the extent to 



39  

which our sample of 7,507 users exceeded their budgets, and how the maximum extent to which users exceeded during the 
study period was related to budget types and budget sizes. We concluded this section with an analysis of additional 
notifications received in all instances of hitting (reaching or exceeding) daily budgets (N = 5,151 instances) amongst steady 
PlayMyWay users (i.e., users who did not change their budget or un-enroll from PlayMyWay that same day, N = 3,113 
users). This analysis was also modified to reflect the number of total additional notifications received during the study 
period in all instances of hitting a daily budget for these steady PlayMyWay users (N = 2,271 users). 

 
2.5.3. Assessing Safety, Reach, and effectiveness 

Consistent with our companion reports (Gray et al., 2016; Gray, LaPlante, Keating, et al., forthcoming; Gray, LaPlante, & 
Shaffer, forthcoming), we attempted to tailor our analyses towards evaluating the safety (e.g., does the program lead to 
harmful consequences?), reach (e.g., who is utilizing the program?), and effectiveness (e.g., is the program effective in 
doing what it is supposed to do?) of the PlayMyWay tool. Data limitations described previously and in Appendix A 
prevented us from obtaining an accurate picture of a user’s gambling behavior before utilizing PlayMyWay and during 
utilization of PlayMyWay, and therefore we were not able to evaluate these factors as planned. The Discussion reviews 
some future options to evaluate safety, reach, and effectiveness with forthcoming data from Scientific Games and 
Plainridge Park Casino. We anticipate that during late Fall 2017, Scientific Games and Plainridge Park casino will deliver 
revised data files that correct the issues outlined in this report. We will then immediately review the files for completeness 
and accuracy. 

 
2.5.4. On Central Tendency and Dispersion 

Throughout these analyses, we report two measures of central tendency (single values that describe the “average” value of 
a distribution, e.g., mean) and one measure of dispersion (a single value describing how all the values within a distribution 
group around their measure of central tendency, e.g., standard deviation). The first measure of central tendency is the 
mean (i.e., average). Because the mean often can be vulnerable to outliers (i.e., values that are exceedingly high or low 
compared to the rest of the distribution), we often pair the mean with the standard deviation, a dispersion measure based 
on the distances between the mean and the data values. Large standard deviations, especially standard deviations greater 
than the mean itself, often indicate the presence of large outliers or a distribution with an extreme right skew. Because the 
distributions for many of our variables are skewed, we also report the median (i.e., the 50th percentile). Unlike the mean, 
the median is not as vulnerable to outliers and extreme values. Thus, it tends to better describe the center of these sorts of 
distributions. In instances where the standard deviation is smaller than the mean, the mean should be treated as the more 
accurate measure of central tendency. In contrast, in instances where standard deviation is larger than the mean, the 
median should be treated as the more accurate measure of central tendency. In some instances, to provide a slightly more 
detailed view of a distribution, we also list the minimum and maximum values, or go further and list all five quartiles (i.e., 
minimum, 25th percentile, median, 75th percentile, and maximum). 

 

 

3.1. Marquee Rewards Betting Records 

Recall that we used the gambling activity data dated between June 8, 2016 and January 31, 2017 to construct our roster of 
101,024 Marquee Rewards cardholders for our analytic data set. 

 
3.1.1. Sample Characteristics 

In this section, we used information from the Marquee Rewards records to describe the gender, region, and age 
characteristics of the cardholders in the demographics subset (see Section 2.4.4).  

 
Gender data was available for 95,975 of the 101,019 cardholders. Of these cardholders, 40,526 (42.2%) were listed as male 
and 55,449 (57.8%) were listed as female. 

3. Results 



31  

A majority of the cardholders (77.3%) were from Massachusetts. Another 17.1% were from the other New England states. 
The remaining 5.6% of the cardholders were either from outside New England or did not provide information on state or 
country of residence. 

 
The sample characteristics data files contained years of birth for 101,002 of the cardholders in the subset. For simplicity, we 
defined age as 2016 minus the year of birth listed. The mean age was 58.3 (SD = 15.5), with a median of 60 and a range 
from 20 to 116.10 The sample distribution for age is in Figure 3. 

 
Figure 3: Age distribution for the 101,002 cardholders who played at Plainridge Park Casino between June 8, 2016 and 

January 31, 2017. 

 

3.1.2. Game Characteristics 

In this section, using information from the Marquee Rewards records related to the characteristics of the games available at 
PPC (see Section 2.3.1), we provide a description of the wagering context for this report. Included in this context are the 
following: numbers of machines by type, betting units (for SMs and VPTs) or minimum bet (for ETGs), number of lines (for 
SMs), and maximum possible wager for a single play. 

 
 
 

10 Being listed as Age 20 in our data set is not necessarily a sign of underage gambling activity. For example, someone could have been 
born on January 6, 1996 and first visited PPC on January 7, 2017 – at a legal age of 21 years and 1 day. Additionally, the maximum age in 
our data, 116, was likely the result of an inaccurate estimation for that individual’s date of birth. 



32  

 
We chose to begin our survey of the machines on the casino floor with the list of machines for July 2016, since it was the 
earliest month with its own game characteristics file11. That month, there were 1,555 machines and gaming stations on 
the casino floor (1,217 SMs, 290 ETGs, and 48 VPTs). The betting unit for each SMs was either $0.01, $0.02, $0.05, $0.25, 
$0.50, $1.00, $5.00, $10.00, $20.00, $100,00, or $500.00 (i.e., eleven different possible betting units). For 807 (66.3%) of the 
SMs, the betting unit was $0.01 (i.e., penny slots). The betting units of almost 98% of the SMs was $1.00 or less. The 
minimum bet for 254 (87.6%) of the ETGs was $1.00. The minimum bet for the other 36 was $0.50. The betting units for 
the VPTs were $0.01 (16 machines, 33%) and $0.25 (32 machines, 67%). 

 
In January of 2017, the number of machines increased to 1,567 (1,227 SMs, 290 ETGs, and 50 VPTs). The list of possible 
betting units was the same, with the exception that the $10.00 SMs had been removed from the casino floor. For 821 
(66.9%) of the SMs, the betting unit was $0.01. Neither the list of games nor the numbers of machines changed significantly 
month-to-month between July 2016 and January 2017. The largest change in composition was from September 2016 to 
October 2016, when PPC added 18 games and removed 18 games from the casino floor. Most of the changes could be 
expressed as replacement, where PPC removed a game or machine and added one with the same betting unit (e.g., 
replacing one penny slot game with another) or with a smaller betting unit (e.g., replacing a $10 slot machine with a $1.00 
slot machine). Tables 2 through 4 list the numbers of electronic gaming machines and numbers of different games (i.e., 
cabinet type/game description combinations) on the casino floor in July 2016 and January 2017. Table 2 shows the counts 
for SMs separated by betting unit. Table 3 shows the counts for ETGs, separating those with a minimum bet of $0.50 from 
the ones with a minimum bet of $1.00. Table 4 shows the counts for VPTs, separating those with a betting unit of $0.01 
from those with a betting unit of $0.25. 

 
Table 2: Number of slot machines and number of different slot machine games on the casino floor in July 2016 and in 

January 2017. 

Betting 
Unit 

Number of SMs 
July 2016 

Number of SMs 
January 2017 

Number of different 
SM games 
July 2016 

Number of different 
SM games 

January 2017 
$0.01 807 821 329 335 
$0.02 84 84 29 29 
$0.05 47 47 18 18 
$0.25 86 80 28 26 
$0.50 6 6 2 2 
$1.00 160 164 59 60 
$5.00 22 22 15 15 

$10.00 2 0 2 0 
$25.00 2 2 1 1 

$100.00 1 1 1 1 
$500.00 1 1 1 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

11 As we mentioned before, we received files that covered January 2016 through June 2016, but not June 2016 by itself.  During the 
final preparation of this report, Floyd Barroga, Gaming Technology Manager at the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, notified us 
that the number of gaming positions at Plainridge Park Casino never exceeded 1,365 (personal communication, November 20, 
2017). He also indicate4d that machine traffic on and off the gaming floor and the ACSC data including machines located in the 
system warehouse might account for the discrepancy. The data available for this report cannot account for these possibilities. 
Therefore, our machine counts will differ from those of the gaming commission. 



33  

Table 3: Number of electronic table games and number of different electronic table game types on the casino floor in July 

2016 and in January 2017. 

Minimum Bet Number of ETGs 
July 2016 

Number of ETGs 
January 2017 

Number of different 
ETG types, 
July 2016 

Number of different 
ETG types 

January 2017 
$0.50 36 36 2 2 
$1.00 254 254 11 11 

 

 
Table 4: Number of video poker terminals and number of different video poker terminal types on the casino floor in July 2016 

and in January 2017. 

Betting Unit Number of VPTs 
July 2016 

Number of VPTs 
January 2017 

Number of different 
VPT types 
July 2016 

Number of 
different VPT type 

January 2016 
$0.01 16 18 2 1 
$0.25 32 32 8 8 

 
The maximum number of lines someone could play on a single spin of an SM ranged from one single line on some machines 
to 99 lines on others. Almost all SMs on which someone could play more than 20 lines had betting units of $0.01 or $0.02. 
Most of the machines with betting units of $0.01 had maximum number of lines of 30, 40, 50, or 99, meaning that with the 
maximum number lines, a user could wager $0.30, $0.40, $0.50, or $0.99 on a single spin. There is one outlier with the 
largest betting unit and the largest possible amount wagered on a single spin – 99 lines at $500.00 per line, or $49,500. We 
have been told that this was an actual machine on the casino floor, but there are indications that it is just a test machine. At 
the very least, no cardholder in our analytic sample had any activity on that machine. Table 5 shows the distribution of 
machines by both betting units and number of lines available for a single spin. 



34  

Table 5: Number of machines on the casino floor in January 2017, by betting unit and number of lines.  

Betting Unit Number of machines Maximum number of lines Maximum amount for a single spin 
$0.01 12 

11 
5 

41 
30 
6 

251 
4 

171 
4 
2 

149 
20 
10 
4 

101 

9 
10 
15 
20 
25 
27 
30 
35 
40 
42 
48 
50 
80 
88 
90 
99 

$0.09 
$0.10 
$0.15 
$0.20 
$0.25 
$0.27 
$0.30 
$0.35 
$0.40 
$0.42 
$0.48 
$0.50 
$0.80 
$0.88 
$0.90 
$0.99 

$0.02 20 
16 
14 
13 
6 
9 
6 

20 
25 
27 
30 
40 
50 
80 

$0.40 
$0.50 
$0.54 
$0.60 
$0.80 
$1.00 
$1.60 

$0.05 12 
8 
2 
6 

19 

5 
9 

10 
15 
20 

$0.25 
$0.45 
$0.50 
$0.75 
$1.00 

$0.25 17 
49 
10 
2 
2 

1 
5 
9 

20 
40 

$0.25 
$1.25 
$2.25 
$5.00 

$10.00 
$0.50 6 5 $2.50 
$1.00 45 

103 
10 
2 

1 
5 
9 

10 

$1.00 
$5.00 
$9.00 

$10.00 
$5.00 12 

10 
1 
5 

$5.00 
$25.00 

$10.00 none   
$25.00 2 1 $25.00 

$100.00 1 1 $100.00 
$500.00 1 99 $49,500 



35  

3.1.3. Cash Activity 

Using the cash activity subset (see Section 2.4.4), we calculated descriptive statistics for bills inserted, funds withdrawn, and 
vouchers redeemed. Cross-referencing with the game characteristics data, we separated the cash activity by game type -- 
slot machines (SMs), electronic table games (ETGs), and video poker terminals (VPTs) and found summary statistics for the 
separate distributions for each game type. 

 
For simplicity, we will say that a cardholder interacts with a game type if they have some activity (i.e., bill insertion, funds 
withdrawal, tickets redeemed) on that type of machine. Of the 98,459 cardholders in the cash activity subset, 95,099 
(96.6%) interacted with SMs. More specifically, 91,106 (92.5%) inserted at least one bill into a slot machine during the study 
period. Of those who interacted with SMs, 12,260 (12.8%) also interacted with ETGs and 7,813 (8.2%) interacted with VPTs. 
There was an overlap of 2,333 cardholders (2.5% of those who interacted with SMs) who interacted with all three game 
types. Overall, much smaller percentages of the subset interacted with ETGs (14,455 cardholders, 14.7%) and VPTs (9,348 
cardholders, 9.5%) than with SMs. Very small percentages of the subset interacted with either ETGs (1.9%) or VPTs (1.2%) 
exclusively. 

 
Figure 4 shows the overlaps between the groups of cardholders who interacted with the different game types. Similar 
figures showing the number of cardholders who inserted bills into, withdrew funds from, and redeemed vouchers at the 
different types of games can be found in Appendix B. 

 
Figure 4: Venn diagram showing the numbers of cardholders with cash activity on slot machines, electronic table games 

stations, and video poker terminals. 



36  

Table 6 shows descriptive statistics associated with bills inserted into SMs, into ETGs, into VPTs, and into all machines over 
the whole study period. The four distributions were all were skewed, each with large values orders of magnitude above the 
corresponding means and standard deviations. This indicates that extreme values likely influenced the mean value, making 
it not necessarily representative of bill insertion, in general. Instead, the medians are more representative of most 
cardholders. For context, it should be noted that the study period is roughly eight months, meaning that the medians 
correspond to between $10 and $30 per month. 

 
Table 6: Counts, means, standard deviations, and quartiles for the distributions for the total cash inserted into slot machines, 

into electronic table games, into video poker terminals, and into all machines. 

 N Mean Standard 
Deviation 

Minimum 25th 

Percentile 
Median 75th 

Percentile 
Maximum 

SMs 91,106 $1524.17 $5831.81 $1.00 $75.00 $225.00 $870.00 $395,030 
ETGs 12,690 $1033.34 $6938.57 $1.00 $21.00 $80.00 $244.75 $266,501 
VPTs 7,983 $1049.50 $6002.88 $1.00 $20.00 $80.00 $300.00 $290,488 
All machines 95,198 $1684.41 $6622.49 $1.00 $80.00 $240.00 $930.00 $396,330 

 
Table 7 shows that a much smaller subset of the Marquee Rewards cardholders (78.3%) withdrew funds from machines. If a 
cardholder added funds (either bills or vouchers) into a machine without withdrawing funds at the end of the session on 
that machine, then it meant that the cardholder gambled until all the inserted credits were lost. That is not to say that all 
the value withdrawn from machines was converted to cash. It is likely that many of these vouchers were then used to 
deposit value into other machines to begin later gambling sessions. Also, it is possible that the same funds were withdrawn 
again and again, as a cardholder changed machines. For example, if a cardholder inserted $20 into one machine, played 
until he lost $1, printed a $19 voucher, started a session at a different machine, lost another $1, printed an $18 voucher, 
etc., then that cardholder would appear to have withdrawn a total of $190 (i.e., had $190 in vouchers printed over the 20 
sessions). 

 
Much like the distributions for total cash inserted, the distributions for funds withdrawn were skewed, with standard 
deviations between approximately five and nine times their respective means and exponential growth from one quartile to 
the next. 

 
Table 7: Numbers of cardholders, means, standard deviations, and quartiles for the distributions for the total value 

withdrawn from slot machines, from electronic table games, from video poker terminals, and from all machines.  

 N Mean Standard 
Deviation 

Minimum 25th 

Percentile 
Median 75th 

Percentile 
Maximum 

SMs 77,112 $1,117.11 $9,973.90 $0.01 $33.25 $158.85 $639.21 $1,747,292 
ETGs 7,952 $881.20 $4,388.92 $0.01 $21.51 $87.50 $303.62 $114,900 
VPTs 5,476 $744.72 $3,973.69 $0.01 $18.58 $75.00 $340.61 $199,495 
All machines 80,245 $1,211.64 $9,983.26 $0.01 $39.30 $173.52 $687.34 $1,747,292 

 
Table 8 shows that a smaller percentage of Marquee Rewards cardholders (70.7%) redeemed vouchers at EGMs during the 
study period than withdrew funds from EGMs during the study period. This is reasonable, since a cardholder must first 
withdraw funds from a machine to generate a voucher to be redeemed at another machine. Furthermore, if that 
cardholder redeemed the voucher for cash, then there would be no corresponding redemption in an EGM to match the 
funds withdrawal. 



37  

Much like in the distributions for total funds withdrawn, withdrawing and re-inserting the same funds again and again may 
have inflated the higher values in the distributions for total value of vouchers redeemed. In the above example where a 
cardholder plays a sequence of twenty $1 sessions, the cardholder would have inserted a total of $190 in vouchers over 
those first nineteen sessions. 

 
Table 8: Numbers of cardholders, means, standard deviations, and quartiles for the distributions for the total value in 

vouchers inserted into slot machines, into electronic table games, into video poker terminals, and into all machines. 

 N Mean Standard 
Deviation 

Minimum 25th 

Percentile 
Median 75th 

Percentile 
Maximum 

SMs 76,723 $1,684.94 $11,117.94 $0.01 $35.84 $168.73 $793.54 $1,776,244 
ETGs 7,748 $791.24 $5,063.96 $0.01 $20.00 $69.00 $223.94 $194,895 
VPTs 5,216 $600.21 $5,723.01 $0.01 $15.00 $50.22 $202.00 $247,264 
All machines 79,477 $1,743.08 $11,238.58 $0.01 $38.41 $174.96 $814.71 $1,776,244 

 

3.1.4. Gambling Activity 

As we stated in Section 2.5.1, we will not be presenting any analyses of gambling activity data that treat the cardholders in 
the Marquee Rewards analytic data set as a single population. In the discussion, we will describe when and how we expect 
to be able to perform such analyses in the future. 

 
3.2. PlayMyWay Users 

This section includes information about PlayMyWay users. Recall that due to the nature of the data available, we defined 
PlayMyWay status in two primary ways. First, in the Marquee Rewards records, we identified individuals who ever were 
present in the gambling activity data tables that were specific to PlayMyWay use. Second, in the PlayMyWay records, we 
simply recorded the player identifiers present. For clarity, we begin each analytic section by identifying the relevant 
definition and corresponding analytic data set being analyzed. 

 
3.2.1. Cumulative Enrollment 

We used the PlayMyWay records to describe cumulative enrollment in the program over time. We partitioned the 7,507 
enrollees in the PlayMyWay analytic data set into three categories: (a) stable enrollees, (b) erratic enrollees, and (c) 
dropouts. We defined stable enrollees as cardholders who enrolled in PlayMyWay and stayed enrolled in the program for 
the period of the study. In the budget activity data files, these enrollees had exactly one enrollment and zero un- 
enrollments. We defined erratic enrollees as cardholders who enrolled, un-enrolled, and re-enrolled in the program at least 
once, and remained enrolled in PlayMyWay at the end of the study period (i.e., January 31, 2017). In the budget activity 
data files, these enrollees had more than one enrollment, and had exactly one more enrollment than un-enrollment. We 
defined dropouts as cardholders who enrolled in the program, but at the end of the study period were un-enrolled from the 
program. In the budget activity data files, each of these users had an equal number of enrollments and un-enrollments. For 
some, it was one of each (i.e., enroll, try PlayMyWay, un-enroll, and then never interact with it again). For others, there 
were multiple enrollments, each with a matching un-enrollment. 

 
Out of the 7,507 cardholders in our analytic sample, 6,398 (85.2%) were stable, 96 (1.3%) were erratic, and 1,013 (13.5%) 
were dropouts. Figure 5 below displays trends in gross enrollment, gross un-enrollment, and net enrollment during our 
study period. 



38  

Figure 5: Number of gross enrollments, gross un-enrollments, and net enrollments over time. 

 
 

3.2.2. Sample Characteristics by PlayMyWay Status 

Recall that the PlayMyWay records did not have any associated sample characteristic information. Therefore, to describe 
the sample characteristics by PlayMyWay status, we needed to use the segregated (see Section 2.1.4) Marquee Rewards 
records. 

 
As a reminder, out of the 101,019 cardholders for whom we had both gambling activity and sample characteristic data, 
92,166 (91.2%) were found only in the gambling activity data for cardholders not enrolled in PlayMyWay. We designated 
these cardholders as non-users (i.e., cardholders who never enrolled in PlayMyWay). Another 1,962 cardholders’ player 
identifiers were found both in the gambling activity data for those not enrolled in PlayMyWay and in the gambling activity 
data for those who were enrolled.12 The remaining 6,891 cardholders only had gambling activity data in the files for 
PlayMyWay enrollees.13 To provide a description of people who ever used PlayMyWay, we combined these cardholders into 
one group of 8,85314 and designated them as PlayMyWay users. Some in this group continued with and are still enrolled in 
PlayMyWay, others enrolled but then un-enrolled, and others oscillated between being enrolled and being un-enrolled. 

 
We examined the distributions of gender, state of residence, and age of the two groups of cardholders. As Table 9 shows, 
the percentages of male and female cardholders who were PlayMyWay users were 9.0% and 8.3%, respectively. About 52% 
of all identified PlayMyWay users in our sample were female. 

 
 

12 This is not out of the ordinary. It would be possible, for example, for someone to play at PPC without PlayMyWay in August an d then 
enroll in September. In this case, the cardholder’s August data would be in the file for those not enrolled in PlayMyWay and the 
cardholder’s September data would be in the file for those enrolled in PlayMyWay. 
13 These cardholders gambled using a Marquee Rewards card only while they were enrolled in PlayMyWay. 
14 Three PlayMyWay users and two non-users did not have the relevant demographic data available. 



39  

Table 9. PlayMyWay enrollment status by gender. 

 Number (Percentage) 
of cardholders 

Number (Percentage by 
gender) of PlayMyWay users 

Number (Percentage by 
gender) of non-users 

Male 40,526 (40.1%) 3,655 (9.0%) 36,871 (91.1%) 
Female 55,449 (54.9%) 4,593 (8.3%) 50,856 (91.7%) 
No Response 5,044 (5.0%) 605 (12.0%) 4,439 (88.0%) 
Total 101,019 (100%) 8,853 (8.8%) 92,166 (91.2%) 

 
Table 10 shows PlayMyWay participation rates for the six New England states ranged from 5.1% to 8.9%. About 78% of all 
PlayMyWay users reported that they were from Massachusetts. 

 
Table 10. PlayMyWay enrollment status by region. 

 Number (Percentage) 
of cardholders 

Number (Percentage) 
of PlayMyWay users 

Number (Percentage) 
of non-users 

Massachusetts 78,096 (77.3%) 6,941 (8.9%) 71,155 (91.1%) 
Connecticut 1,379 (1.4%) 110 (8.0%) 1,269 (92.0%) 
Rhode Island 9,282 (9.2%) 782 (8.4%) 8,500 (91.6%) 
New Hampshire 5,424 (5.4%) 454 (8.4%) 4,970 (91.6%) 
Vermont 199 (0.2%) 11 (5.5%) 188 (94.5%) 
Maine 985 (1.0%) 50 (5.1%) 935 (94.9%) 
Not from New England 5,464 (5.4%) 482 (8.8%) 4,982 (91.2%) 
No Zip Code Listed 190 (0.2%) 23 (12.1%) 167 (87.9%) 
Total 101,019 (100.0%) 8,853 (8.8%) 92,166 (91.2%) 

 
The demographics subset contained age data for 8,851 out of the 8,853 PlayMyWay users and 92,151 out of the 92,166 
non-users. The ages of the PlayMyWay users (mean = 53.8, SD = 16.3, median = 55) skewed significantly younger than the 
ages of the non-users (mean = 58.7, SD = 15.3, median = 60; t(10403) = 27.3, p < 0.001). The two distributions are in Figure 
6 A and B. 

 
Figure 6 A and B: Age distributions for non-users (red) and PlayMyWay users (blue). 

 



40  

3.2.3. Cash Activity by PlayMyWay Status 

To provide a description of any possible cash activity differences by PlayMyWay status, we used data from the Marquee 
Rewards records from the 98,459-member cash activity sample (see 2.4.2. for details) to describe (1) bill insertion, (2) funds 
withdrawal, and (3) voucher redemption behavior, with respect to (a) slot machines (SMs), (b) electronic table game 
stations (ETGs), (c) video poker terminals (VPTs), and (d) all machines, separately for PlayMyWay users and non-users. This 
sample contained 8,627 PlayMyWay users and 89,832 non-users. 

 
Most of the cardholders (95.8% of the PlayMyWay users, 96.8% of the non-users) inserted at least one bill into one of the 
machines on the casino floor during the study period. The percentages of each group that inserted at least one bill into an 
SM (91.6% for PlayMyWay users, 92.6% for non-users) and into a VPT (8.5% for PlayMyWay users, 8.0% for non-users) were 
similar. The separation between the percentages of each group that inserted at least one bill into an electronic table game 
(19.2% for PlayMyWay users, 12.3% for non-users) was larger. The percentages for funds withdrawals were farther apart, 
ranging from a difference of 2.3% (VPTs) to 5.3% (SMs). With all four pairs of distributions, the percentages were higher for 
PlayMyWay users. The percentages for value of vouchers redeemed had a similar pattern to the percentages for bill 
insertion. That is, percentages for the two groups were close with respect to SMs, with respect to VTPs, and over all 
machines. The percentages with respect to ETGs showed more separation, with the percentages for the PlayMyWay users 
being higher. The differences within all twelve pairs of percentages were statistically significant, but in some cases, most of 
the significance can be traced to the large sample sizes, rather than meaningful differences in the percentages themselves. 

 
Tables 11 through 16 contain summary statistics for the twelve distributions for PlayMyWay users and the twelve 
distributions for non-users. 

 
The twenty-four distributions have many of the same features as the distributions generated by considering the cash 
activity sample as a single group (as in Section 3.1.3). First, the means and quartiles for activity over all machines were 
similar to the corresponding values with respect to SMs. This is expected, because all measures indicate that slot machine 
activity represents a dominating percentage of the gambling activity at PPC. Second, in all twenty-four distributions, the 
sizes of the quartiles increased exponentially from one to the next. This is also somewhat expected, since the skewed 
distributions summarized here come from the skewed distributions summarized in Section 3.1.3. 

 
 

Table 11: Numbers and percentages of PlayMyWay users, means, standard deviations, and quartiles for the distributions for 

the total cash inserted into slot machines, into electronic table games, into video poker terminals, and into all machines. 

PlayMyWay 
users 

N Percentage Mean Standard 
Deviation 

Minimum 25th 

Percentile 
Median 75th 

Percentile 
Maximum 

SMs 7,899 91.6% $2,090.87 $7,263.29 $1.00 $70.00 $260.00 $1,180.00 $245,169 
ETGs 1,657 19.2% $1,984.82 $10,085.26 $1.00 $21.00 $80.00 $320.00 $211,686 
VPTs 735 8.5% $914.32 $4,694.1 $1.00 $20.00 $60.00 $255.00 $100,801 
All machines 8,266 95.8% $2,477.22 $8,846.1 $1.00 $80.00 $289.50 $1,331.75 $245,210 

 
Table 12: Numbers and percentages of non-users, means, standard deviations, and quartiles for the distributions for the 

total cash inserted into slot machines, into electronic table games, into video poker terminals, and into all machines.  

Non-users N Percentage Mean Standard 
Deviation 

Minimum 25th 

Percentile 
Median 75th 

Percentile 
Maximum 

SMs 83,207 92.6% $1,470.37 $5,674.30 $1.00 $75.00 $220.00 $845.00 $395,030 
ETGs 11,033 12.3% $890.44 $6,320.64 $1.00 $21.00 $80.00 $240.00 $266,501 
VPTs 7,248 8.1% $1,063.21 $6,120.09 $1.00 $20.00 $80.00 $300.00 $290,488 
All machines 86,932 96.8% $1,609.02 $6,365.70 $1.00 $80.00 $240.00 $900.00 $396,330 



41  

Table 13: Numbers and percentages of PlayMyWay users, means, standard deviations, and quartiles for the distributions for 

the total value withdrawn from slot machines, from electronic table games, from video poker terminals, and from any 

machines. 

PlayMyWay 
users 

N Percentage Mean Standard 
Deviation 

Minimum 25th 

Percentile 
Median 75th 

Percentile 
Maximum 

SMs 7,176 83.2% $1,745.00 $21,966.20 $0.01 $34.77 $189.72 $871.61 $1,747,292 
ETGs 1,151 13.3% $1,407.55 $6,096.27 $0.06 $20.00 $89.30 $447.10 $107,338 
VPTs 665 7.7% $639.58 $3,094.00 $0.04 $19.00 $76.95 $325.82 $58,393 
All machines 7,446 86.3% $1,956.42 $21,760.62 $0.01 $41.87 $215.46 $968.27 $1,747,292 

 

 
Table 14: Numbers and percentages of non-users, means, standard deviations, and quartiles for the distributions for the 

total value withdrawn from slot machines, from electronic table games, from video poker terminals, and from any machines. 

Non-users N Percentage Mean Standard 
Deviation 

Minimum 25th 

Percentile 
Median 75th 

Percentile 
Maximum 

SMs 69,936 77.9% $1,052.69 $7,754.86 $0.01 $33.05 $156.00 $620.24 $1,262,294 
ETGs 6,801 7.6% $792.12 $4,022.83 $0.01 $22.00 $87.32 $299.50 $114,900 
VPTs 4,811 5.4% $759.25 $4,080.45 $0.01 $18.50 $74.75 $345.95 $199,495 
All machines 72,799 81.0% $1,135.46 $7,833.91 $0.01 $39.00 $170.00 $661.38 $1,262,298 

 

 
Table 15: Numbers and percentages of PlayMyWay users, means, standard deviations, and quartiles for the distributions for 

the total value in vouchers inserted into slot machines, into electronic table games, into video poker terminals, and into all 

machines. 

PlayMyWay 
users 

N Percentage Mean Standard 
Deviation 

Minimum 25th 

Percentile 
Median 75th 

Percentile 
Maximum 

SMs 6,827 79.1% $2,352.24 $23,719.27 $0.01 $35.95 $182.85 $972.45 $1,776,244 
ETGs 1,095 12.7% $1,086.17 $4,736.24 $0.03 $20.00 $71.59 $296.25 $59,370 
VPTs 583 6.8% $601.71 $3,031.39 $0.01 $15.41 $57.25 $224.67 $43,974 
All machines 7,110 82.4% $2,475.23 $23,424.28 $0.01 $39.77 $196.27 $1,049.49 $1,776,244 

 

 
Table 16: Numbers and percentages of non-users, means, standard deviations, and quartiles for the distributions for the 

total value in vouchers inserted into slot machines, into electronic table games, into video poker terminals, and into all 

machines. 

Non-users N Percentage Mean Standard 
Deviation 

Minimum 25th 

Percentile 
Median 75th 

Percentile 
Maximum 

SMs 69,896 77.8% $1,619.76 $8,982.76 $0.01 $35.83 $167.41 $776.90 $1,274,453 
ETGs 6,653 7.4% $742.69 $5,114.60 $0.01 $20.00 $68.53 $215.62 $194,896 
VPTs 4,633 5.2% $600.02 $5,976.68 $0.01 $15.00 $50.00 $200.50 $247,264 
All machines 72,367 80.6% $1,671.15 $9,206.27 $0.01 $38.26 $172.84 $796.59 $1,274,459 

 
In our previously mentioned comparisons of the distributions of cash activity for the PlayMyWay users and non-users, we 
performed permutation tests using the differences of means between the two groups (Butar and Park 2008). For example, 
we performed a permutation test using the totals for cash inserted into SMs for the 7,899 PlayMyWay users and 83,207 
non-users who inserted at least one bill into a slot machine. In this case, there was a significant difference between the 
average total amount inserted by the PlayMyWay users and the average total amount inserted by the non-users (difference 
= $620.50, p < 0.0001). In particular, on average, the PlayMyWay users inserted significantly more cash. As mentioned 



42  

above, we performed a total of twelve tests (i.e., total cash inserted, total funds withdrawn, total value of vouchers 
redeemed; slot machines, electronic table game stations, video poker terminals). We found significant differences in eight 
of the twelve measures (See Table 17), with the average from the PlayMyWay users always higher. Notably, by all 
measures, PlayMyWay users had more activity on SMs and more activity overall than non-users. 

 
Table 17: Aggregates of interest, machine types, difference of means, and two-tail p-value for the permutation tests used to 

explore differences between the distributions of PlayMyWay users and non-users. 

Aggregate of Interest Machine 
Type 

Difference 
of Means 

Two-Tailed 
p-value 

Total Cash Inserted Slot Machines $620.50 0.00000 
Total Cash Inserted Electronic Table Games $1,094.38 0.00000 
Total Cash Inserted Video Poker Terminals -$148.89 0.55290 
Total Cash Inserted All Machines $868.20 0.00000 
Total Funds Withdrawn Slot Machines $692.31 0.00000 
Total Funds Withdrawn Electronic Table Games $615.42 0.00012 
Total Funds Withdrawn Video Poker Terminals -$119.67 0.47908 
Total Funds Withdrawn All Machines $820.96 0.00000 
Total Value of Vouchers Redeemed Slot Machines $732.48 0.00002 
Total Value of Vouchers Redeemed Electronic Table Games $343.48 0.05762 
Total Value of Vouchers Redeemed Video Poker Terminals $1.69 0.71034 
Total Value of Vouchers Redeemed All Machines $804.08 0.00002 

 
 

3.2.4. Gambling Activity by PlayMyWay status 

Recall that the PlayMyWay records did not have any associated gambling activity information. Therefore, to describe the 
gambling activity by PlayMyWay status, we used the segregated gambling activity data (see Section 2.2.4). The relevant 
groups are the 92,168 non-users and the 8,856 PlayMyWay users. 

 
Gambling Behavior 

In our study of gambling behavior, we used two different methodologies to describe the variation in gambling behavior. 
First, we used a method that weighted each member of a group equally, from those who visited PPC the most to those who 
only visited once during the study period. We refer to this as, “average by cardholder”. For example, to describe the 
average amount wagered in a visit by a PlayMyWay user and non-user, we calculated the average of the 8,856 PlayMyWay 
users’ amounts wagered per visit and the average of the 92,168 non-users’ amounts wagered per visit, respectively. By 

comparing these two averages, we can compare an average day trip to PPC by a randomly chosen PlayMyWay user to an 

average day trip to PPC by a randomly chosen non-user. Second, we used a method that weighted each cardholder’s day of 
gambling (in terms of the data, each cardholder/date combination) equally. We refer to this as “average by 
cardholder/date”. For example, if one cardholder gambled $30 on one day and another gambled $120 on each of five days, 
then by this methodology the average day for these two people would be $630/6 = $105. More generally, we added the 
totals amount wagered over the whole study period and the total numbers of visits for the 8,856 PlayMyWay users to 
obtain the total amount wagered and total number of visits, respectively, by the PlayMyWay users as a group. We divided 
these two totals to obtain a measure for the “average visit” for the PlayMyWay users. Using a similar process, we obtained 
a similar measure for the non-users. By comparing these two measures, we can compare a randomly chosen day of 

gambling at PPC by a PlayMyWay user to a randomly chosen day of gambling at PPC by a non-user. This “average by 
cardholder/date” methodology is useful because it can be used to describe what an average day of gambling might be 
within a given season, month, or other time period. For example, in the Gambling Trends section, for each day, we calculate 
the average amount wagered on a particular day by those cardholders who visited that day (i.e., total amount wagered on 
that day divided by the total number of cardholders who visited that day). Just as each methodology has its own formula for 



43  

the mean, each methodology has its own procedure for finding other summary statistics, such as standard deviation and 
median. The “average by cardholder” and “average by cardholder/date” methodologies both are valid. They merely serve 
different purposes. 

 
Using these values and the "average by cardholder" method described above, we obtained the means for the distributions 
for number of visits to PPC, total amount wagered, amount wagered per day, amount wagered per week, amount wagered 
per month, and net winnings, for PlayMyWay users and non-users separately. We also found the standard deviations and 
the medians for these distributions. Table 18 contains these summary statistics for non-users and PlayMyWay users. In each 
of these distributions, the standard deviation is high relative to the mean. As we stated in Section 2.5.4, this is a sign that 
there are a small number of cardholders with abnormally large data values, and that the medians might be more indicative 
of the center of the distributions than the means. For both the PlayMyWay users and non-users, the median number of 
visits over the study period was 2. However, the median for total amount wagered was higher for non-users (mean = $883) 
than for PlayMyWay users (mean = $574). Non-users wagered an average of $393 per day, $417 per week, and $512 per 
month at PPC, while PlayMyWay users wagered an average of $286 per day, $318 per week, and $387 per month at PPC. In 
terms of net winnings, non-users tended to lose more money at PPC (median net winnings = -$127) than PlayMyWay users 
(median net winnings = -$89). 

 
Table 18: Mean, standard deviation, and median for non-user and PlayMyWay users’ measures of gambling activity. 

 Non-users (N = 92,168) PlayMyWay users (N = 8,856) 
 Mean SD Median Mean SD Median 
Number of visits 6.8 14.2 2.0 6.5 14.9 2.0 
Total amount wagered $7,862.1 $41,574.9 $882.8 $6,252.6 $32,009.6 $574.2 
Amount wagered per day $789.1 $2,295.9 $393.5 $594.8 $1,090.4 $285.7 
Amount wagered per week $922.2 $2,732.8 $417.0 $780.1 $1,889.6 $317.5 
Amount wagered per month $1,651.4 $6,183.6 $512.6 $1,542.8 $5,866.0 $386.6 
Net winnings -$1,251.6 $12,512.6 -$127.6 -$704.4 $3,546.4 -$89.4 

 
We also calculated mean, standard deviation and median for amount wagered and amount lost per day using the 
“by cardholder/date” methodology. Table 19 contains these summary statistics for non-users and PlayMyWay users. The 
median amount wagered per day for PlayMyWay users was $347.8, whereas the median for non-users was $485.3 – a 
difference of $137.5 between the PlayMyWay user and their non-user counterpart. 

 
Table 19: Mean, standard deviation, and median of gambling activities by enrollment status.  

 Non-user (N = 92,168) PlayMyWay user (N = 8,856) 
  

Mean 
 

SD 
 

Median 
 

Mean 
 

SD 
 

Median 
Amount wagered per cardholder/day ($) $1,156.1 $3,054.7 $485.3 $960.4 $2,432.3 $347.8 
Amount lost per cardholder/day ($) $184.1 $1,580.2 $62.9 $107.8 $397.0 $47.5 
* A Kruskal-Wallis Test shows that, at the significance level of 0.01, the distributions of PlayMyWay users and non-users were statistically 
different. 



44  

Gambling Trends 

Figure 7 below illustrates the temporal trend in average amount wagered per day for PlayMyWay users and non-users. It 
shows the averaged amount wagered each day during the study period for both groups. As seen in the graph, over time the 
PlayMyWay users tended to wager less money per day than their non-user counterparts. The graph also shows slightly 
more variation in amount wagered over time for PlayMyWay users than for non-users. 

 
 

Figure 7: Average amount wagered per day over time by type of enrollment. 

 
 

Table 19 also shows that PlayMyWay users also lost less money per day than their non-user counterparts. While the median 
PlayMyWay-user lost $47.5 per day on average, their non-user counterpart lost $62.9. Figure 8 visually illustrates the 
difference between the two groups. We see a marginal widening of the wedge between PlayMyWay users and non-users 
over time. 

 
Figure 8: Average amount lost per day over time by type of enrollment. 

 



45  

Next, we present the daily trends of total dollars wagered at PPC for our sample of 92,168 users who never utilized 
PlayMyWay (Figure 9) and our sample of 8,856 PlayMyWay users (Figure 10). Wagers for users who never utilized 
PlayMyWay increased slightly between June 2016 and August 2016, followed by a slow decline during August 2016 and 
throughout the remainder of the study period. 

 
Figure 9: Dollars wagered (in millions) per day by non-users during the study period. 

 
 
 

For PlayMyWay users, overall wagers increased at a sharper rate between the beginning of the study period (June 2016) 
and October 2016 (see Figure 10). This was followed by a steadier decline in wagering throughout the remainder of the 
study period, consistent with the wagering patterns of non-users. 

 
Figure 10: Dollars wagered per day by PlayMyWay users during the study period. 

 



46  

For a more accurate description of wagering activity, we divided the total amount of money cardholders wagered per 
day by the number of cardholders who wagered money at PPC during that day to get the total amount of money 
wagered per user per day for both non-users (Figure 11) and PlayMyWay users (Figure 12). Here, the trends differ more 
obviously. Wagers per cardholder for non-users increased slowly throughout the entirety of the study period, with slightly 
steeper increases between June 2016 and October 2016 and slower increases between October 2016 and the remainder of 
the study period. 

 
Figure 11: Dollars wagered per day by non-users during study period, adjusted for number of non-users. 

 
 
Overall wagers per cardholder for PlayMyWay users fluctuated several times during the study period (see Figure 12). 
Wagers per cardholder for PlayMyWay users dipped slightly between June 2016 and August 2016, followed by a small 
increase between August 2016 and October 2016. This was followed by a sharper decrease in wagers per user between 
October 2016 and December 2016 and finally an increase in wagers per user between December 2016 and January 2017. 
Overall, both PlayMyWay users and non-users wagered more per cardholder at the end of the study period than at the 
beginning of the study period. However, this path appeared to be more stable for non-users and more erratic for 
PlayMyWay users. One possible reason for this could that PlayMyWay users are much smaller, as a group, and therefore 
their representation at PPC could be more variable on any given day. 

 
Figure 12: Dollars wagered per day by PlayMyWay users during study period, adjusted for number of users.  

 



47  

PPC visitation 

Among the 92,168 non-users, each day, on average, 2,648 visited PPC. Figure 13 below graphically illustrates the trend in 
visitation among non-users over time. While the temporal trend is relatively stable, we see a marginal increase in visitations 
during summer months (June to late August) relative to the winter months. During the study period, the largest number of 
visits to PPC by non-users on a single day happened on July 9, 2016 (5,550 visits), whereas the smallest number of visits 
happened on January 31, 2017 (1,065 visits). 

 
Figure 13: Number of non-users per day over time. 

 
 

As we pointed out earlier, PlayMyWay enrollments started on the June 8, 2016. As the number of enrollments increase with 
time, we would expect the average number of PlayMyWay-using visitors per day to also increase, since the pool of eligible 
PlayMyWay users who can or might visit increases each day. However, Figure 14 below shows that while the number of 
PlayMyWay-visitors per day increased initially, in the months of December and January we see a drop in PlayMyWay-using 
visitors to PPC. However, it is important to note that from the graph below we cannot infer the reason behind the 
downward trend in PlayMyWay users’ visits. Seasonality (the lower attendances in general during December and January), 
for example, could provide an explanation for the downward trend. 

 
Figure 14: Number of PlayMyWay user visitors per day over time. 

 



48  

As noted above, the number of eligible enrollees who can visit PPC every day increases with time as more people sign up for 
PlayMyWay. To control for the day-to-day changes in the number of enrollees, we considered the ratio of PlayMyWay users 
who visited PPC on a given day to the number of cardholders enrolled in PlayMyWay on that day. Figure 15 shows this ratio 
as a function of date. From the graph, we see a decline in visits by PlayMyWay users per day as a share of net enrollment. 
On average, while 24.1% of PlayMyWay users visited PPC on a daily basis in the first month (between June 8, 2016 to July 8, 
2016), during the last five months of the study period (between September 1, 2016 and January 31, 2016), the number of 
visits by PlayMyWay users as a share of enrollment plateaued at a lower level, with only 5.3% of enrollees visiting PPC on a 
daily basis. 

 
Figure 15: Number of PlayMyWay-visitors per day as a share of net enrollment. 

 
 

 
Regional Participation 

During the study period, the 92,168 non-users made 629,348 visits to PPC. At the county level within Massachusetts, the 
largest share of visits to PPC came from Norfolk county (115,936 visits, 18.4% of visits), Bristol county (99,618 visits, 15.8%), 
Middlesex county (90,098 visits 14.3%), and Plymouth county (66,483 visits, 10.6%). Figure 16 below graphically illustrates 
the geographical distribution of visitation to PPC among non-users. Not surprisingly, the county where PPC is located 
(Norfolk county) and a few neighboring counties (Bristol, Middlesex, Plymouth and Worcester) account for a majority of the 
visits (74.4% of total visits). Outside of Massachusetts, the largest share of visitors (46,520 visits, 7.4%) came from 
Providence, Rhode Island. 



49  

Figure 16: Number of visits to PPC among non-users from within Massachusetts. 

 
The PlayMyWay users with a valid zip code (N = 8,820)15 made 57,396 visits to PPC between June 8, 2016 and January 31, 
2017. Among PlayMyWay users, residents from Massachusetts made 45,460 (79.2% of the total) visits. The share of visits 
from Massachusetts residents is comparable to the share of PlayMyWay users who are from Massachusetts (78.7%), 
suggesting that being in closer proximity to PPC doesn’t necessarily translate into higher number of visits from PlayMyWay 
users. Within Massachusetts, however, distance to the casino does seem to play a role. Residents of Norfolk County, where 
PPC is located, contributed to the largest share of visits (9,961 visits, 17.4 %), followed by Middlesex County (8,688 visits, 
15.1%), Bristol County (8,443 visits, 14.7%), and Suffolk County (6,881 visits, 12.0%). Similar to non-users, other than 
counties within Massachusetts, Providence, Rhode Island contributed the largest share of visitors among PlayMyWay users 
(5,333 visits, 9.3%). Figure 17 below illustrates the spatial distribution within Massachusetts of the number of visits among 
PlayMyWay users. 

 
Figure 17: Number of visits to PPC among PlayMyWay users within Massachusetts.  

 
 

 
15 In total, 8,853 individuals with relevant demographic information used PlayMyWay, but 33 players did not have a valid zip code. 



50  

Natural Betting Groups 

The previous analyses provide a general description of visitation and wagering behavior among our sample of PlayMyWay 
users. However, we also sought to understand and characterize the nature of some within sample differences. To 
understand these potential differences, we employed k-means cluster analysis to construct natural groupings based on 
each users’ total amount wagered, net winnings, and number of visits to PPC. We conducted two separate cluster analyses, 
one for non-users (N = 92,168) and one for PlayMyWay users (N = 8,856). Each analysis partitioned its group of cardholders 
into two subgroups. To explore whether or not the distributions of the variables (i.e., total amount wagered, number of 
visits, net winnings) across one subgroup were different from the corresponding distributions across the other, we 
performed two sets of three permutation tests with random samples of 10,000 permutations and the difference in means 
as the test statistic (Butar & Park, 2008). One set compared the two subgroups of PlayMyWay users. The other set 
compared the two subgroups of non-users. 

 
Figure 18, a scatterplot of non-users’ total amounts wagered and net winnings, illustrates the differences in the two 
subgroups of non-users. The first subgroup, which we designated the typical non-users, is the plurality (n = 92,017). The 
second group, which we called the atypical non-users, was a much smaller group (n = 151). Typical non-users wagered less 
money at PPC during the study period (mean = $6,708, SD = $21,392, median = $879) than atypical non-users (mean = 
$711,300, SD = $531,437, median = $512,200; p < 0.0001). Typical non-users also made fewer visits to PPC (mean = 6, SD = 
13, median = 2) than atypical non-users (mean = 88, SD = 56, median = 72; p < 0.0001). Finally, in terms of their net winning, 
typical non-users tended to lose less money at PPC16 (mean = -$977, SD = $4,366, median = -$127) compared with atypical 
non-users (mean = -$168,100, SD = $237,548, median = -$94,200; p < 0.0001). 

 
 

Figure 18: Scatterplot of non-users’ total amounts wagered and net winnings, by subgroup. 

 

 
16 The negative values for net winnings, both here and in Figures 18 and 19, mean that cardholders lost money. 



51  

Figure 19, a scatterplot of PlayMyWay users’ total amounts wagered and net winnings, illustrates the differences in the two 
subgroups of PlayMyWay users. Consistent with the results for the non-users, the first subgroup of PlayMyWay users, which 
we designated the typical PlayMyWay users, contains most of the PlayMyWay users (n = 8,814). The second subgroup, 
which we designated the atypical PlayMyWay users, is much smaller (n = 42). Typical PlayMyWay users wagered less money 
at PPC during the study period (mean = $4,575, SD = $14,007, median = $569) than atypical PlayMyWay users (mean = 
$358,200, SD = $227,148, median = $254,500; p < 0.0001). Typical PlayMyWay users also made fewer visits to PPC (mean = 
6, SD = 13, median = 2) than atypical PlayMyWay users (mean = 91, SD = 54, median = 78; p < 0.0001). Typical PlayMyWay 
users also lost less money at PPC (mean = -$564, SD = $1,806, median = -$87) than atypical PlayMyWay users (mean = - 
$30,240, SD = $33,424, median = -$24,810; p < 0.0001). 

 

Figure 19: Scatterplot of PlayMyWay users’ total amounts wagered and net winnings, by subgroup.  

 
 
 

Gender Differences 

The demographics subset contained gender information for 8,249 PlayMyWay users, more than half of who were female 
(4,594 females to 3,655 males, 55.7% to 44.3%). However, male PlayMyWay users contributed more than half of the total 
amount wagered by the PlayMyWay users over the study period (55.4% versus 44.6%). Figure 20 illustrates how the share 
of PlayMyWay users and share of total amount wagered varied by gender. One explanation for why males contributed a 
larger share of the total amount wagered despite being less than half of the PlayMyWay users is that male PlayMyWay 
users visited PPC more often than female PlayMyWay users. In fact, the total numbers of visits by gender were roughly 
equal (27,455 visits by males to 27,368 visits by females, 50.1% to 49.9%). 



52  

Figure 20: Share of PlayMyWay users and share of total amount wagered by gender.  

 
 

 
In terms of amount wagered per day, the median female PlayMyWay user spent $31.2 more than their male counterpart, 
whereas the median female non-user spent $28.5 more than their male counterpart (Table 20). However, the mean 
amount wagered per day was larger for males than for their female counterparts among both PlayMyWay users and non- 
users. This likely indicates that the distribution of total amount wagered among male PlayMyWay users contained more 
large outliers than the corresponding distribution for non-users. The differences in the distributions also provide an 
explanation for why, despite being less than half of all PlayMyWay users, male PlayMyWay users have wagered more as a 
group than female PlayMyWay users. 

 
Table 20: Summary statistics of gambling activity by enrollment status and gender.  

  Non-users PlayMyWay users 
  Mean SD Median Mean SD Median 
Amount wagered 
per day ($) 

Female $1,082.5 $2,563.5 $499.3 $868.8 $1,786.9 $367.5 
Male $1,254.6 $3,597.3 $470.8 $1,075.9 $2,992.8 $336.3 

Amount lost per day ($) Female $165.6 $1,218.3 $68.8 $104.2 $278.5 $52.6 
Male $209.7 $1,954.4 $59.4 $114.4 $498.0 $43.7 

*A Kruskal-Wallis Test showed that, at the significance level of 0.01, the distributions of male and female PlayMyWay users and non-users were 
statistically different. 



53  

Figure 21 below illustrates the temporal trend in average amount wagered per day by gender. The graph shows that male 
PlayMyWay users tend to be more volatile, with their average amount wagered per day fluctuating more. 

 
Figure 21: Average amount wagered per day over time by type of enrollment and gender.  

 
 

 
The median female PlayMyWay user lost $8.9 more than her male counterpart, whereas the median female non-user lost 
$9.4 more than her male counterpart (Table 20). Just as we found for amount wagered per day, we found that the average 
amount lost per day was higher for male PlayMyWay users than female PlayMyWay users. Similarly, one explanation why 
the average amount lost for male PlayMyWay users was higher than that of female PlayMyWay users is that the distribution 
for males likely contains more large outliers than the distribution for female PlayMyWay users. Figure 22 below illustrates 
the temporal trends in average amount lost per day among males and females. 

 
Figure 22: Average amount lost per day over time by type of enrollment and gender.  

 



54  

Age Differences 

The average age of the Marquee Rewards cardholders was 58.3. The average ages of PlayMyWay users and non-users were 
53.3 and 58.7, respectively, indicating that the PlayMyWay users tended to be slightly younger than the non-users. Among 
PlayMyWay users, the largest share of players was between ages 50 and 69 (43.2%), followed by 35-to-49-year-olds 
(22.3%). In addition to having the largest share of PlayMyWay users, the 50-to-69 age group also had the largest share of 
total amount wagered, contributing 51.2% of the total amount wagered by the PlayMyWay users’ cohort. On the other 
hand, the 21-to-34 age group (15.7% of the PlayMyWay users) only contributed 5.4% of the total amount wagered (see 
Figure 23). Thus, older PlayMyWay users tended to visit more often and gamble more than younger PlayMyWay users. For 
example, 62% of the PlayMyWay users were older than 50 years old, and they accounted for 72.1% of the total amount 
wagered and 72.9% of the visits by PlayMyWay users. 

 
Figure 23: Share of PlayMyWay users and share of amount wagered by age group. 

 



55  

Table 21 shows that in terms of amount wagered per day, the median amount increased from one age group to the next for 
both PlayMyWay users and non-users. For PlayMyWay users, the median amount wagered was $196.1 for those age 21 to 
34, $315.9 for those age 35 to 49, $348.0 for those age 50 to 69, and $430.5 to those age 70 to 95. The average amount 
wagered for PlayMyWay users and non-users, on the other hand, was highest for the 35-to-49 age group. 

 
Table 21: Summary statistics of gambling activity by enrollment status and age group. 

  Non-users PlayMyWay users 
 Age Group Mean SD Median Mean SD Median 
 

Amount wagered 
per day ($) 

21-34 $901.5 $4,274.7 $235.5 $688.0 $1,743.0 $196.1 
35-49 $1,320.6 $3,598.2 $411.8 $1,112.2 $3,423.9 $315.9 
50-69 $1,205.5 $3,191.3 $507.9 $971.7 $2,336.9 $348.0 
70-95 $1,011.9 $1,957.8 $526.0 $896.8 $1,684.8 $430.5 

 

Amount lost per 
day ($) 

21-34 $204.4 $3,427.4 $24.7 $59.3 $261.7 $27.7 
35-49 $227.7 $1,866.0 $52.7 $101.2 $614.3 $44.1 
50-69 $190.3 $1,531.2 $67.5 $113.1 $338.6 $48.6 
70-95 $143.1 $711.7 $70.6 $118.4 $305.1 $58.6 

* A Kruskal-Wallis Test showed that, at the significance level of 0.01, the distributions of PlayMyWay users and non-users of different age 
groups were statistically different. 

 
Figure 24 below illustrates the change in average amount wagered per day by age. We see that for both PlayMyWay users 
and non-users, amount wagered rises with age initially and then declines. Among PlayMyWay users, the average amount 
wagered per day appears to be highest with those who are roughly age 50, whereas for non-users the peak occurs slightly 
earlier among non-users in their mid-40’s. 

 
Figure 24: Average amount wagered per day over time by type of enrollment and age. 

 



56  

Similar to what we observed with amounts wagered, the median net losses among older PlayMyWay users and non-users 
tended to be higher than the median net losses among younger PlayMyWay users and non-users. For PlayMyWay users, the 
median amount lost was $27.7 among those age 21 to 34, $44.1 among those age 35 to 49, $48.6 among those age 50 to 
69, and $58.6 among those age 70 to 95. Figure 25 below graphically illustrates the relationship between average amount 
lost per day and age. We see that, in general, there seems to be an increasing trend with age regarding the average amount 
lost per day for PlayMyWay users and a decreasing trend with age for those who never used PlayMyWay. 

 
Figure 25: Average amount lost per day over time by type of enrollment and age. 

 
 

3.2.5. PlayMyWay Enrollment & Un-enrollment Trends 

In this section, we report upon information from the PlayMyWay records, which included 7,507 enrolled Marquee Rewards 
cardholders. Using the information from these records, we report upon enrollment and un-enrollment, as well as budget- 
related information, including budget sizes, changes, and compliance. 

 
Of the 7,507 users enrolled in PlayMyWay during the study period, 1,109 (14.8%) un-enrolled at least once (i.e., the erratic 
users and the dropouts described in Section 3.2.1.), whereas 6,398 users never un-enrolled (i.e., the stable users described 
in Section 3.2.1). Of the users who un-enrolled, most (79.1%) un-enrolled just once. Just under one fifth (18.2%) un-enrolled 
twice (i.e., un-enrolled, then re-enrolled, then un-enrolled again), and the remainder (2.6%) un-enrolled 3 or more times. 
Three users enrolled and un-enrolled from PlayMyWay 6 times. Combined, users generated 7,886 enrollment actions and 
1,392 un-enrollment actions during the study period. 



57  

Figure 26 shows the number of people who enrolled into PlayMyWay per day from June 8, 2016 (i.e., when the program 
started) to January 31, 2017. The graph reveals a high rate of enrollment when the program was first unveiled, followed by 
a gradual plateau over time. 

 
Figure 26: Daily number of enrollments during the study period. 

 
Similarly, the trajectory of enrollment for PlayMyWay users during the first 90 days (please see Figure 27) shows a peak in 
the initial stages (169 individuals enrolled on June 10, 2016), after which the rate at which people join plateaus at a lower 
level. 

 
Figure 27: Daily number of enrollments during the first 90 days. 

 



58  

When un-enrollments occurred, they tended to happen quickly (see Figure 28 and Figure 29). As illustrated in Figure 28, for 
the 1,392 total un-enrollment actions, about half of them took place almost immediately. However, the rate of un- 
enrollment quickly slowed. 

 
Figure 28: Percentile rankings for the number of days between enrollment and un-enrollment actions (n = 1,392) during the 

study period. 

 
 
To further understand the distribution of un-enrollments, we broke down Figure 28 into arbitrary time periods (i.e., 1 
minute, 1 hour, 1 day, 1 week, 30 days, and 90 days) and plotted the percentage of un-enrollments that occurred within 
each period (see Figure 29). Of the 1,392 un-enrollments recorded during the study period, five percent happened within 
the first minute, while a third happened within the first hour. Just under half of all un-enrollments from PlayMyWay 
occurred by the end of the first day. After the first day, the rate of un-enrollments slowed significantly, with just less than 
three quarters of un-enrollments occurring at the end of 30 days. The final un-enrollment we observed occurred just over 
232 days after initial enrollment. 



59  

Figure 29: Percentage of PlayMyWay un-enrollment actions within pre-specified time periods during the study period. 

 
 

 
3.2.6. Budget & Notification Activity 

In this section, we also report upon information from the PlayMyWay records, which included 7,507 enrolled Marquee 
Rewards cardholders. Using the information from these records, we examine budget types, budget changes, budget sizes, 
budget notification types, and budget notification compliance. 

 
Budget Setting Characteristics 

Although PlayMyWay users have the option of setting a combination of daily, weekly, and monthly budgets, most (n = 
6,363, 84.8%) set one type of budget during the study period (see Figure 30). The majority of users (n = 4,286, 57.1%) only 
set a daily budget. The next largest group was those who only set a monthly budget (n = 1,416, 18.8%). A smaller number of 
users (n = 1,144, 15.2%) set a combination of budgets. Of users who set a combination of budgets, most (77.9%) set all 3 
types of budgets, followed by daily and weekly budgets (11.5%), daily and monthly budgets (6.6%), and weekly and monthly 
budgets (4.0%). Combining users who set single budgets with users who set multiple budgets, a total of 5,384 users set daily 
budgets, 1,730 users set weekly budgets, and 2,429 users set monthly budgets during the study period. 



60  

Figure 30: Venn diagram for the distribution of budgets set by PlayMyWay users. 

 
 

 
Budget Changes 

Among the 7,507 PlayMyWay users in our sample, 569 (7.6%) changed their daily, weekly, or monthly budget. The results 
show that among those who changed their daily, weekly, or monthly budget, 487 changed their budget only once, 61 
changed their budget twice, and 21 changed their budget more than twice. 

 
Table 22: Summary of people who change budgets. 

  

Number of 
people 

Share of 
total 

enrollees 

Share of 
budget 
changers 

Changed budget once 487 6.5% 85.6% 
Changed budget twice 61 0.8% 10.7% 
Changed budget more than twice 21 0.3% 3.7% 
Total 569 7.6% 100% 



61  

This included 402 individuals who changed their daily budget (5.4% of those who enrolled), 118 who changed their weekly 
budget (1.6% of those who enrolled), and 142 who changed their monthly budget (1.9% of those who enrolled) (see Table 
23). Some individuals changed more than one of their budgets. 

 
Table 23: Summary of budget changes by budget type. 

 Changed 
Daily 

Budget 

Changed 
Weekly 
Budget 

Changed 
Monthly 
Budget 

Number of people 402 118 142 
Share of enrollees (%) 5.4% 1.6% 1.9% 
Share of budget changes (%) 60.7% 17.8% 21.5% 

 
Among those who changed their budget, the median person took only 2 days to make the adjustment (see Table 24). 

 
Table 24: Mean, standard deviation, and median for time between enrollment and change in budget limits.  

 
Mean SD Median 

Time between enrollment and first edit (in days) 26.7 44.8 2.0 
Time between enrollment and second edit (in days) 48.8 55.6 26.5 

 

 
Sizes of Budgets and Budget Changes 

The summary statistics for the daily, weekly, and monthly budgets set by players to keep track of their gambling behavior 
show a large standard deviation relative to the mean (see Table 25). As discussed in Section 2.5.4., when we see such a 
pattern in data, the median is a more instructive indicator than the mean. From Table 25, we see that when the 7,507 
enrollees contained in the PlayMyWay budget activity records first set their budget at the time of enrollment, the median 
person set a daily budget of $75, a weekly budget of $200, and a monthly budget of $300. After the initial budgets are set, 
individuals also have the opportunity to revise their budgets. 

 
There was a total of 699 instances of budgets being modified. Among those who made the change, the updated median 
estimate shows an upward revision to their budgets – we see an increase in the daily budget by 366.6% to $350, the weekly 
budget by 350% to $900, and the monthly budget by 233.3% to $1000. 



62  

Table 25: Summary statistics of player budgets. 

At time of enrollment 
N = 7507 

 Mean SD Median 

Per Day $505.9 $1719.9 $75 
Per Week $1356.8 $4590.9 $200 
Per Month $3547.0 $13714.5 $300 

 
Change of budget after enrollment 
N = 699 

 Mean SD Median 
Per Day $942.3 $1,924.9 $350 
Per Week $1,692.3 $2,423.7 $900 
Per Month $4,953.2 $14,339.6 $1,000 

 
Figure 31 graphically shows the distribution of daily, weekly and monthly budgets at the time of enrollment. The graph 
illustrates the skewed (uneven) distribution of budgets across the spectrum. Whereas the median daily, weekly, and 
monthly budgets were $75, $200 and $300 respectively, the maximum values in the corresponding categories were 
$25,000, $50,000, and $100,000. These maximum values contributed to the higher standard deviations and means. 

 
Figure 31: Distribution of budget at time of enrollment by type of budget. 

 



63  

Figure 32 graphically shows the shift in distribution of budget for those who edited their budgets. The graphs show the 
general trend that budget changes most likely involved upward revisions. 

 
Figure 32: Distribution of budget changes by type of budget. 

 
 
 

Budget Notifications 

As discussed earlier, players receive notifications that inform them when they approach and/or reach certain threshold 
values based on the budget that they set for themselves. A pertinent question, therefore, is how the budgets that the 
players set for themselves relate to whether they receive notification or not. To understand the relationship between 
budget sizes and budget notifications, we categorized PlayMyWay enrollees based on whether they received a reached or 

exceeded notification17 – 3,265 of the enrollees received one of these types of notifications, while 4,242 did not. Table 26 
below shows that those who received a reached/exceeded notification tended to have a lower budget compared to those 
who did not. The daily, weekly and monthly median budget of $32, $100, and $200 for those who received the 
reached/exceeded notifications were significantly less than the corresponding median values of $100, $300, and $500 for 
those who did not receive such notifications. A Kruskal-Wallis test showed that the differences between these median 
values were statistically significant. 

 
 
 

17 Enrollees were defined as having received notification if they reached their budget (i.e. received a 100% limit reached notification), or 
exceeded their budget (i.e. received notification that they had exceeded budget by more than 100%). 



64  

Table 26: Summary statistics of budget by whether players received a reached/exceeded notification. 

 Received a 
reached or exceeded notification 

Never received a 
reached or exceeding notification 

 N = 3,265 (43.5%) N = 4,242 (56.5%) 
 Mean SD Median Mean SD Median 

Daily Budget $190.8 $824.9 $32 $747.5 $2,136.9 $100 

Weekly Budget $661.8 $2,735.5 $100 $1,759.0 $5,144.2 $300 
Monthly Budget $1,699.0 $9,009.6 $200 $4,374.0 $15,346.4 $500 

* A Kruskal-Wallis Test shows that, at the significance level of 0.01, the median values for those who 
received notifications and those who did not were statistically different. 

 
Figure 33 graphically displays the budgets set by the PlayMyWay users against whether players ever received a notification 
or not; Figure 33 helps to visualize the distribution of budgets for these two groups. For the weekly and monthly budgets 
(contrary to the daily budget), the maximum budget for those who received a notification and those who didn’t receive one 
are comparable, suggesting that there is precedence to such a high budget limit being reached. 

 
Figure 33: Budget disaggregated by whether players received notification or not. 

 

 
We also were interested in understanding how specific notification experiences were associated with budget changes and 
un-enrollment from PlayMyWay. To do this, we examined all possible PlayMyWay enrollments and associated notification 
patterns, and their relationships with budget changes and system un-enrollments. 

 
There was a total of 7,886 enrollment actions (i.e., all enrollments for PlayMyWay users, including users who un- 
enrolled/enrolled multiple times in the available PlayMyWay records data. We categorized each of these enrollment actions 
into the following budget notification classes: (1) Never approached their budgets (Never approached budget); (2) 
approached their budgets (Approached budget); (3) approached and reached their budgets (Reached budget); or (4) 
approached, reached, and exceeded their budgets (Exceeded budget). We determined that 3,456 (i.e., 44% of all possible 
actions) enrollment actions never were associated with a notification. In all 1,110 enrollments were associated with an 



65  

“approaching” notification, 491 were associated with a “reached” notification, and 2,829 were associated with a 

notification that they “exceeded” their recorded budget.18 

 
We started by looking at budget changes. Table 27 shows that changing budgets shared a partial direct relationship with 
budget class. Here, we used two-sample tests for equality of proportions (α = 0.05) to test for significant differences 
between budget classes. The approached budget action class was eight percent more likely to involve budget changes (9.5% 
of the time) than the never approached budget action class (1.6% of the time) (p < 0.01). The reached budget action class 
was 3.9% more likely to change their budgets than the approaching budget action class (p < 0.05). However, the exceeded 
budget action class was not more likely to change budgets than the reached budget action class. In fact, the opposite was 
true (p < 0.01). 

 
Table 27: PlayMyWay user budget class by the number of users who changed their budget during the study period.  

 
Users Users who changed 

a budget 
Users who did not 
change a budget 

Budget class n Percentage N Percentage N Percentage 
Never approached budget 3,456 100% 57 1.6% 3,399 98.4% 
Approached budget 1,110 100% 105 9.5% 1,005 90.5% 
Reached budget 491 100% 66 13.4% 425 86.6% 
Exceeded budget 2,829 100% 349 12.3% 2,480 87.7% 

 
We then examined un-enrollments. Because our analysis of un-enrollments indicated a large amount happened quickly, we 
separated out early un-enrollments (i.e., un-enrollments that occurred within a day) from other un-enrollments. Budget 
action classes that involved exceeding budgets were more likely to have un-enrollments from PlayMyWay after one day 
than budget actions that involved approaching or never approaching budgets. After one day, budget classes that involved 
approaching budgets were more than twice as likely to involve un-enrollments from PlayMyWay after one day than budget 
action classes that never involved approaching budgets (9.1% versus 4.1%, p < 0.01). Budget action classes that involved 
reaching budgets were 3.3% more likely than budget classes involving approaching budgets to involve un-enrollments after 
one day (p < 0.05). Budget action classes involving exceeding budgets were not more likely than budget action classes 
involving reaching budgets to involve un-enrolling after one day (p = 0.11). 

 
Budget action classes that involved never approaching budgets were far more likely to involve early un-enrollments (i.e., 
within one day) from PlayMyWay (11.9%) compared to budget actions that involved approaching budgets (6.6%, p < 0.01), 
reaching budgets (5.7%, p < 0.01), and exceeding budgets (5.7%, p < 0.01; see Table 28). Of the 539 un-enrollments 
observable for the never approached class, over three quarters of them (76.2%) involved un-enrolling within the first day. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18 Recall that enrollment actions can often involve receiving “exceeded” notifications but not “reached” notifications. These are 
instances when, in a single spin, the user moves from being under his or her budget to being well over his or her budget. Users only 
receive “reached” notifications when they hit their budget exactly or are within 25% over it. 



66  

Table 28: PlayMyWay user budget class by the number of users who un-enrolled during the study period. 

 Users Users who un-enrolled 
within one day 

Users who un-enrolled 
after one day 

Users who did not 
un-enroll 

Budget class n Percentage n Percentage n Percentage n Percentage 
Never approached budget 3,456 100.0% 411 11.9% 128 3.7% 2,917 84.4% 
Approached budget 1,110 100.0% 73 6.6% 101 9.1% 936 84.3% 
Reached budget 491 100.0% 28 5.7% 61 12.4% 402 81.9% 
Exceeded budget 2,829 100.0% 162 5.7% 429 15.2% 2,238 79.1% 

 
 

Budget Compliance & Non-compliance 

Figure 34 provides a full consort diagram for PlayMyWay budget compliance activity. Of the 7,507 PlayMyWay users 
examined during the study period, about 42% never approached their budgets. Most (57%) PlayMyWay users did not reach 
their budget or exceed their budget (63%); however, among those users who did approach their budgets (N = 4,336), about 
75% of these players reached their budgets and 64% reached and exceeded their budgets. 

 
Figure 34: Consort diagram of PlayMyWay budget activity. 

 



67  

Recall that the PlayMyWay system is designed in such a way that many users receive immediate approached, reached, and 
exceeded notifications upon enrollment. Such immediate notifications might hold different meaning for users than other 
notifications. In light of this design characteristic, in Appendix C, we provide a complementary analysis which excludes 
budget notifications that occurred within the same day, week, or month that a user sets or changes their daily, weekly or 
monthly budget. In brief, this alternative consort diagram shows that most users in the filtered data (66%) did not approach 
budgets (i.e., did not receive any PlayMyWay budget notifications). Likewise, a smaller number of total users reached their 
budgets (25.7%) and exceeded their budgets (22.4%). See Appendix C for more details. 

 
We examined factors that might be associated with budget compliance including budget type, budget size, and number of 
budget notifications. 

 
Budget Type. To demonstrate how budget type relates to tendency to exceed budgets, Figure 35 shows arbitrary budget 
exceeding categories by the various budget types and, for each budget type, the percentage of all users who fall into each 
exceeding category. Of the 7,507 PlayMyWay users in our analytic sample, 5,384 users set a daily budget, 1,730 users set a 
weekly budget, and 2,429 set a monthly budget.19 Of users who set and exceeded their daily budget (2,053 users), 26.5% 
spent a maximum of between 125% to 200% of their daily budget and over half (57.1%) spent a maximum of between 201% 
to 1000% percent of their daily budget. A smaller portion of users who set and exceeded their daily budget spent over 
1000% of their daily budget (16.4%). In comparison, among users who set and exceeded weekly budgets (438 users) and 
monthly budgets (472 users), a slightly larger portion of those users spent a maximum of 200% or less (37.2% and 38.8%, 
respectively) of their budgets, half of them spent a maximum between 201% to 1000% (50.0% and 50.0%, respectively), and 
a smaller number spent a maximum of over 1000% of their respective budgets (12.8% and 11.2%, respectively). These 
results show that users who set daily budgets are more likely to exceed those budgets and also more likely to exceed their 
budgets by a greater maximum than users who set weekly and monthly budgets. 

 
Figure 35: Type of budget by the maximum percentage exceeded. 

 
 
 
 
 

19 PlayMyWay users can set more than one type of budget (see Figure 30 at the beginning of Section 3.2.6), which is why the sum of all 
users who set daily, weekly, and/or monthly budgets in this analysis (9,543 users) is greater than the analytic sample size (7,507 users). 



68  

Budget Size. Both the likelihood of users exceeding their budget and the extent to which they exceed their budget can be 
partially explained by budget size. To illustrate, we report the median budgets for each of the budget exceeding categories 
in Table 29. For users who set daily budgets, those who did not exceed their budget set similarly sized budgets to those who 
modestly exceeded their budget (i.e., exceeding by a maximum of 125 to 500 percent). The users who did not exceed their 
daily budget and the users who modestly exceeded their daily budgets each had median daily budgets of $100. 

 
Table 29: Level of exceeding by median20 budget values (in dollars). 

Maximum level of exceeding Median daily 
budget 

Median weekly 
budget 

Median monthly 
budget 

Greater than 10000% of budget $1.00 $1.50 $10.00 
Between 1001% and 10000% of a budget $10.00 $20.00 $20.00 
Between 501%-1000% of budget $20.00 $40.00 $100.00 
Between 201% and 500% of budget $50.00 $100.00 $100.00 
Between 125% and 200% of budget $100.00 $150.00 $200.00 
Did not exceed budget (i.e., less than 100% of any budget) $100.00 $300.00 $500.00 

 
For the users who set weekly or monthly budgets, those who did not exceed their budget set higher average budgets than 
even those who modestly exceeded their budgets. Users who did not exceed their weekly and monthly budget had median 
budget sizes of $300 and $500, respectively, while users who spent a maximum between 125% and 200% of their weekly 
and monthly budgets had median budgets of $150 and $200, respectively. Users who spent a maximum between 201% and 
500% of their weekly and monthly budgets had median budgets of $100, which are, respectively, three quarters the size 
and half the size of the median budgets for users who spent a maximum of 125% to 200% of their budgets. 

 
Regardless of the budget type, users who greatly exceeded their budget (i.e., spending a maximum of over 500% of a 
budget) had lower median budgets than both users who did not exceed their budgets and users who modestly exceeded 
their budgets. As an extreme example, the median budgets for users who exceeded their budget by a maximum of over 
10,000% were $1.00, $1.50, and $10.00 for daily budgets, weekly budgets, and monthly budgets, respectively. 

 
Number of Notifications. PlayMyWay users who exceeded their budgets received more exceeding notifications per day in 
comparison to the number of approaching/reaching notifications received per day by individuals who either approached or 
reached their budget. The 4,336 PlayMyWay users who approached their budgets during the study period received a 
median of three approaching notifications per day. Comparably, the 3,265 PlayMyWay users who reached their budget also 
received a median of three reaching notifications per day. Finally, the 2,781 PlayMyWay users who exceeded their budgets 
received a median of 10 exceeding notifications per day. 

 
To assess the extent to which users stopped their play either before they reach their budget or once they reach their 
budget, we calculated the number of any additional notifications (approaching, reached, and/or exceeded) users received 
for the day in any instance they reached or exceeded their daily budget21 and received an initial notification (N = 5,696 
instances) (see Table 30). Users only receive additional notifications after reaching their budget if they keep gambling. For 
this analysis, we removed from consideration any instances where users un-enrolled from PlayMyWay or changed their 

 
 

20 Medians reflect the latest budgets set by the user during the study period. We chose the latest median budget under the assumption 
that it reflects the most “reasonable” budget; that is, the user has had time to experiment with different budget sizes before settling on 
this budget. 
21 We chose to do this analysis for daily budgets (as opposed to weekly and monthly budgets) because most PlayMyWay users set a 
daily budget (see Figure 30, the Venn Diagram). 



69  

budgets within the same day (n = 545 instances) because we were interested in budget compliance among steady 
PlayMyWay users. This left 5,151 instances for analysis. 

 
Our results show that in about one in ten instances (9.5% of the time), steady users did not receive any additional 
notifications for that day (i.e., potentially stopped gambling). In a majority of instances (90.5%), steady users continued to 
receive additional notifications (i.e., continued to gamble22) once they were informed they hit their budget. Steady users 
received between 1 and 10 additional notifications in 41.4% of instances and between 11 and 100 additional notifications in 
46.7% of instances. In 2.3% of instances, steady users received more than 100 additional notifications. One steady user 
received 554 additional notifications within the day after hitting their daily budget, the most of any we observed. 

 
Table 30: Number of additional notifications received upon users hitting their daily budget, by number of instances. 

Number of additional notifications received after hitting 
daily budget 

Number of unique 
steady users 

Instances Percentage 
of all instances 

No additional notifications 415 490 9.5% 
One additional notification 287 330 6.4% 
Between 2 and 10 additional notifications 1131 1804 35.0% 
Between 11 and 100 additional notifications 1176 2406 46.7% 
More than 100 additional notifications 104 121 2.3% 
Total 3113 5151 100.0% 

 
Because instances of hitting daily budgets are not shared equally among individual users (i.e., in Table 30, the number of 
instances is always greater than the number of unique users), we repeated the previous analysis for all users who hit their 
daily budget at least once point during the study period (N = 2,271) and calculated the total number of additional 
notifications received in all instances when they hit their daily budgets (Table 31). The results from this analysis were 
comparable to the results from our analysis of instances. During the study period, 8.9% of users received no additional 
notifications in all instances of hitting their daily budget (i.e., stopped gambling) and 91.1% of users received at least one 
additional notification (i.e., continued to gamble). Thirty-four percent of users received between 1 and 10 additional 
notifications and 46.2% of users received between 11 and 100 additional notifications. Compared to the share of instances 
(2.3%) a larger portion of users (10.9%) received more than 100 additional notifications amongst instances of hitting their 
daily budget. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

22 Because we could not link ACSC gambling data with data from the PlayMyWay server, we used additional notifications received within 
the day after hitting a daily budget as a proxy for continued gambling. Using this method, there could have been some instances where 
we were not able to capture continued gambling. If, for example, after hitting his or her daily budget, a user wins enough on the next 
spin that he or she drops below 50 percent of his or her daily budget, and then remains below 50 percent for the rest of the day. In this 
example, the user would not receive any type notification after hitting his or her daily budget and therefore we would not capture the 
additional gambling activity. 



70  

Table 31: Number of total additional notifications received by users in all instances of hitting their daily budget, by number 

of users. 

Number of total additional notifications received after 
hitting daily budget during study period 

Steady 
users 

Percentage of all 
steady users 

No additional notifications 203 8.9% 
One additional notification 130 5.7% 
Between 2 and 10 additional notifications 640 28.2% 
Between 11 and 100 additional notifications 1050 46.2% 
More than 100 additional notifications 248 10.9% 
Total 2271 100.0% 

 
Because many users received immediate notifications upon enrolling in PlayMyWay (which happens if the user has already 
exceeded one of their budgets before enrolling), we repeated the additional notification analyses excluding budget 
notifications that occurred within the same day, week, or month that a user sets or changes their daily, weekly or monthly 
budget (see Appendix C). The results of these analyses are similar to our analyses of the pre-filtered data. The only major 
difference was that there were slightly fewer instances of users receiving no additional notifications (8.8%) and, likewise, 
fewer users receiving no additional notifications in all instances of hitting daily budgets during the study period (7.4%). 

 
 

 

4.1. Purposes of this Study 

The Massachusetts Gaming Commission has stated that "PlayMyWay is intended to help players make decisions about 
gambling, allow them to monitor and understand their playing behavior in real time, and support their decisions" 
(Massachusetts Gaming Commission, 2016b). The current study is the first phase of a multi-year research agenda to assess 
and evaluate PlayMyWay’s ability to fulfill this promise and reach new goals. The primary purposes of this preliminary 
report therefore included (1) building an evidence-based foundation to support the development of more advanced 
evaluative activities, including the identification of appropriate and specific program goals, and (2) providing the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission with early objective information about the rollout of this responsible gambling 
program. Such information will inform decision-making regarding possible programmatic changes and the likelihood of 
long-term use of the PlayMyWay program. In this phase of the research agenda, we analyzed gambling activity and play 
management activity records to provide a general picture of program subscribers and how they use the system, as well as 
how the system might be associated with gambling behavior. Because the use of both PPC’s gambling facilities and 
PlayMyWay were voluntary, at this time we cannot make causal statements about PlayMyWay enrollment impact on 
gambling behavior (e.g., “PlayMyWay causes people to spend less each day they gamble.”). Instead, the available data 
allowed us to describe system use aspects such as enrollment and un-enrollment, budget sizes and types, and budget- 
related compliance evidence. In addition, we were able to make some basic comparisons regarding gambling-related 
activity, including wager sizes, visitations to PPC, and win/loss experiences. Such observations provide the necessary 
informational foundation to commence the next phase of evaluative activities. 

 
4.2. PlayMyWay Enrollment 

As noted earlier in the introduction, other jurisdictions have reported what might be described as limited success (e.g., 1%- 
2%) with enrolling people into voluntary play management programs. In contrast to these experiences, Massachusetts 
enrolled approximately 8,856 people in PlayMyWay during the study period: 8.7% of eligible individuals (i.e., Marquee 
Rewards cardholders). Furthermore, about 13.5% of individuals un-enrolled from PlayMyWay during the same period. This 
suggests that Massachusetts has fared better than other jurisdictions in terms of reaching enrollees using a commitment 

4. Discussion 



 

strategy not often subscribed to in other settings (i.e., incentives). Knowing the enrollment and un-enrollment rates during 
the study period now allows the Massachusetts Gaming Commission to set specific data-informed benchmarks about these 
activities (e.g., seek to maintain current enrollment rates, or increase such rates). Future studies can assess PlayMyWay’s 

ability to reach these benchmarks. 
 
We observed peak enrollment in PlayMyWay during its initial rollout month (June 2016), followed by a drop and plateau in 
the rate of enrollment through the remainder of the study period. We observed that about half (48%) of un-enrollments 
happened early in a subscriber’s experience with PlayMyWay (i.e., within the first day of enrollment). Furthermore, we 
noticed that many users who un-enrolled early never received any budget notifications prior to un-enrolling. During the 
initial rollout phase of the program, there was a small incentive (i.e., a $5 Marquee Rewards credit redeemable at the 
restaurants at PPC) to users who signed up for PlayMyWay. Because many of the early un-enrollers did not receive any 
budget notifications before un-enrolling, it is possible that many of them enrolled in PlayMyWay to receive the free 
promotional incentive and had no intention to use the system. However, it is also possible that some of these un-enrollees 
did explore PlayMyWay (e.g., used the tracking feature) and determined that it would was not useful to them specifically. 
Nonetheless, a meaningful number remained enrolled; this might suggest that the incentive was an effective strategy to 
induce enrollment. Additional research that uses a randomized design and assesses gambler motivations is needed to verify 
this suggestion. 

 
4.3. Differences by PlayMyWay Enrollment Status 

As described previously, and in detail below, the available data did not provide an opportunity to link the PlayMyWay 
records with the Marquee Rewards gambling activity records. Therefore, it was not possible for us to tie specific 
PlayMyWay actions (e.g., a specific budget notification) to specific gambling actions (e.g., card removal or changes in 
wagering patterns). To examine how PlayMyWay might have influenced gambling behavior, we compared the gambling 
activities of individuals who never enrolled in PlayMyWay (i.e., non-users) with individuals who ever enrolled in PlayMyWay 
(i.e., PlayMyWay users). We highlight some key findings here and discuss numerous limitations of this strategy and the 
associated data in detail in Sections 2.3.1 and 2.4.2, and below. 

 
We had gambling activity data available for 92,168 Marquee Rewards cardholders who never utilized PlayMyWay during 
the study period and gambling activity data for 8,856 Marquee Rewards cardholders who enrolled in PlayMyWay at some 
point during the study period. We observed that PlayMyWay users were more likely to be female and somewhat younger. 
An analysis of cash activity differences revealed a few important trends. PlayMyWay users had significantly more 
interaction (i.e., bill insertions, funds withdrawals, voucher redemptions) with slot machines and electronic table game 
stations than non-users, but there was no significant difference between PlayMyWay users’ and non-users’ interactions 
with video poker terminals. These findings suggest that PlayMyWay enrollment might be associated with cash activity on 
specific machine and game types, and by extension, may be associated with preferences for specific machines and games. 

 
PlayMyWay enrollment might be associated with some more conservative gambling outcomes. During the study period, 
non-users and PlayMyWay users made similar numbers of visits to PPC. However, non-users wagered more money and lost 
more money, on average, than PlayMyWay users. There are several possible explanations for these findings. It is possible 
that PlayMyWay stimulates more responsible gambling behavior. However, it also is possible that people who are drawn to 
PlayMyWay already are more conservative with respect to gambling. Additional research that uses a randomized design is 
necessary to make a causal attribution for such an association. Other possibilities exist, but this finding suggests that it 
might be worthwhile to develop a plan to evaluate PlayMyWay in a way that allows for randomization, and therefore 
provides evidence that permits causal interpretations for gambling activity outcomes. 

In some ways, PlayMyWay users looked like non-users. For both PlayMyWay users and non-users, our analysis of these 
natural groupings identified small groups of “atypical users” who wagered more money and made more frequent visits to 
PPC than “typical users.” Both among the non-users and among the PlayMyWay users, atypical users also tended to have 
significantly greater negative net winnings (i.e., lost significantly more money) than typical users. Evidence of such 

71 



 

similarities suggests that general messaging about specific responsible gambling topics could be developed to address 
atypical users. 

 
4.4. PlayMyWay Budget Notification Effects 

We observed that 42% of all PlayMyWay users never received budget notifications. Among all PlayMyWay users, 43% 
reached their budget and 37% exceeded their budget. Among only PlayMyWay users who received budget notifications, 
75% reached their budgets and 64% reached and exceeded their budgets. 

 
Those who did receive notifications were more likely to un-enroll from PlayMyWay after one day and were more likely to 
change their budgets compared to those who did not receive a notification. This suggests that program administrators and 
evaluators should study the notification process and the substance of the associated messages to determine whether users 
experience them to be unattractive and/or off-putting and then un-enroll as a consequence. 

 
We examined whether users complied with their budget. We could not explicitly verify compliance due to our inability to 
link the notifications to gambling activity; so, we considered this question by implicit verification. Specifically, we examined 
instances where users hit (i.e., reached or exceeded) their daily budget and if they received any additional notifications that 
day. Additional notifications provide evidence of continued gambling above self-imposed budgets. For those who did 
receive additional notifications, we counted the number of additional notifications they received. These examinations 
revealed that more than 9 in 10 users who reached their daily budget also received one or more additional notifications 
within the day. Therefore, after receiving a notification, most PlayMyWay users did not stop gambling. Many users received 
more than one additional notification. This means that they continued gambling after they already had reached their 
budget limit. These results should be interpreted with caution for several reasons. First, it is possible that some players 
chose to stop gambling before they reached their budgets. This analysis focused exclusively on those who did reach a 
budget. Second, because we were unable to link gambling activity data with PlayMyWay server data, we used the 
generation of additional notifications as a proxy indicator for continued gambling. Third, the absence of notifications could 
indicate that an individual no longer was using their Marquee Reward card, but still gambled that day. In this case, our 
indicator of continued gambling, and other related measures, would underestimate the percentage of users who exceeded 
their budgets. Notably, continuing to gamble does not necessarily indicate program failure. As stated earlier in the 
Executive Summary and Introduction, although a budget-related hard stop is one possible program goal, other goals are 
possible. 

 
We discovered that users who exceeded their budget often received multiple notifications after the initial notice that they 
had reached their budget. Most users who exceeded their budget exceeded it by more than 100% (i.e., spent more than 
200% of a budget), regardless of whether they set a daily, weekly or monthly budget. Exceeding budgets was related to 
budget size. Specifically, users who set larger budgets were less likely to exceed their budgets, whereas users who set 
smaller budgets were more likely to exceed their budgets. The reasons for this association are unclear and future research 
is necessary to determine whether the relationship is causal. 

 
4.5. Safety, Reach, and Effectiveness 

The available data compromised our ability to thoroughly evaluate the safety, effectiveness, and reach of PlayMyWay. 
However, this report provides information that will allow future research to address these issues in detail. For reach, we 
were able to report enrollment and un-enrollment rates; however, we had limited ability to report about specific gambling 
patterns that might predict enrollment and un-enrollment. Such information might be useful to boost player enrollment to 
PlayMyWay because operators could target specific messages to different types of users. 

 
In terms of safety, one way to evaluate the program would have been to examine how patterns of gambling behavior 
change over time, before and after PlayMyWay enrollment. For example, we were unable to examine whether PlayMyWay 
enrollment inadvertently stimulates excessive and/or wildly fluctuating gambling behavior. We also were not able to 

 

72 



73  

determine whether budget notifications provoke reckless gambling choices. For example, we could not assess whether 
PlayMyWay notifications are associated with continued gambling in order to try and recover previous losses (i.e., chasing 
losses). 

 
We also had limited ability to assess effectiveness in an in-depth way. Because we did not have linked data, we could not 
determine whether notifications seem to be associated with responsible or irresponsible gambling choices; we could not 
determine whether specific types of notifications related to budget compliance. As noted above, we approximated the 
latter by investigating patterns of notifications over time and searching for excessive notifications. But, this strategy is 
imprecise compared with a strategy that would rely upon actual gambling activity patterns that occur subsequent to 
specific notifications. Future research should consider each of these areas more rigorously before deciding whether 
PlayMyWay was or is effective or ineffective. 

 
4.6. Limitations 

We encountered numerous critical data issues during the development and implementation of this study. Although we 
detail these issues in Appendix A, we also review them here so that readers can take this information into consideration as 
they read this discussion. 

 
For this preliminary analysis, we did not have the ability to link the budget activity data in the PlayMyWay records to the 
Marquee Rewards betting data. This link is essential to our current and long-term study objectives. This data limitation 
restricted our analyses in two primary ways. First, we were not able to adequately connect a cardholder’s gambling activity 
data with the time periods during which they were enrolled and not enrolled in PlayMyWay. This restricted our ability to 
examine specifically whether and how PlayMyWay affected cardholders’ gambling activity. Second, we were not able to 
explore potential associations between specific interactions with PlayMyWay (e.g., enrolling and un-enrolling, receiving 
notifications) and cardholders’ gambling behavior. Instead, we needed to develop proxy methods as an attempt to answer 
key questions. 

 
We also discovered evidence that the gambling activity files for PlayMyWay users were missing data. During the study 
period, there were notable gaps of time evident in the records. In total, there was no recorded PlayMyWay gambling 
activity during 682 out of the 5,880 total hours in the study period (i.e., 13.7% of all hours). This possibility of missing data 
introduced uncertainty into our statistical calculations (e.g., number of visits, total amount wagered, net winnings) for 
PlayMyWay users. 

 
We also suspect that there was a significant amount of data missing from the Marquee Rewards betting data, particularly in 
the gambling activity data files. We discovered, for example, that due to the design of the data pull routines created by 
Scientific Games, if a cardholder enrolled in PlayMyWay and remained enrolled through the end of the month and past the 
parameters of that month’s data pull, we would not receive the non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data for days of the 
month before they enrolled. Furthermore, some of the cardholders had gambling activity data both in the files for 
PlayMyWay users and the files for non-users. We were not able to design a method that systematically could eliminate 
redundant records or cleanly merge the gambling activity data from the PlayMyWay users’ and non-users’ files. Because of 
these issues, for cardholders with data in both types of gambling activity files (i.e., cardholders represented by the green 
zone in Figure 1), we chose to limit our analyses to the data from the files for PlayMyWay users (i.e., not use these 
cardholders’ data in the files for non-users). This decision decreased the potential impacts of missing data, removed the 
problem of duplicated or redundant data, and increased our confidence in the data set we were using for our analyses. 
However, this decision also prevented us from combining the files for PlayMyWay users and non-users to conduct 
aggregate analyses covering all of the cardholders in our analytic sample. This data reduction also prevented us from 
conducting crucial analyses assessing how gambling behavior changes before and after enrolling in PlayMyWay. 
Furthermore, though removing the data from the file for non-users increased our confidence about the integrity of the 
remaining data, there still existed the possibility of missing data. These possibilities for missing data introduced uncertainty 



74  

into the aggregate calculations (e.g., number of visits, total amount wagered, net winnings) for both PlayMyWay users and 
non-users. 

 
In the PlayMyWay budget activity data, we discovered several discrepancies that required large data reductions. 
Specifically, we removed records with timestamps before the beginning of the study period, completely duplicated records, 
budget notification records that preceded enrollment records, every record for users with non-corresponding enrollment 
and un-enrollment records, as well as redundant records indicating when users had reached their budget. Most of these 
reductions were not problematic as they were simply eliminating redundant records and records that occurred before the 
study period. However, because some of the records we eliminated were not duplicates of other records or recorded 
before the beginning of the study period, their absence in our analytic data set could have affected some of the budget and 
enrollment analyses presented in this report. 

 
Other limitations did not involve the available records. To illustrate, for this preliminary report, in this initial approach we 
did not directly survey gamblers at PPC. This precluded us from creating a dynamic measure for problematic gambling 
behavior that could reflect how a player’s gambling behavior affected his or her lifestyle or psychological status (e.g., items 
asking whether players experienced financial hardships due to gambling). Because of this, we also were not able to ask 
players about their income and economic means, which could be used to estimate the extent to which cardholders were 
gambling within their resources. For cardholders who enrolled in PlayMyWay, we were not able to assess self-reported 
satisfaction with the PlayMyWay tool; similarly, we did not have the opportunity to explore possible associations between 
at-risk gambling behavior and program effectiveness. 

 
The analyses in this report are limited to cardholders’ interaction with the PlayMyWay software itself. Our current method 
did not include randomization to PlayMyWay and, therefore, the report analyses cannot establish a causal relationship. This 
report also does not include any analyses or explorations of the effects of any media referencing PlayMyWay (e.g., news 
articles, advertisements on the internet and elsewhere). Additionally, there are other responsible gambling tools in 
Massachusetts (e.g., GameSense and the voluntary self-exclusion program). At the time of the report, we do not have the 
data to investigate any interaction effects between PlayMyWay and these other responsible gambling tools. Consequently, 
any discussion of any possible interaction effects is beyond the scope of this report. 

 
The analyses in this report also are limited to gambling activity at Plainridge Park Casino. Usage of PlayMyWay or any other 
responsible gambling tool might be significantly different at other facilities and casinos with different portfolios of gambling 
options. Specifically, other casinos might have gambling formats where implementing a voluntary budgeting system might 
prove difficult (e.g., live table games, poker). 

 
4.7. Recommendations and Future Directions 

 

Recommendations related to PlayMyWay research 

Based on the above limitations, there is a clear and immediate need for the ability to link PlayMyWay data to the Marquee 
Rewards data, as well as a need to revise the data abstraction code to avoid data loss. We currently are working with 
Plainridge Park Casino and Scientific Games to create this link. With the linked data, we can understand better how 
PlayMyWay affects a user’s gambling behavior (e.g., average amount of money lost over time) and how player gambling 
behavior, in turn, affects a user’s experience with the PlayMyWay system (e.g., Is excessive gambling behavior associated 
with exceeding budgets?). We also can determine what types of playing behaviors are associated with both adoption of 
PlayMyWay and the successful use of it (e.g., stopping/slowing down play upon reaching budgets). With this report, the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission can create clearly defined data-informed goals for PlayMyWay. Although Ladouceur et 
al. (2012) suggested that the purpose of pre-commitment systems (such as PlayMyWay) is to enable players to make 
decisions about budget expenditures in a “state of non-emotional arousal,” which “once made, must be adhered to” (pg. 2), 



75  

other program goals are possible. Delineation of such goals in objective and measurable ways will assist future evaluation 
efforts. 

 
As noted, the current study is one part of larger multi-year research and program development agenda. To understand 
more fully how the PlayMyWay system affects problematic gambling behavior, we also require more diverse measures. 
Specifically, we need to administer surveys to both users and non-users of PlayMyWay to identify key differences in their 
gambling behavior that cannot be captured by gambling behavior records alone. Integrating such survey data with actual 
gambling activity records and PlayMyWay records will provide new insights into the system; these insights are necessary to 
advance a comprehensive evaluation of PlayMyWay. In addition, survey data will allow us to identify self-described factors 
that might prevent individuals from enrolling in PlayMyWay. 

 
Finally, to understand any causal effects of PlayMyWay on gambling behaviors of interest to the Massachusetts Gaming 
Commission, we need to consider conducting a randomized trial of PlayMyWay and/or aspects of the PlayMyWay system. 
The logistics of such research will be challenging. However, randomized studies will determine whether there are any causal 
effects between PlayMyWay enrollment and/or PlayMyWay system features and responsible gambling behaviors. 

 
Recommendations related to PlayMyWay policy and implementation 

During our analyses, we noticed specific aspects of the PlayMyWay system that might have affected the program’s 

effectiveness. For example, the PlayMyWay notification system is designed so that it tracks budgets and sends notifications 
based on a player’s net winnings from the beginning of the time period for which they set their budget (i.e., 6:00 a.m. that 
day for daily budgets, 6:00 a.m. on Sunday for weekly budgets, and 6:00 a.m. the first day of the month for monthly 
budgets); this design is different from a system based on the enrollment date itself. The current design can lead to 
immediate budget notifications that begin at the start of a user’s PlayMyWay experience. We recommend that future 
iterations of the PlayMyWay system consider relying on budget-related tabulations that commence from enrollment, not by 
calendar date. This will avoid the situation wherein people sign up and immediately receive budget-related notifications. 
However, because we do not have a link between PlayMyWay budget notification records and the Marquee Rewards 
gambling activity records, we cannot say with certainty what impact immediate budget notifications upon enrollment have 
on outcomes like, gambling behavior. 

 
We observed that approximately 9 in 10 players who hit (reached or exceeded) their budget continued to receive additional 
notifications (i.e., did not adhere to their budget). If strict budget adherence is a primary goal, then program administrators 
and evaluators should consider exploring potential reasons why some players might not be complying with their self- 
selected budgets. Player surveys could shed light on how players treat their budgets (i.e., whether they intend a budget to 
serve as a hard stop or an indication to slow down one’s gambling). Additionally, PlayMyWay does not require players to 
acknowledge notifications when they appear. Because the interface for PlayMyWay is not always located on the main EGM 
screen (on some EGMs, the interface is located on a small screen outside the player’s line of sight) it is possible that some 
players simply do not notice when they have reached or exceeded their budgets. Future research can determine whether 
differences in the location of the PlayMyWay interface are related to budget adherence rates. If so, changes to the design 
of PlayMyWay’s interface might increase budget adherence rates. 

 
We also observed that PlayMyWay notifications are associated with both un-enrollment and budget changes. We suggest 
that program administrators and evaluators revisit the notification schedule and study whether any changes might reduce 
these actions. Furthermore, as we stated in Section 4.4, the content and format of the messages themselves might affect 
un-enrollment rates. Survey research is needed to better understand how users perceive notification messaging. Finally, 
PlayMyWay users seem to be slightly more likely to be women and younger, though most enrollees are middle aged. In 
reviewing outreach efforts, program administrators might consider ways to reach more men and risk groups, such as young 
adults and older adults. Similarly, as we stated in Section 4.3, program administrators might consider specific messaging or 
other ways to tailor outreach efforts to atypical or unusually frequent patrons. 



76  

4.8. Concluding Thoughts 

Readers should consider this preliminary report on the PlayMyWay system as a first step in assessing whether the system 
achieves its goal of promoting responsible gambling behavior. The current report summarizes the first phase of analytic 
activities in a broad multi-year research and development agenda for PlayMyWay. Some observations can guide the 
development of data-informed program goals and evaluation targets. PlayMyWay enrollment was associated with more 
conservative gambling behavior, such as less wagering, fewer visits, and fewer losses. However, in the absence of 
randomization, it is not possible to make causal attributions. About 42% of users never received any budget notifications 
during the study period. Among those who did, the majority reached and exceeded their budgets. Research should explore 
the implications of these observations. Major data limitations, including large amounts of missing data and an inability to 
link the data from the ACSC server with data from the PlayMyWay server, prevented us from answering many crucial and 
fundamental questions, such as: What type of player is the program most effective for? Do players who utilize PlayMyWay 
gamble more, less, or the same as they did before enrolling in PlayMyWay? Are there key differences in the gambling 
behavior of PlayMyWay users who reach/exceed their budget and players who never reach or exceed their budgets? Until 
we can answer these types of questions it is not possible to make a judgment about whether PlayMyWay is as an effective 
means of promoting responsible gambling. It is possible, however, to move forward with data-informed program 
development and evaluation plans. 



77  

  
 

Issue #1: Data filters for the PlayMyWay files and non-PlayMyWay files. 
 

As we mentioned before, the filters used to generate the two types of gambling activity files (i.e., for PlayMyWay users and 
for non-users) left inconsistencies and omissions in the data. According to the specifications agreed to by all parties 
involved (i.e., Scientific Games, Plainridge Park Casino, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, and the Division on 
Addiction), the monthly files for PlayMyWay users were supposed to contain all gambling activity conducted by Marquee 
Rewards cardholders while they had PlayMyWay active (i.e., after un-enrollment and before any subsequent matching un- 
enrollment). The corresponding files for non-users, on the other hand, were supposed to contain records of all gambling 
activity where PlayMyWay was not active (i.e., all gambling activity for those who never enrolled, all post-un-enrollment 
gambling activity for those who enroll and then un-enroll). For example, consider a cardholder enrolled in PlayMyWay on 
October 10 at 00:00:01 and un-enrolled on October 14 at 23:59:59. The October 2016 gambling activity file should contain 
all records of this cardholder’s play between October 10 and October 14. Conversely, the file for non-users during this 
period should have contained any records of this cardholder’s gambling activity between October 1 and October 9 and 
between October 15 and October 31. 

However, the design of the data abstraction filter used to generate non-PlayMyWay files23 (i.e., for cardholders who were 
not enrolled in PlayMyWay) was erroneous. The routine that generated these files collected all gambling activity data for 
the month in question for the cardholders who were not enrolled in PlayMyWay at the time of the data pull. For example, 
when the data pull for October 2016 occurred on November 3, 2016, based on the routine used, the October file for non- 
users contained the data for any gambling done between October 1 and October 31 by cardholders who were not enrolled 
in PlayMyWay on November 3. Consider a cardholder who began October not enrolled in PlayMyWay, gambled at PPC 
every day from October 10 through October 14 [without PlayMyWay active], enrolled in PlayMyWay on October 17, and 
then remained enrolled through November 3. Because this cardholder was enrolled in PlayMyWay at the time of the data 
pull, the non-PlayMyWay file would not contain the data from this cardholder’s sessions from October 10 to October 14. As 
neither the PlayMyWay file nor the non-PlayMyWay file would capture those five days, that data would simply be lost. 

Alternatively, suppose that another cardholder began October enrolled in PlayMyWay, gambled on October 10 and 11 with 
PlayMyWay active, un-enrolled on October 12 (without gambling), gambled more with PlayMyWay inactive on October 13 
and 14, and was still not enrolled when PPC personnel generated the October data files on November 3. Then the gambling 
activity for October 10 and 11 (while PlayMyWay was active) would be in the PlayMyWay file. Because this cardholder was 
not enrolled in PlayMyWay at the time of the data pull on November 3, all their October activity – including their gambling 
activity on October 10 and 11 while using PlayMyWay -- would be included in the non-PlayMyWay file as well. Specifically, 
the gambling activity for October 10 and 11 would be recorded in both files: PlayMyWay and non-PlayMyWay. Without 
scrutiny of both October data files, if we had included both files in the calculation of, for example, total amount wagered 
over the whole study period, it could have been possible to add the same October 10 and 11 gambling activity to the total 
twice. 

Table A1 illustrates an example of how rows of data relate to each other based on the time and machine. This cardholder 
was enrolled in PlayMyWay on October 11, but un-enrolled before the time of the data pull on November 3. The amounts 
wagered and prizes won in the left table add up to the corresponding bet amounts and prizes won on the right table. Both 

 
 

23 In Section 2.3.1, we referred to files for PlayMyWay users and non-users as PlayMyWay gambling activity files and non-PlayMyWay 
gambling activity files, respectively. In this appendix, we will shorten these to “PlayMyWay files” and “non-PlayMyWay files.” 

Appendix A: Issues with the gambling activity data files 



78  

files show that this cardholder lost $8.00 playing Slots Gold and won back $2.50 playing Crazy VidPo. “Slots Gold” and 
“Crazy VidPo” are fictitious game names created for this example. 

Table A1: Illustration of corresponding rows of data in gambling activity data files for PlayMyWay-users and non-users. 
 

PlayMyWay gambling activity file  Non-PlayMyWay gambling activity file 

Date/Time Game ID Bet Prizes  Date/Time Game ID Bet Prizes 

2016-10-11 11:40:05 Slots Gold $3.00 $0.00      

2016-10-11 11:40:20 Slots Gold $3.00 $1.00      

2016-10-11 11:40:35 Slots Gold $3.00 $0.00      

2016-10-11 11:40:50 Slots Gold $3.00 $0.00      

2016-10-11 11:41:05 Slots Gold $3.00 $2.00      

2016-10-11 11:41:20 Slots Gold $1.00 $5.00  2016-10-11 11:41:20 Slots Gold $16.00 $8.00 

2016-10-11 12:44:00 Crazy VidPo $0.50 $0.00      

2016-10-11 12:44:15 Crazy VidPo $0.50 $0.00      

2016-10-11 12:44:30 Crazy VidPo $0.50 $0.00      

2016-10-11 12:44:45 Crazy VidPo $1.00 $6.00      

2016-10-11 12:45:00 Crazy VidPo $1.00 $0.00      

2016-10-11 12:45:15 Crazy VidPo $0.50 $1.00  2016-10-11 12:45:15 Crazy VidPo $4.50 $7.00 

 

This exact correspondence does not hold when a cardholder enrolls or un-enrolls in PlayMyWay in the middle of play. In the 
sequence of events in Table A2 below, a cardholder entered PPC the afternoon of October 21. The cardholder was not 
enrolled in PlayMyWay at first, but enrolled after six spins on a Slots Gold machine. The cardholder played another ten 
spins on the same machine, un-enrolled from PlayMyWay, and then ended his session. For this example, we assume that 
the cardholder’s net loss never exceeds 50% of any of the budgets set at enrollment, so that the PlayMyWay system will 
record data every three spins (see Section 2.2.3). As shown in Table A3, the data in the file for non-users contains the 
aggregated amount wagered and prizes won over all sixteen spins. The data in the file for PlayMyWay users covers only the 
ten spins post-enrollment. 

Table A2: A hypothetical sequence of spins, with what the corresponding data output in the gambling activity files for 

PlayMyWay users and non-users. 
 

Date/Time Event 

2016-10-21 13:14:30 Enter PPC, not enrolled in PlayMyWay 

2016-10-21 13:15:00 Insert card into a Slots Gold machine 

2016-10-21 13:15:15 Insert a $20.00 bill into the Slots Gold machine 

2016-10-21 13:20:00 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:20:05 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:20:10 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $10.00 



79  

2016-10-21 13:20:15 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:20:20 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:20:25 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:23:30 Enroll in PlayMyWay, daily: $200, no weekly, no monthly 

2016-10-21 13:23:35 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:23:40 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:23:45 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $2.00 

2016-10-21 13:23:50 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:23:55 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:24:00 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:24:05 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:24:10 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $4.00 

2016-10-21 13:24:15 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:24:20 One spin on a Slots Gold machine, amount bet: $1.00, amount won: $0.00 

2016-10-21 13:25:30 Un-enroll from PlayMyWay 

2016-10-21 13:26:00 Funds withdrawal: $20.00 

2016-10-21 13:26:30 Remove card from Slots Gold machine 

 
Table A3: Rows of data for the PlayMyWay and non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data files, based on the sequence of spins 

in Table A2. 
 

PlayMyWay gambling activity data file  non-PlayMyWay gambling activity data file 

Date/Time Game ID Bet Prizes  Date/Time Game ID Bet Prizes 

2016-10-21 13:23:45 Slots Gold $3.00 $2.00      

2016-10-21 13:24:00 Slots Gold $3.00 $0.00      

2016-10-21 13:24:15 Slots Gold $3.00 $4.00      

2016-10-21 13:26:30 Slots Gold $1.00 $0.00  2016-10-21 13:26:30 Slots Gold $16.00 $16.00 

 

Issue #2: Potentially missing time gaps in the PlayMyWay files. 

In addition to issue #1, we also found significant time gaps in the PlayMyWay files. Specifically, there were significant blocks 
of time missing from the PlayMyWay files (682 hours out of 5,880 hours in the study period were missing from the data 
files). Some of these missing time blocks could be valid; specifically, PlayMyWay users might not have gambled during some 
of these hour block times. However, the missing gaps of time included whole periods of days (such as the weekends of July 
3, 2016 and December 17, 2016), where there were no records of any gambling activity from PlayMyWay users. If a 
cardholder used PlayMyWay but only during these gaps, then we would have no indication that this cardholder ever 
enrolled or interacted with PlayMyWay. 



80  

In this report, we have separated our analytic sample of Marquee Rewards cardholders into three groups, based on 
whether their player identifiers were found in the PlayMyWay files, the non-PlayMyWay files, or both. Descriptions of the 
range of consequences for each group follow. 

Group 1, the 6,797 cardholders with data only in the gambling activity files for PlayMyWay users: If a cardholder in this 
group only gambled with PlayMyWay active and not during any of the hours or days in the gaps, then the data files contain 
a complete record of that cardholder’s gambling activity. However, if the cardholder did gamble during any of the missing 
time periods, then that gambling activity data would be lost. Also, it is possible for a cardholder to gamble without 
PlayMyWay active and then enroll in PlayMyWay later in the month. In those cases, not only would our files be missing the 
records for that gambling activity, but it would also be missing the fact that this cardholder gambled with PlayMyWay 
inactive in the first place.24 Between the gaps in the PlayMyWay files and the potential for whole days or even weeks of 
gambling activity data to be lost, we are not completely confident in the accuracy of our counts of the number of visits to 
PPC nor are we completely confident in our aggregates for the total amount wagered or total prizes won over the study 
period. 

Group 2, the 1,962 cardholders with data in both the PlayMyWay files and non-PlayMyWay files: The potential for both 
missing data and overlapping data calls into question the validity of the gambling activity data for this group. While it might 
have been possible to match or reconcile some of the overlapping data based on timestamps and game identifiers, it would 
have been a complicated process that still could not account for gambling sessions that were simply filtered out and lost. If 
we limit our calculations to these cardholders’ PlayMyWay gambling activity data, then we are as confident in the number 
of days of gambling, the total amount wagered, and the total prizes won while PlayMyWay was active as we are with Group 
1. That is, the same issues described in the previous paragraph would apply (i.e., caveats about the missing hours and days 
in the PlayMyWay data files, the possibility of lost sessions where PlayMyWay was inactive). However, because of the 
reasons listed and illustrated within this paragraph, we have very little confidence that the tallies of the total days at 
Plainridge Park, the total amount wagered, or total prizes won over the study period (adding together activity with 
PlayMyWay active and activity without PlayMyWay active) are accurate. 

Group 3, the 92,168 cardholders with data only in the non-PlayMyWay files: For cardholders in this group, the best-case 
scenario and easiest explanation is that they never enrolled in PlayMyWay, and that every month they were on the roster 
of non-users. The non-PlayMyWay files would then contain all their gambling activity data over the whole study period. 
However, it is also possible that one or more of these cardholders used PlayMyWay, but only during the hours and days 
missing from the files for PlayMyWay users. In these cases, it is possible that whole months of gambling activity (with 
PlayMyWay active) have been lost. Without the ability to link budget activity data to gambling activity data, there is no way 
to verify with complete confidence that a cardholder never enrolled in PlayMyWay. Once again, we do not have complete 
confidence in the accuracy of cardholders’ numbers of visits, total amounts wagered, and total prizes won. However, 
because there are fewer issues, we are more confident in the aggregates for this group than in aggregates for Group 2. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

24 An extreme example would be where a cardholder gambled extensively with PlayMyWay inactive in October 2016 and then signed up 
for PlayMyWay on November 2. The data pull occurred on November 3. All of October’s gambling activity data would be lost. 



81  

  
 

Figure B1: Venn diagram showing the numbers of cardholders who inserted bills into slot machines, electronic table games 

stations, and video poker terminals. 
 

 

 

Figure B2: Venn diagram showing the numbers of cardholders who withdrew funds from slot machines, electronic table 

games stations, and video poker terminals. 

Appendix B: Additional figures showing cash activity of Marquee Rewards cardholders 



82  

Figure B3: Venn diagram showing the numbers of cardholders who redeemed vouchers at slot machines, electronic table 

games stations, and video poker terminals. 
 

 



83  

  
Figure C1: Consort diagram of PlayMyWay budget activity, using filtered data. 

 

Appendix C: Additional tables and figures showing results of analyses of PlayMyWay budget notifications data with 

budget notifications that occurred within the same day, week, or month that a user sets or changes their daily, weekly or 

monthly budget filtered out 



84  

Table C1: Number of additional notifications received upon users hitting their daily budget, by number of instances, using 

filtered data. 

Number of additional notifications received 
after hitting daily budget 

Number of unique 
steady users 

Instances Percentage 
of all 

instances 
No additional notifications 267 325 8.8 
One additional notification 204 237 6.4 
Between 2 and 10 additional notifications 737 1299 35.2 
Between 11 and 100 additional notifications 708 1713 46.4 
More than 100 additional notifications 100 116 3.1 
Total 2016 3690 100.0 

 
Table C2: Number of total additional notifications received by users in all instances of hitting their daily budget, by number 

of users, using filtered data. 

Number of total additional notifications received after 
hitting daily budget during study period 

Steady users % of all steady 
users 

No additional notifications 102 7.4 
One additional notification 80 5.8 
Between 2 and 10 additional notifications 382 27.9 
Between 11 and 100 additional notifications 604 44.1 
More than 100 additional notifications 202 14.7 
Total 1370 100.0 



85  

  
 

Abbott, M. W. (2006). Do EGMs and problem gambling go together like a horse and carriage? Gambling Research, 18(1), 7- 
38. 

An Act Establishing Expanded Gaming in the Commonwealth, (2011 2011/11/22/). 
American Gaming Association. (2014). State of the States 2013: The AGA Survey of Casino Entertainment. Retrieved from 

Washington, DC: https://www.americangaming.org/sites/default/files/research_files/aga_sos2013_rev042014.pdf 
Auer, M., & Griffiths, M. D. (2014). Personalised feedback in the promotion of responsible gambling: A brief overview. 

Responsible Gambling Review, 1(1), 27-36. 
Auer, M., Schneeberger, A., & Griffiths, M. D. (2012). Theoretical Loss and Gambling Intensity: A Simulation Study. Gaming 

Law Review and Economics, 16(5), 269-273. doi:10.1089/glre.2012.1655 
Berkson, J. (1946). Limitations of the application of fourfold table analysis to hospital data. Biometrics, 2(3), 47-53. 

doi:10.1093/ije/dyu022 
Bernhard, B. J., Lucas, A. F., Dongsuk, J., & Kim, J. (2006). Responsible Gaming Device Research Report. UNLV Gaming 

Research & Review Journal, 12(1). 
Blaszczynski, A., Gainsbury, S., & Karlov, L. (2014). Blue Gum Gaming Machine: An Evaluation of Responsible Gambling 

Features. Journal of Gambling Studies, 30(3), 697-712. doi:10.1007/s10899-013-9378-5 
Blaszczynski, A., Ladouceur, R., & Shaffer, H. J. (2004). A Science-Based Framework for Responsible Gambling: The Reno 

Model. Journal of Gambling Studies, 20(3), 301-317. 
Blaszczynski, A., & Nower, L. (2002). A pathways model of problem and pathological gambling. Addiction, 97(5), 487-499. 

doi:10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00015.x 
Broda, A., LaPlante, D. A., Nelson, S. E., LaBrie, R. A., Bosworth, L. B., & Shaffer, H. J. (2008). Virtual harm reduction efforts 

for Internet gambling: effects of deposit limits on actual Internet sports gambling behavior. Harm Reduction 

Journal, 5, 27. doi:10.1186/1477-7517-5-27 
Brown, K. G., Stautz, K., Hollands, G. J., Winpenny, E. M., & Marteau, T. M. (2016). The Cognitive and Behavioural Impact of 

Alcohol Promoting and Alcohol Warning Advertisements: An Experimental Study. Alcohol and Alcoholism, 51(3), 
354-362.  doi:10.1093/alcalc/agv104 

Butar, F. B., & Park, J.-W. (2008). Permutation Tests for Comparing Two Populations. Journal of Mathematical Sciences & 

Mathematics Education, 3(2), 18-30. 
Chóliz, M. (2010). Experimental analysis of the game in pathological gamblers: effect of the immediacy of the reward in slot 

machines. Journal of Gambling Studies, 26(2), 249-256. doi:10.1007/s10899-009-9156-6 
Davidson, T., & Rodgers, B. (2010). 2009 Survey of the Nature and Extent of Gambling, and Problem Gambling, in the 

Australian Capital Territory. Retrieved from Canberra, ACT, AUS: 
http://sociology.cass.anu.edu.au/sites/default/files/documents/2009_Survey_of_Nature_and_Extent_of_Gambling 
_ACT.pdf 

Dixon, M. J., Harrigan, K. A., Sandhu, R., Collins, K., & Fugelsang, J. A. (2010). Losses disguised as wins in modern multi-line 
video slot machines. Addiction, 105(10), 1819-1824.   doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03050.x 

Dixon, M. J., MacLaren, V., Jarick, M., Fugelsang, J. A., & Harrigan, K. A. (2013). The Frustrating Effects of Just Missing the 
Jackpot: Slot Machine Near-Misses Trigger Large Skin Conductance Responses, But No Post-reinforcement Pauses. 
Journal of Gambling Studies, 29(4), 661-674. doi:10.1007/s10899-012-9333-x 

Dowling, N., Smith, D., & Thomas, T. (2005). Electronic gaming machines: are they the "crack-cocaine" of gambling? 
Addiction,  100(1),  33-45. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2005.00962.x 

Druine, C. (2008). Belgium. In G. Meyer, T. Hayer, & M. D. Griffiths (Eds.), Problem Gambling in Europe: Challenges, 

Prevention, and Interventions (pp. 1-16). New York, NY: Springer New York. 
Forsström, D., Jansson-Fröjmark, M., Hesser, H., & Carlbring, P. (2017). Experiences of Playscan: Interviews with users of a 

responsible gambling tool. Internet Interventions, 8, 53-62. doi:10.1016/j.invent.2017.03.003 
Gray, H. M., LaPlante, D. A., Keating, L., & Shaffer, H. J. (2016). Summary analysis of the Plainridge Park Casino GameSense 

Program Activities & Visitor Survey: December 1, 2015 – May 31, 2016. Retrieved from Medford, MA: 

References 

https://www.americangaming.org/sites/default/files/research_files/aga_sos2013_rev042014.pdf
http://sociology.cass.anu.edu.au/sites/default/files/documents/2009_Survey_of_Nature_and_Extent_of_Gambling_ACT.pdf
http://sociology.cass.anu.edu.au/sites/default/files/documents/2009_Survey_of_Nature_and_Extent_of_Gambling_ACT.pdf


86  

Gray, H. M., LaPlante, D. A., Keating, L., & Shaffer, H. J. (forthcoming). Summary analysis of the Plainridge Park Casino 

GameSense Program Activities & Visitor Survey: August 8, 2016– February 7, 2017. Retrieved from Medford, MA: 
Gray, H. M., LaPlante, D. A., & Shaffer, H. J. (forthcoming). Summary Analysis of the 2016 Plainridge Park casino Patron 

Intercept Survey: Focus on GameSense. Retrieved from Medford, MA: 
Jonsson, J., & Rönnberg, S. (2008). Sweden. In G. Meyer, T. Hayer, & M. D. Griffiths (Eds.), Problem Gambling in Europe: 

Challenges, Prevention, and Interventions (pp. 299-315). New York, NY: Springer New York. 
Kim, H. S., Wohl, M. J. A., Stewart, M. J., Sztainert, T., & Gainsbury, S. M. (2014). Limit your time, gamble responsibly: setting 

a time limit (via pop-up message) on an electronic gaming machine reduces time on device. International Gambling 

Studies, 14(2), 266-278. doi:10.1080/14459795.2014.910244 
Ladouceur, R., Blaszczynski, A., & Lalande, D. R. (2012). Pre-commitment in gambling: a review of the empirical evidence. 

International Gambling Studies, 12(2), 215-230.   doi:10.1080/14459795.2012.658078 
Ladouceur, R., Blaszczynski, A., Shaffer, H. J., & Fong, D. (2016). Extending the RENO model: responsible gambling 

evaluation guidelines for gambling operators, public policymakers, and regulators Gaming Law Review and 

Economics, 20(7), 1-8. doi:10.1089/glre.2016.2074 
Ladouceur, R., & Sévigny, S. (2005). Structural characteristics of video lotteries: effects of a stopping device on illusion of 

control and gambling persistence. Journal of Gambling Studies, 21(2), 117-131.  doi:10.1007/s10899-005-3028-5 
Ladouceur, R., Shaffer, P., Blaszczynski, A., & Shaffer, H. J. (2016). Responsible gambling: a synthesis of the empirical 

evidence. Addiction Research & Theory, 1-11. doi:10.1080/16066359.2016.1245294 
Lalande, D. R., & Ladouceur, R. (2011). Can cybernetics inspire gambling research? A limit-based conceptualization of self- 

control. International Gambling Studies, 11(2), 237-252.   doi:10.1080/14459795.2011.598540 
LaPlante, D. A., Nelson, S. E., LaBrie, R. A., & Shaffer, H. J. (2011). Disordered gambling, type of gambling and gambling 

involvement in the British Gambling Prevalence Survey 2007. The European Journal of Public Health, 21(4), 532-537. 
doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckp177 

Linnet, J. (2008). Denmark. In G. Meyer, T. Hayer, & M. D. Griffiths (Eds.), Problem Gambling in Europe: Challenges, 

Prevention, and Interventions (pp. 17-35). New York, NY: Springer New York. 
Loeber, S., Vollstädt-Klein, S., Wilden, S., Schneider, S., Rockenbach, C., Dinter, C., . . . Kiefer, F. (2011). The effect of pictorial 

warnings on cigarette packages on attentional bias of smokers. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, 98(2), 
292-298.   doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2011.01.010 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission. (2014). Responsible Gaming Framework: Massachusetts Gaming    Commission. 
Retrieved from http://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/Responsible-Gaming-Framework-v1-10-31-14.pdf 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission. (2016a, 2016/06/08/). The Massachusetts Gaming Commission Officially Launches 
First-of-its-Kind Responsible Gaming Initiative at Plainridge Park Casino. Retrieved from 
http://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/16-027PlayMyWayintro.pdf 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission. (2016b). PlayMyWay. Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 
McDonnell Phillips. (2006). Australian national survey of gambler precommitment behaviour 2005. Retrieved from 

Melbourne, VIC, AUS: http://infohub.gambleaware.org/document/australian-national-survey-of-gambler- 
precommitment-behaviour-2005/ 

Metzger, A. (2016, 2016/06/09/). Plainridge Casino To Offer New Way For Gamblers To Monitor Their Limits. WBUR News. 
Retrieved    from   http://www.wbur.org/news/2016/06/09/plainridge-casino-gambling-monitor 

Nelson, S. E., LaPlante, D. A., Peller, A. J., Schumann, A., LaBrie, R. A., & Shaffer, H. J. (2008). Real Limits in the Virtual World: 
Self-Limiting Behavior of Internet Gamblers. Journal of Gambling Studies, 24(4), 463-477. doi:10.1007/s10899-008- 
9106-8 

Omnifacts Bristol Research. (2005). Nova Scotia player card research project, Stage I research report. Retrieved from Halifax, 
NS: http://www.gamblib.org/directory/author/8975/ 

Omnifacts Bristol Research. (2007). Nova Scotia player card research project, Stage III research report. Retrieved from 
Halifax,   NS:  http://www.gamblib.org/directory/author/8975/ 

Parke, A., & Griffiths, M. (2004). Aggressive behaviour in slot machine gamblers: a preliminary observational study. 
Psychological Reports, 95(1), 109-114. doi:10.2466/pr0.95.1.109-114 

http://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/Responsible-Gaming-Framework-v1-10-31-14.pdf
http://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/16-027PlayMyWayintro.pdf
http://infohub.gambleaware.org/document/australian-national-survey-of-gambler-precommitment-behaviour-2005/
http://infohub.gambleaware.org/document/australian-national-survey-of-gambler-precommitment-behaviour-2005/
http://www.wbur.org/news/2016/06/09/plainridge-casino-gambling-monitor
http://www.gamblib.org/directory/author/8975/
http://www.gamblib.org/directory/author/8975/


87  

Potenza, M. N., Steinberg, M. A., McLaughlin, S. D., Wu, R., Rounsaville, B. J., & O'Malley, S. S. (2001). Gender-related 
differences in the characteristics of problem gamblers using a gambling helpline. The American Journal of 

Psychiatry,  158(9), 1500-1505. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.158.9.1500 
Productivity Commission. (1999). Australia's Gambling Industries, Inquiry Report, Volume 1: Report (Parts A-C) (Vol. 1). 

Canberra, ACT, AUS. 
Responsible Gambling Working Party. (2010a). ChangeTracker Evaluation: Trial of a manual pre-commitment card: Final 

report to South Australian Responsible Gambling Working Party. Retrieved from Adelaide, SA, AUS: 
http://www.treasury.sa.gov.au/      data/assets/pdf_file/0011/2153/Fourth-Progress-Report.pdf 

Responsible Gambling Working Party. (2010b). Supporting Customer Commitment: Fourth Progress Report to the Minister 

for Gambling by the Responsible Gambling Working Party. Retrieved from Adelaide, SA, AUS: 
http://www.treasury.sa.gov.au/      data/assets/pdf_file/0011/2153/Fourth-Progress-Report.pdf 

Schellinck, T., & Shrans, T. (1998). 1997/98 Nova Scotia Video Lottery Players’ Survey. Retrieved from 
https://www.focalresearch.com/sites/default/files/publications/VL_players_survey_9798.pdf 

Schottler Consulting. (2009). Major findings of a trial of a card-based gaming product at the Redcliffe RSL. Retrieved from 
Brisbane, QLD, AUS: https://publications.qld.gov.au/storage/f/2014-06-20T02%3A50%3A11.495Z/report-into-card- 
based-gaming-cbg-trial-redcliffe-rsl.pdf 

Schottler Consulting. (2010a). Factors that influence gambler adherence to pre-commitment decisions. Retrieved from 
Brisbane,   QLD,  AUS:  http://trove.nla.gov.au/work/153791320?selectedversion=NBD47365876 

Schottler Consulting. (2010b). Major findings and implications: Player tracking and pre-commitment trial. Retrieved from 
Brisbane, QLD, AUS: http://www.treasury.sa.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf_file/0016/2158/PlaySmart.pdf 

Shaffer, H. J., & Korn, D. A. (2002). Gambling and related mental disorders: a public health analysis. Annual Review of Public 

Health,  23,  171-212. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.23.100901.140532 
Shaffer, H. J., Ladouceur, R., Blaszczynski, A., & Whyte, K. (2015). Extending the RENO Model: Clinical and Ethical 

Applications. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry.   doi:10.1037/ort0000123 
Stibe, A., & Cugelman, B. (2016). Persuasive Backfiring: When Behavior Change Interventions Trigger Unintended Negative 

Outcomes. In A. Meschtscherjakov, B. De Ruyter, V. Fuchsberger, M. Murer, & M. Tscheligi (Eds.), Persuasive 

Technology (Vol. 9638, pp. 65-77): Springer International Publishing. 
Süssenbach, P., Niemeier, S., & Glock, S. (2013). Effects of and attention to graphic warning labels on cigarette packages. 

Psychology & Health, 28(10), 1192-1206.  doi:10.1080/08870446.2013.799161 
Tavares, H., Martins, S. S., Lobo, D. S. S., Silveira, C. M., Gentil, V., & Hodgins, D. C. (2003). Factors at play in faster 

progression for female pathological gamblers: an exploratory analysis. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 64(4), 433- 
438. 

van ‘t Riet, J., & Ruiter, R. A. C. (2013). Defensive reactions to health-promoting information: an overview and implications 
for future research. Health Psychology Review, 7(sup1), S104-S136. doi:10.1080/17437199.2011.606782 

Volberg, R. A. (1997). Gambling and Problem Gambling in Oregon. Retrieved from Salem, OR: http://oregoncpg.org/wp- 
content/uploads/2012/11/OGATF-Volberg-1997-Study-OregonReport.pdf 

Wardle, H., Sproston, K., Orford, J., Erens, B., Griffiths, M. D., Constantine, R., & Pigott, S. (2007). British Gambling 

Prevalence Survey 2007. Norwich, GBR: TSO. 
Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M.-C. O., Hoffman, J. H., & Wieczorek, W. F. (2015). Gambling and Problem Gambling in 

the United States: Changes Between 1999 and 2013. Journal of Gambling Studies, 31(3), 695-715. 
doi:10.1007/s10899-014-9471-4 

White, M. A., Mun, P., Kauffman, N., Whelan, C., Regan, M., & Kelly, J. E. (2006). Electronic Gambling Machines and Problem 

Gambling. Retrieved from Toronto, ON: http://www.responsiblegambling.org/docs/research-reports/electronic- 
gaming-machines-and-problem-gambling.pdf?sfvrsn=10 

Wohl, M. J. A., Gainsbury, S., Stewart, M. J., & Sztainert, T. (2013). Facilitating Responsible Gambling: The Relative 
Effectiveness of Education-Based Animation and Monetary Limit Setting Pop-up Messages Among Electronic 
Gaming Machine Players. Journal of Gambling Studies, 29(4), 703-717. doi:10.1007/s10899-012-9340-y 

http://www.treasury.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/2153/Fourth-Progress-Report.pdf
http://www.treasury.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/2153/Fourth-Progress-Report.pdf
https://www.focalresearch.com/sites/default/files/publications/VL_players_survey_9798.pdf
https://publications.qld.gov.au/storage/f/2014-06-20T02%3A50%3A11.495Z/report-into-card-based-gaming-cbg-trial-redcliffe-rsl.pdf
https://publications.qld.gov.au/storage/f/2014-06-20T02%3A50%3A11.495Z/report-into-card-based-gaming-cbg-trial-redcliffe-rsl.pdf
http://trove.nla.gov.au/work/153791320?selectedversion=NBD47365876
http://www.treasury.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/2158/PlaySmart.pdf
http://oregoncpg.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/OGATF-Volberg-1997-Study-OregonReport.pdf
http://oregoncpg.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/OGATF-Volberg-1997-Study-OregonReport.pdf
http://www.responsiblegambling.org/docs/research-reports/electronic-gaming-machines-and-problem-gambling.pdf?sfvrsn=10
http://www.responsiblegambling.org/docs/research-reports/electronic-gaming-machines-and-problem-gambling.pdf?sfvrsn=10


88  

Ziolkowski, S. (2017). The World Count of Gaming Machines 2016. Retrieved from Sydney, NSW, AUS: 
https://www.austgamingcouncil.org.au/content/world-count-gaming-machines-2016 

https://www.austgamingcouncil.org.au/content/world-count-gaming-machines-2016

	0) Cover Page 11-21
	11-21-17 - Commission Meeting Agenda - FINAL2
	4a) Unsecured wagers -SBIS
	4b) SBIS- Gaming school responsible gaming training
	4b) Gaming school RG reg update (redline)
	4c) ABIS -205 CMR 3.00 harness horse racing medication
	4c) 205 CMR 3.27 - 3.34 harness horse racing medication
	4c) ABIS-205 CMR 4.00 running horse racing medication
	4c) 205 CMR 4.50 4.51 4.52 4.53 running horse racing medication
	ADPD4E3.tmp
	Preliminary Study of Patrons’ Use of the PlayMyWay Play Management System at Plainridge Park Casino��
	Acknowledgments
	Background
	Commonwealth of Massachusetts
	Research Agenda
	What is pre-commitment?
	From Down Under to the Hub
	Purposes of the Study
	Evaluation Feedback & Reporting Loop
	Approach
	The PlayMyWay system 
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Caveats
	Results
	Enrollment Characteristics
	Slide Number 19
	Daily Enrollment over Time
	Enrollment to Un-enrollment
	Un-enrollment Temporal Pattern
	Summary
	Results
	PPC Visitation Trends by PMW Use
	Cash Activity by PMW Use
	Gambling Activity by PMW Use
	Trends in Losses per day by PMW Use
	Natural Betting Groups
	Natural Betting Groups
	Summary
	Results
	One, two, or three?
	Budget Sizes at Enrollment
	Budget Notification Transitions
	Budget Sizes & Notifications
	Responding to Budgets
	Notifications & Budget Changes
	Budget Changes
	Notifications & Un-enrollment
	Budget Compliance Rates
	Summary
	Results
	Sample Characteristics by PMW Use
	Age by PMW Use
	Gender
	Age
	Summary
	Discussion
	Take Away Points
	Limitations
	Future work
	Thank you!��� http://divisiononaddiction.org/   �@Div_Addiction�info@divisiononaddiction.org 
	Data Limitations: The Nitty-Gritty
	Data Limitations: The Nitty-Gritty
	Data Limitations: The Nitty-Gritty

	ADP82D1.tmp
	Preliminary Study of Patrons’ Use of the PlayMyWay Play Management System at Plainridge Park Casino��
	Acknowledgments
	Background
	Commonwealth of Massachusetts
	Research Agenda
	What is pre-commitment?
	From Down Under to the Hub
	Purposes of the Study
	Evaluation Feedback & Reporting Loop
	Approach
	The PlayMyWay system 
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Caveats
	Results
	Enrollment Characteristics
	Slide Number 19
	Daily Enrollment over Time
	Enrollment to Un-enrollment
	Un-enrollment Temporal Pattern
	Summary
	Results
	PPC Visitation Trends by PMW Use
	Cash Activity by PMW Use
	Gambling Activity by PMW Use
	Trends in Losses per day by PMW Use
	Natural Betting Groups
	Natural Betting Groups
	Summary
	Results
	One, two, or three?
	Budget Sizes at Enrollment
	Budget Notification Transitions
	Budget Sizes & Notifications
	Responding to Budgets
	Notifications & Budget Changes
	Budget Changes
	Notifications & Un-enrollment
	Budget Compliance Rates
	Summary
	Results
	Sample Characteristics by PMW Use
	Age by PMW Use
	Gender
	Age
	Summary
	Discussion
	Take Away Points
	Limitations
	Future work
	Thank you!��� http://divisiononaddiction.org/   �@Div_Addiction�info@divisiononaddiction.org 
	Data Limitations: The Nitty-Gritty
	Data Limitations: The Nitty-Gritty
	Data Limitations: The Nitty-Gritty




